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AS a business of powvver and
sound, We Innovate,
empower lives and motivate
sustainable changes.
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GROUP PROFILE
EEEFN

Gold Peak Technology Group is a global battery and electronics company
with an aspiration to become one of the leaders in providing energy and sound
solutions that enlighten and empower lives, and with sustainability as a focus.

The parent company, Gold Peak Technology Group Limited, was established
in 1964 and has been listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong since
1984. Gold Peak holds a majority stake at 85.59%" in the Singapore-listed
GP Industries Limited as its major industrial investment vehicle.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited not only develops its consumer batteries,
and electronics and acoustics businesses in consumer products, but also puts
great emphasis on R&D of new rechargeable battery technology and B2B
battery business. The Group has built renowned brand names for its major
product categories, including GP batteries, GP Recyko batteries, KEF premium
acoustic products and Celestion professional speakers.

The Group has a strong and extensive manufacturing, R&D and distribution network
spanning over 10 countries. Its turnover for the financial year 2022 - 2023 amounted
to HK$6.6 billion and its total assets exceeded HK$8.2 billion. Including the major
operations of its various divisions, the Group currently employs a staff force of
6,650 worldwide.

*As at 20 June 2023

RECYKO

New generation rechargeables

GP Batteries

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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GROUP STRUCTURE
SEZRE

GOLD PEAK TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
LR TERRAT

Hong Kong-listed &#&_ L™

Be better equipped for your
ventures with GP batteries and accessories
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GROUP PROFILE GROUP STRUCTURE
EEEN EEZRE

Gold Peak Technology Group is a global battery and electronics company &Lk EEBA—FREM LT FERCYE HE

with an aspiration to become one of the leaders in providing energy and sound X /AR B RS EH ENEEE 72— WIARHE GO LD PEAK TECH NOLOGY G ROU P LI M ITED

solutions that enlighten and empower lives, and with sustainability as a focus. BRAAEEEYN SABEETERE EEFH-
N n1ura frm—
SRR TEBRAR

The parent company, Gold Peak Technology Group Limited, was established &£E& AT @IURI R TEERATN 1964 £ Hong Kong-listed & k-1
in 1964 and has been listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong since X WHE1984FHEFH M- & IURIKIBGHE
1984. Gold Peak holds a majority stake at 85.59%" in the Singapore-listed & GP T AR A7 85.59%" ji#E  {EAH T
BIHETEGP TEEFINH e

|
85.59%"
|

GP Industries Limited as its major industrial investment vehicle.

GP INDUSTRIES LIMITED
GP I¥E8RAR

Singapore-listed g £

ONICS & INDUSTRIAL
TICS BUSINESS MENTS
REREXY R&

GP BATTERIES GP ENERGY TECH KEF GP
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED GROUP LIMITED
LM GP RN ERA
SWEHERERAR
Primary Rechargeable KEF
1 1 1 1 —RHE FEM
GP Batteries continuously invests in

GP Electronics

the R&D of battery technologies
with improved performance and
sustainability features.
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FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL HIGHLIGHTS
I RAETRE

2023 2022

restated
BHRD
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss mEBER
Year ended 31 March (HK$ million) HEIAILALFE (BBET)
Revenue® o 6,581.0 7,145.6
Total profit for the year 2E T 36.9 156.9
Earnings per share (Hong Kong cents) & EF (B 4.0 19.8
Dividends per share (Hong Kong cents) SRS (B - -
*including continuing and discontinued operations TERERBEREEGR DR LIRSS
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position mEMBMRRE
At 31 March (HK$ million) M3A31E (AEHT)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NATREB A EIL RS 1,701.3 2,195.0
Total assets BB E 8,268.0 9,373.7
Capital expenditure BARMESTH 292.8 302.7
Ratios tb =
At 31 March MW3A31H
Current assets : Current liabilities (ratio) MBEE  RHEE (thX) 0.9 0.9
Inventory turnover period (months) FERBE (B) 3.1 3.4
Net bank borrowings : Total equity (ratio) RITEEEE B E (IbX)
- The Group —&H 0.82 0.82
- The Company — A 0.54 0.50
Other Information HibER
At 31 March MW3A31H
The Company & its subsidiaries: NARIRHBAR:
Number of employees EEAZ
- China —rh 4,360 4,500
- Hong Kong — &8 390 440
- Other regions — HAthih = 1,900 2,110
6,650 7,050
Total area (sq m) BEE (F7K)
- China —h 486,200 498,000
- Hong Kong — & 10,800 10,700
- Other regions — HAthih @ 136,000 136,100
633,000 644,800

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023 06



Revenue by Business

IRRBCERR

Year ended 31 March 2023 HZE202343A31HILEE
wmmm Batteries &)
s Electronics & acoustics
BFEmM&GERS
Revenue by Location BHhEZEEE LM 49.7%
Year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE2023F3A31HILFE
w— Asia 25
wm Europe EUM 0.8%
Americas ZEiM
wmm Others EAh
21.4%
Total Assets by Location BEZHAEES M
As at 31 March 2023 #202343A31R 77.5%

= Hong Kong & China &8 KA 37%
s Rest of Asia Eofth 25 N & 3.9%
Americas M
w== Europe EUM 14.9%
Profit before Interest and ERBRFERBANEFR e

Taxation by Business
Year ended 31 March 2023

mmm Batteries &)

«=mm Electronics & acoustics

BTEMAGRS

SURBETEARAF —O-—Z-0=_=44%%

BZE202343A31HILFE

15.9%

0/



FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL HIGHLIGHTS conro)

B RGTRHE @

Revenue* oo
Year ended 31 March (HK$ million) 9,000
sk e g o 7,146
E S5 2000 6.768 6,706 i
HE3ASLAILEFE (B8BT)
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
*including continuing and discontinued operations 0
CEARHB SRS R B R SRS 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
10,000
Total Assets 9,055 9,374
At 31 March (HK$ million) 9,000
ﬁ@\ﬁé 8,000
" 7,000
W3A31A (BEBT)
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
restated restated
EFRED BHED
Profit before Interest and e
500

Taxation by Business™
Year ended 31 March (HK$ million)

FERRF S R B AR

HE3ASIALFE (BE8HET)

we Batteries &5

w Electronics & acoustics BT & m M52 2

*including continuing and discontinued operations
EERREEEBRERIGEER
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Market Capitalization
At 31 March (HK$ million)

miE

MW3A3LE (B&%ET)

W Gold Peak € 1L#RH%
P GP Industries GPT %

2,000

1,800

1,600
1,400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400
200

o

o

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
: . 160 156.9
Profit Attributable to
Owners of the Company 40
Year ended 31 March (HK$ million) 120 121.9
AAREE ABAEEF 100
HE3A3LBILFE (BEET)
80
61.4
60
40 36.9
20-9 l
) -
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
restated
BRI

Earnings Per Share and
Dividends Per Share

Year ended 31 March (Hong Kong Cents)

BEREIREREKRE

HE3ALALFE (B

W Earnings per share S% &7
W Dividends per share &% % &

SURBETEARAF —O-—Z-0=_=44%

20

18

16

19.8
15.5
14
12
10
8 7.8
6
4.2 4.0

4

27

2.0
.. il il

Nil

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

restated
EiE L]l

09



TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

THEPBHRE

2023

2022

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (ote 1)

Year ended 31 March (HK$ million)

SMEBRR we
HE3AZALFE (BEEET)

(restated B4R 5)
(note 2 ffE2)

Turnover e 6,581.0 7,145.6
Profit (Loss) before taxation FRZADEH (B18) 100.4 264.9
Taxation 18 (14.2 (39.1)
Profit (Loss) for the year 2ERT] (E18) 86.2 225.8
Attributable to: B
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZE DN 36.9 156.9
Non-controlling interests IR AE 49.3 68.9
86.2 225.8
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position mEMBERRE (restated EHT/51)
At 31 March (HK$ million) H3A31A (EEHT) (note 2 3E2)
Investment properties wEMHE - -
Property, plant and equipment Yz HE NEE 2,320.8 2,386.2
Right-of-use asset REAE 262.7 291.6
Interests in associates [Pk NG 1,614.6 2,082.4
Equity instruments at fair value through other AAFERFAEMZEEEZ
comprehensive income AT A 83.5 90.4
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE - -
Non-current receivables e B U AR IE - 18.7
Intangible assets mLEE 2.4 1.1
Goodwill HE 70.4 70.4
Deferred taxation assets TRIEFIIRE B 34.4 34.4
Deposits and prepayments & RIENFIE 19.7 29.8
Current assets MEAE 3,859.5 4,325.8
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFHEERE - 42.9
Total assets HEE 8,268.0 9,373.7
Bank and other loans RITREMER 1,043.8 740.8
Notes FiE - -
Deferred taxation liabilities FERIES F 38.4 64.4
Lease liabilities HEAE 226.9 243.9
Obligation under finance leases BB HEERE - -
Derivative Financial Instruments PTESBMTA - -
Provision for restructuring SR AR - -
Current liabilities UEIN=NE 4,236.1 5,107.0
Total liabilities wafE 5,545.2 6,156.1
2,722.8 3,217.6
Equity attributable to owners of the Company riN/NSIEFE PN e 1,701.3 2,195.0
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR A A 1,021.5 1,022.6
2,722.8 3,217.6

Notes: 1. The consolidated profit or loss included results of continuing and discontinued operations.

2. The financial information had been restated to reflect the effect of equity accounting of an associate, XIC.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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6,706.2 6,051.5 6,767.7 6,316.3 5,822.6 5,795.5 5,855.7 5,849.3
287.5 217.8 265.0 197.3 210.2 204.8 300.1 (196.0)
(79.49) (126.5) (81.0) (87.3) (103.2) (86.5) (114.3) (75.6)
208.1 91.3 184.0 110.0 107.0 118.3 185.8 (271.6)
121.9 20.9 61.4 20.4 20.1 18.7 51.5 (127.9)

86.2 70.4 122.6 89.6 86.9 99.6 134.3 (143.7)

208.1 91.3 184.0 110.0 107.0 118.3 185.8 (271.6)
(restated EF#H5)
(note 2 Fif3E£2)

- - - - 9.9 9.6 9.9 41.1

2,234.6 1,833.3 1,594.7 1,755.1 1,400.8 1,393.4 1,409.2 1,495.5
282.4 177.2 - - - - - -

2,074.8 1,501.6 1,484.3 1,489.8 1,403.7 1,333.5 1,318.9 1,346.0

60.1 58.4 77.4 - - - - -

- - - 87.56 64.0 62.3 61.1 75.8

86.2 83.4 - - - - - -
1.2 1.2 1.3 1.4 3.6 6.4 10.6 15.0
79.1 79.1 79.1 102.1 102.1 102.1 118.5 127.2
27.8 20.9 22.5 21.9 19.7 21.5 20.6 35.1
38.7 26.1 13.0 14.3 37.4 24.7 8.6 1.0
4,127.8 3,413.6 3,842.5 3,576.5 3,097.9 2,929.4 2,703.7 2,878.6
42.2 43.4 196.5 55.8 5.9 - 0.4 22.7
9,054.9 7,238.2 7,311.3 7,104.4 6,145.0 5,882.9 5,661.5 6,038.0
1,047.9 349.7 1,167.6 1,037.5 882.2 832.6 524.9 503.7
- - - 119.0 - - - -

59.9 41.1 24.1 22.4 23.2 18.7 26.8 39.0
215.6 94.6 - - - - - -

- - 3.3 0.6 1.0 0.5 0.7 0.7

- - 2.1 — - - - -

99.8 99.8 - - - - - -

4,856.8 4,537.3 3,883.9 3,572.1 2,784.8 2,471.3 2,371.3 2,667.9

6,280.0 5,122.5 5,081.0 4,751.6 3,691.2 3,323.1 2,923.7 3,211.3

2,774.9 2,115.7 2,230.3 2,352.8 2,453.8 2,559.8 2,737.8 2,826.7

1,847.5 1,300.9 1,412.5 1,519.9 1,268.3 1,323.5 1,406.0 1,380.9
927.4 814.8 817.8 832.9 1,185.5 1,236.3 1,331.8 1,445.8

2,774.9 2,115.7 2,230.3 2,352.8 2,453.8 2,559.8 2,737.8 2,826.7

MiE: 1 GeRGRESEEEERRERIHEE RS -
2. BBEHEHENRS  IRMUAESSDATABEARZEREIZ PR -

SURBETIEARAF —O==%

ZOZ=55%R
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TEHRESE

The Group faced an extraordinarily challenging business
environment during the financial year ended 31 March
2023 (“FY2023"). Rapidly escalating interest rates, high
material costs, and product oversupply with reduced
consumer demand in key markets put pressure on the
sales and profitability of the Group. To counter the adverse
business environment, the Group revisited some of its
strategies and adjusted business practices to stay agile,
resilient,and competitive.

SEE 2023 EMAZEF Bk APRE R EEIRIR - MRZBIZETT
MHRERSE  MEXTEMSEEEEZTIONL SIHERLBE R
EAE?E’UEE% SIS ENHEMBAGENEBE T © BEATHH
ERERE  SEEHER T SN EERBIWAELEEN - MR
R EHEE N - RFEMBEFE N

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

Results

Revenue of the Group for FY2023 declined by 6.8% to HK$6,581.0 million
when compared to the last financial year which ended on 31 March 2022
(“FY2022") while gross profit margin increased from 25.9% in FY2022 to 26.6%
in FY2023. Including contributions from discontinued operations, total profit
attributable to owners of the Company decreased from HK$156.9 million for
gnificant one-off contribution from the disposal of a
ic investment of the Group, to HK$36.9 million for FY2023.

per share for FY2023 was 4.0 HK cents, compared to 19.8 HK cents
2022. The directors did not recommend a dividend for this year.

Strategies against the Odds

The global economic slowdown, high cost and instable supply of material,
high energy costs and high interest r-es a.' led t, 'npre > dentec ar a
cost increases for most consumer goc Is and siipp asse 1 gl bl derar d -~
consumer products. The recent failure o1 some r¢: jic halban s 1th. Usalol:d
to overall credit tightening in the market, which further aggregate the challenges
facing global businesses. Such economic and market headwinds ha' e also

relentlessly put pressure on the Group’s profit marnin,

The prevailing high interest rates increas :d fundin¢ costs an { reduce 1
corporate’s tendency for bank borrowings. To .~~'.ce " 1e inte e_t costs, the
Group has started to use more equity financing as an alternative means to

continue financing the Zrour’s Lush icls e xparnision.

As part of the strategic plan to optimize brand development and market growth,
the Group has formed a new subsidiary, KEF GP Group Limited (“KGG"), aligning
the resources of our acoustic brands and manufacturing businesses, namely,
KEF, Celestion and GP Electronics. A “Series-A” fundraising of US$13.7
million was completed by KGG in January 2023. Proceeds will go into setting
up new experience centers in international cities, pursuing R&D excellence,
building strategic partnerships, and strengthening social media marketing and

e-commerce capabilities to support our expanding global distribution.

New KEF experience centers in London, Tokyo and selected cities in China

will be opened before the end of the financial year ending 31 March 2024

to further strengthen brand building and to enable more prospective
ce our state-of-the-art product offerings.

£

REFLEBR LFE T 6.8%E65.81E8
T_I: C EFERIR 25.9% FFAE26.6% - ERE

IFREEBER - ARAREAABBAFE
a@mum 1.669E BT T £ 3,690& 87T
EHEELE —ERRIEREERISN—
i e

AU BFREEFRANR 4.
10.8%1l - EERTERIKEE

P 355 35 R

EHEERE - MRHEBRSEBHENS - 5
RN E S ERERE - SRAZE0H
#EARRIATARS SR EFR - SEHPHIT 2308

BRFER o s - RSB — L g 1 SR T A
%ﬁ%?ﬁ(m%%ﬁhﬁ”&?& #E—TMBI2RE
PSR PE o FLLQEMT S HE 7 75
S B E LR

e EImn s i A SEE¥ERYE
Mo REE ] SERES B TS
BEREEAERAR  WEETHETER

SEHRERETERATHERERIDIS

A S 7 ¥ K @ A & KEF GP Group Limited
(IKGGJ) » #AHETKEF - CelestionMGP
Electronics B2 m M MEEX BN EIR °

2023F 17 - KGGREKAGRE - BEAH
1,3708 %L ' SAREEREBH M AR
WZEERBL - MRFE  ELRKER
HAEEBERRBARIFIEE TS T rRisae
71 AR PITETER AR D SHA84% o

BIRFAKEFMREMNRE % & B R BRI
BERERAS - RIPEE 20240 BEE Ik
RIAMRER B R AR B 2 (@ h sk 2 37 KEF
ZTEBBRPD o

KEF x Lotus partnership, the most immersive in-car

FIEER

audio system incorporating Uni-Q & Uni-Core technologies
KEF x Lotus 2L Uni-Q & Uni-Core #1347 & 55 = 5F B8 5o



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRBES

The Group faced an extraordinarily challenging business
environment during the financial year ended 31 March
2023 (“FY2023"). Rapidly escalating interest rates, high
material costs, and product oversupply with reduced
consumer demand in key markets put pressure on the

KEF GP Group draws upon the strengths
of KEF Celestion and GP Electronics
with end-to-end capabllity to deliver
high-fidelity acoustic music systems.

KEF GP Group &4 KEF - Celestion k& |LIE&E
MoRIB - U A URBITEEESEES

Results

Revenue of the Group for FY2023 declined by 6.8% to HK$6,581.0 million
when compared to the last financial year which ended on 31 March 2022
(“FY2022") while gross profit margin increased from 25.9% in FY2022 to 26.6%
in FY2023. Including contributions from discontinued operations, total profit
attributable to owners of the Company decreased from HK$156.9 million for
FY 2022, which included a significant one-off contribution from the disposal of a
business in a strategic investment of the Group, to HK$36.9 million for FY2023.

Earnings per share for FY2023 was 4.0 HK cents, compared to 19.8 HK cents
for FY2022. The directors did not recommend a dividend for this year.

Strategies against the Odds

The global economic slowdown, high cost and instable supply of material,
high energy costs and high interest rates all led to unprecedented rapid
cost increases for most consumer goods and suppressed global demand for
consumer products. The recent failure of some regional banks in the US also led
to overall credit tightening in the market, which further aggregate the challenges
facing global businesses. Such economic and market headwinds have also

relentlessly put pressure on the Group’s profit margin.

The prevailing high interest rates increased funding costs and reduced
corporate’s tendency for bank borrowings. To reduce the interest costs, the
Group has started to use more equity financing as an alternative means to

continue financing the Group’s business expansion.

As part of the strategic plan to optimize brand development and market growth,
the Group has formed a new subsidiary, KEF GP Group Limited (“KGG"), aligning
the resources of our acoustic brands and manufacturing businesses, namely,
KEF, Celestion and GP Electronics. A “Series-A” fundraising of US$13.7
million was completed by KGG in January 2023. Proceeds will go into setting
up new experience centers in international cities, pursuing R&D excellence,
building strategic partnerships, and strengthening social media marketing and

e-commerce capabilities to support our expanding global distribution.

New KEF experience centers in London, Tokyo and selected cities in China
will be opened before the end of the financial year ending 31 March 2024
(“FY2024") to further strengthen brand building and to enable more prospective

customers to experience our state-of-the-art product offerings.

SIBHETERRART —OZ=—E-O==F4#K

ES

REFLEFR LFE T 6.8%E65.81E8
JT - EFIEAIER 25.9% EFAE26.6% o ERE
RICREEBER - ARRHEARERFE
R A B 1.5698F T T # %= 3,6908 8 7T
EPEEHE -ARBUEREEBMEN R
BRI

AP BFEEFRBEMNR 408 - ZFERA
10.8% (Il - EE R TERIREAE -

PR 355 35 SR

EHEERE MRHEBSEEHETE - 8
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT conro
ETREBEE =

To improve agility and cost efficiency, the management modified some of the
business and distribution models in some countries. KEF is proud to be part
of Lotus’ global launch of its all-new electric Lotus Eletre Hyper-SUV in this
financial reporting year. Through this KEF x Lotus partnership, KEF has created
the most immersive in-car audio system to complement the unrivalled driving
experience offered by Lotus. This partnership has also led to the recent launch of
our first KEF x Lotus home audio product, LS60 Wireless Lotus Edition, in China in
March 2023. This co-branding product will be rolled out to other countries from

July onwards.

Sales performance of Celestion, our professional loudspeaker business, is
picking up as the demand for professional sound equipment increases following
the resumption of public, large-scale music events. The new C-Music by
Celestion busking amplifier, our first prosumer product launched during the
pandemic, is also gaining more awareness and positive reception with increased

marketing and sales efforts in Asia.

The Batteries Business was facing unstable material supply, rising commodity
prices and an oversupplied market globally. High interest rates also pushed
customers to reduce their inventory. However, we expect the inventory
adjustments to complete within FY2024 and the business to resume normality
in the second half of FY2024. The Group’s strategic plan for rebalancing its
manufacturing capacity in Southeast Asia is close to completion and we wiill be

operating with enhanced productivity and cost efficiency.
Sustainability Efforts

Despite the challenging market conditions, we continued to operate
with sustainability as our core value. The Group is investigating the risks,
opportunities, and impacts relating to climate and other sustainability factors
in our efforts towards net zero. As a responsible manufacturer, we continue our
pledge to reduce environmental impact by minimizing waste and improving
product recyclability. Six plants in Malaysia, VVietham and China have achieved
Zero \Waste to Landfill Gold Validation which best manifests our commitment
in green production. Solar panels have been installed in our manufacturing
facilities in Malaysia, China and the UK to partially power our operations. Further
investments will be made to reduce and reuse waste as well as to increase the

application of sustainable energy.
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\We aim to be more sustainable at source. Currently, over 10% recycled
materials are used in selected rechargeable battery models and we are working
to increase the application to a wider product range. \We also progressively
eliminate plastics in our product packaging. \\With the commitment to promoting
a circular economy, an all-new paper packaging for GP Alkaline batteries has
been introduced in Hong Kong during the year and will soon be launched in other

markets.

\We believe rechargeable energy is the future. GP Energy Tech Limited (“GP
Energy Tech”), the newly formed subsidiary, is the business arm that drives the
development of the innovative, more sustainable, and environmentally friendly
battery products and energy storage solutions. Our R&D team is focusing
on further enhancing the performance of these revolutionary rechargeable

batteries as the energy solution for the next generation.
Innovation and R&D

As a technology-driven corporation, innovation and R&D remain a core engine
to fuel the future growth of our business. Our research teams in Hong Kong and
Shenzhen are working on innovative projects which include the development of
Nickel Metal Hydride (“NiNMIH") batteries built with mostly recycled materials and
the development of new alloy materials for NilVIH batteries to perform at high
and low temperature ranges. Nickel-zinc batteries, aimed initially at the energy
storage sector, has also been an important area of R&D for our Group during
the past few years. \We believe the enhanced performance and sustainability
features will keep us at the forefront and widen the market for our rechargeable

battery products.

\We emphasize quality design for delivering exquisite user experience. KEF's
LS60 Wireless music system, launched during the pandemic last year, has
received very positive market response and industry acclaims. To further
strengthen our R&D and innovation capabilities, talent hubs are being set up
in Shenzhen, Kuala Lumpur, Hong Kong, and London to support our global

development.
Outlook

High interest rates and inflation are expected to linger for a considerably longer
period. The management has been working hard to enhance our operations
and efficiency, to stay agile and responsive to market changes while remaining
innovative and progressive.
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With the formation of KGG, KEF is poised to continue growing its business by
expanding the market penetration of its active wireless music systems, which is
now a major growth driver of the business. GP Energy Tech will lead the Group’s
business on sustainable energy storage solution by continuous innovation and

development of Nickel-based battery product applications.

The Group will uphold its sustainability commitment and be a responsible
corporate citizen. More investments will be made in equipment and facilities for
the enhancement of green and efficient production. \We will continue to launch
new products with outstanding value for money to customers and refine our
product packaging to minimize waste and improve product recyclability. \We
aspire to progressively minimize our carbon footprint and contribute towards a

greener future.
\/ote of Thanks

It would not be possible to navigate difficult times without the concerted efforts
and commitment of our stakeholders. On behalf of the Board, | would like to
extend our heartfelt gratitude to our management and staff members for their
commitment and dedication, fellow Board members for their trust and devotion,
and our customers, suppliers, shareholders and bankers for their unfailing
support.

Victor LO Chung Wing

Chairman and Chief Executive
20 June 2023
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
E 3 AEI]

Overview

Adding to the slowing global economy, unstable material supply, high energy
costs, product oversupply and rapidly escalating interest rates combined to
make FY2023 another challenging year. The economic and market headwinds
suppressed global demand for consumer products and put pressure on the sales
and profitability of the Group.

During FY2023, revenue of the Group was HK$6,581.0 million, a decline of
HK$480.6 million or 6.8% when compared to the revenue registered in FY2022.
The decline was mainly due to a HK$454.9 million or 8.4% decrease in revenue
reported by the Batteries Business when compared to FY2022. Nevertheless,
gross profit margin increased from 25.9% in FY2022 to 26.6% in FY2023. The
increase was mainly contributed by product price increases, improved product
sales mix and higher manufacturing productivity. The better profit margin helped

to reduce the adverse effects of higher material costs and low market demand.

In geographical terms, sales to Europe and the Americas decreased while
sales to China increased. Approximately 75.7% of the revenue for FY2023 was
contributed by the Batteries Business while 24.3% was from the Electronics and

Acoustics Business.

The Group continued to strive for operational excellence. Distribution costs
decreased by HK$87.1 million or 9.5% to HK$829.6 million in FY2023 when
compared to FY2022 due to a reduction in freight cost, custom duties for the
battery products and advertising and promotion expenses. The administrative
expenses in FY2023 were reduced by HK$19.0 million or 2.1% to HK$866.4

million when compared to FY2022, mainly due to a decrease in staff costs.

Other operating income decreased by HK$17.5 million to HK$263.4 million
in FY2023 when compared to FY2022. Other operating income for FY2023
mainly consisted of the gain from disposal of the entire 29.28% shareholding in
STL Technology Co, Ltd (“STL”) and the gain from disposal of Huizhou Modern
Battery Limited (“Modern Battery”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of GP Industries
Limited (“GP Industries”, and together with its subsidiaries, “GP Industries

Group”).

Other operating expenses decreased by HK$53.7 million to HK$150.9 million
in FY2023 when compared to FY2022. Other operating expenses included
impairment charges for the property, plant and equipment of the Lithium
rechargeable business and cumulative translation deficit charged to profit or
loss upon de-registration of a subsidiary. The decrease in FY2023 was also
contributed by the one-off impairment charges for the business in Russia and
the cost of relocating the factories of the Batteries Business from Huizhou to

Dongguan, China recognized in FY2022.
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Including contributions from discontinued operations, total profit attributable to
owners of the Company decreased from HK$156.9 million for FY2022, which
included a significant one-off contribution from the disposal of a strategic
investment of the Group, to HK$36.9 million for FY2023,

Batteries Business

The revenue of the Batteries Business declined by 7.5% to S$870.1 million.
Sales of primary and rechargeable batteries declined by 6.2% and 15.5%
respectively. In geographical terms, sales to the Americas, Europe and Asia
decreased by 17.5%, 13.4% and 1.4% respectively.

Gross profit margin remained at approximately the same level as in FY2022.
Management'’s efforts in negotiating with customers for price increases and
improving product mix were offset by the rise in material costs and low market

demand.

GP Industries Group disposed of its entire 29.28% shareholdings in STL during
FY2023 with a gain of HK$71.0 million in aggregate.

Another disposal gain of HK$60.9 million was recorded from the disposal of
Modern Battery after relocating its rechargeable battery production to the new

campus in Xiegang, Dongguan, China.

As a strategic move to counter the rapid material price increases and continued
disruption to the supply chain during FY2022, the Group increased the inventory
level of raw materials and finished products to ensure a steady supply to the
market. With the gradual stabilization of global supply chain in FY2023, inventory

level was normalized as of 31 March 2023.

Following a strategic review of the Batteries Business in FY2022, GP Industries
announced the proposed distribution in-specie of the rechargeable batteries
manufacturing business (the “Proposed Distribution”) on 28 December 2021.

The Proposed Distribution is conditional and is still in progress in FY2023.
Electronics and Acoustics Business

Revenue of the Electronics and Acoustics Business was slightly reduced by
0.7% to S$279.9 million. KEF's sales declined by 3.1%, with the 10.8% and 3.7%
sales drop to the Americas and Europe respectively, outweighing the 15.5%
sales increase to Asia. KEF’s high-fidelity wireless music systems continued its
growth momentum while traditional speakers suffered from reduced market

demand and fierce destocking by competitors.
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Celestion, the professional speaker driver business, recorded a 6.1% growth
in revenue, which was the combined result of a 17.6% and a 15.9% increase
in sales to Europe and Asia respectively while sales to the Americas dropped
by 11.4%. The revenue increase was driven mainly by a strong demand for
professional sound reinforcement equipment for large-scale concerts and public

performances after the pandemic.

The electronics factory in Huizhou, China was relocated to a new location at
Dongjiang Industrial Park in Huizhou in April 2022 and production was disrupted
for nearly two months. The operation resumed with enhanced efficiency after

the relocation and contributed to an increase in profitability for the segment.

The Electronics and Acoustics Business also faced unsteady supply and high
costs of materials, high interest rates and soft sales. The gross profit margin
increase was achieved by new product launches and improved operation

efficiency as reported above.

During FY2023, the Group restructured the Electronics and Acoustics business
to consolidate the Group’s strength in acoustic technology. Principal subsidiaries
in the segment were grouped under KEF GP Group Limited (“KGG”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of GP Industries. The new shareholding structure under
KGG better reflects the synergies and mutually reinforcing relationships of the
principal subsidiaries of the Electronics and Acoustics Business in research
and development, product design, manufacturing, branding, marketing and
sales activities. The formation of KGG will enable and facilitate direct capital

contribution into the business.

On 26 January 2023, KGG entered into simple agreements for future equity
(“SAFEs”) with certain investors, who are long-term partners, business
associates and supporters of KEF and Celestion branded products, for an
aggregate purchase amount of US$13.7 million. The SAFEs provide investors
with the rights to future equity in KGG under the terms of the agreements.
The SAFEs will automatically convert into preferred shares to be issued to
the investors in future capital raising transactions. The SAFEs issued by KGG
are classified as non-controlling interests and recognized under equity in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Other Industrial Investments

This business segment includes the Group’s investments in Meiloon Industrial
Co, Ltd. and XIC Innovation Limited (“XIC”, formerly known as Linkz Industries
Limited, together with its subsidiaries “XIC Group”).

In FY2022, XIC reported a gain from the disposal of its 63.58%-owned
subsidiary, Time Interconnect Technology Limited (“Time Interconnect”). Profit
contribution from XIC decreased in FY2023 after the disposal.

In FY2023, XIC completed its acquisition of Light Engine Technologies Limited
(“Light Engine”, together with its subsidiaries “Light Engine Group”) of which XIC
and Light Engine were under the common control of their controlling shareholder
preceding this acquisition. As a result, the consolidated financial statements
of XIC Group for FY2022 have been restated to include assets and liabilities
and the operating results of Light Engine Group, as if Light Engine Group had
been in existence as of 1 April 2021. GP Industries’ restated profit attributable
to shareholders for FY2022 increased to S$40.0 million from S$35.3 million as
previously reported. As a result, the profit attributable to owners of the Company
in FY2022 was adjusted up to HK$156.9 million from HK$133.4 million
previously reported.

Financial Review

During FY2023, the Group’s net bank borrowings decreased by HK$397 million
to HK$2,240 million. As of 31 March 2023, the Group’s total shareholders’ funds
and non-controlling interests was HK$2,723 million and the Group’s gearing
ratio (the ratio of consolidated net bank borrowings to shareholders’ funds and
non-controlling interests) was 0.82 (31 March 2022: 0.82). The gearing ratios of
the Company and GP Industries were 0.54 (31 March 2022: 0.50) and 0.55 (31
March 2022: 0.60) respectively.

As of 31 March 2023, 70% (31 March 2022: 81%) of the Group’s bank
borrowings was revolving or repayable within one year whereas 30% (31
March 2022: 19%) was repayable from one to five years. Most of these bank
borrowings are in US dollars, Singapore dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
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The decrease in net current liabilities as of 31 March 2023 was due to the
proceeds received from disposal of Modern Battery and STL, as well as the
Group’s financing arrangements including the issuance of SAFEs and new long-
term loans raised during the year. Taking into consideration the Group’s internally
generated funds and available banking facilities, the Group has sufficient

resources to settle its current liabilities as they fall due.

oreign exchange risks prude
ocal currencies and local sourcing have been
mpact of currency fluctuation.

sue and Use of Proceeds

4 February 2022, the Company announced a rights issue (“Rights Issue”) on
e basis of one rights share for every six existing shares held by shareholders
of the Company at a subscription price of HK$0.62 per rights share. The Rights
Issue was completed and 130,782,158 ordinary shares was issued before 31
March 2022. The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue were approximately
HK$81.1 million and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue, after deducting
professional fees and all other relevant expenses, were approximately HK$77.5
million. Details of the Rights Issue were disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 8 March 2022 (the “Prospectus”).
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Other Industrial Investments

This business segment includes the Group’s investments in Meiloon Industrial
Co, Ltd. and XIC Innovation Limited (“XIC”, formerly known as Linkz Industries

Limited, together with its subsidiaries “XIC Group”).

Bt THERE

WX BBREBNERETERMHBR DR MK
BHAIRRAR (NZERA  EREME AR
o ZEMEIEE] - e REXETEARA
A ZIE -

GP Energy Tech is devoted to
developing Nickel-based
rechargeable energy storage
solutions for industrial applications.

GPRERMBE AT T X HRETE

ERERA R o

The decrease in net current liabilities as of 31 March 2023 was due to the
proceeds received from disposal of Modern Battery and STL, as well as the
Group’s financing arrangements including the issuance of SAFEs and new long-
term loans raised during the year. Taking into consideration the Group’s internally
generated funds and available banking facilities, the Group has sufficient
resources to settle its current liabilities as they fall due.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currencies arises mainly from the net cash
flow and the translation of net monetary assets or liabilities of its overseas
subsidiaries. The Group continued to manage foreign exchange risks prudently.
Forward contracts, borrowings in local currencies and local sourcing have been
arranged to minimize the impact of currency fluctuation.

Rights Issue and Use of Proceeds

On 14 February 2022, the Company announced a rights issue (“Rights Issue”) on
the basis of one rights share for every six existing shares held by shareholders
of the Company at a subscription price of HK$0.62 per rights share. The Rights
Issue was completed and 130,782,158 ordinary shares was issued before 31
March 2022. The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue were approximately
HK$81.1 million and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue, after deducting
professional fees and all other relevant expenses, were approximately HK$77.5
million. Details of the Rights Issue were disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 8 March 2022 (the “Prospectus”).
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS conro)

E 3 3C1) -1

As of 31 March 2023, the intended use and actual use of the net proceeds from

the Rights Issue, as well as the unutilized net proceeds are as follows:

M2023F3A 318 - KPS FEMTES
FEEMERERBI - bA R REBHPTEH

THFEAT
Planned
use of net Unutilized Actual Unutilized
proceeds as net use of netproceeds
Intended use of net disclosed proceeds proceeds as at
proceeds as disclosed in the as at during 31 March Expected timeline for utilizing
in the Prospectus Prospectus 1 April 2022 the year 2023 the remaining net proceeds
A2022%F A2023%F
ERFRERSE 48181 3A31AH
ERPEBENAESRIETEHE FRIEFEEM REFAME rFEEER REA ERARRFEIIEEHE
TR HA A& R AR MIEFH EAME EREFE NHEPRER
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET BEET
For financing the expansion 62.0 62.0 0 62.0  Within two years from the
of the Rechargeable Batteries publication of the Prospectus
Business and by the year ending
31 March 2024
AR RERTENEGEE ERTIEROARAFAREE
2024 3A31H IEFER
For general working capital 15.5 15.5 15.5 0 N/A
purposes, including staff
costs and administration
expenses
RIE—REEES TEH
(BFEE TARAMITIR S H)
Total: %8 : 77.5 77.5 15.5 62.0

The Group has been developing an advance sustainable energy storage

solutions business and intends to upgrade and expand its existing Rechargeable

Batteries Business production capacity as disclosed in the Prospectus and the

net proceeds of the Rights Issue allocated for such purpose will be applied in line

with such implementation. There is no change in the use of proceeds from the

Rights Issue as disclosed in the Prospectus.
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Outlook

Business activities started to increase as more countries re-opened from the
COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns. However, inflation and rapidly escalating
interest rates during FY2023 suppressed consumer spending on manufactured
goods and slowed the demand for the Group’s battery products in FY2023.
Most economists expect high inflation and high interest rates to persist for a
longer period. Nevertheless, it is expected the demand for battery products may
gradually increase when major overseas private label customers complete their
inventory adjustment and start normal purchases from their reduced inventory
level by the latter part of the financial year ending 31 March 2024 (“FY2024").

High interest rates significantly increase the Group’s finance costs and this
condition may prolong for a while. The management will consider funding some
of the Group’s future expansions by equity financing, where appropriate, to

reduce the borrowing level and finance costs.

The Batteries Business will continue to be affected by volatile raw material
prices and shipping challenges. Nevertheless, the manufacturing capacity
rebalancing project was mostly completed in FY2023, and the Group’s
manufacturing efficiency is expected to improve with reduced redundant

operations and better economies of scale in FY2024.

Combining the strong and differentiated product program with aggressive sales
expansion, the Group’s KEF consumer speakers, Celestion professional speaker
drivers and professional audio manufacturing businesses are expected to
further expand its sales and addressable market with groundbreaking acoustic

innovations.

Disruption to global shipping services is improving but high interest rates
and shortages of electronics components are expected to continue posing
challenges to the Group in optimizing its inventory level and working capital

requirements to ensure its delivery commitments.

The project to rebalance the Group’s manufacturing facilities was mostly
completed in FY2023. \With the relocation of Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co Ltd’s
operations to the new and world-class facility in China completed by the end of
FY2024, the subsequent disposal of the existing factory site will generate more

funding for the Group’s deleveraging program.

Introducing innovative new products is the centerpiece of the Group’s long-
term strategy. The Group will continue to strive for operational excellence by
further improving its efficiency across all manufacturing and global distribution

operations to drive further margin improvement.
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.

EVENTS & ACHIEVEMENTS
SERF

Corporate Event

On 26 January 2023, GP Industries announced the issuance of simple
agreements for future equity of the newly formed subsidiary, KEF GP Group
Limited, as a new grouping of the acoustics and electronics businesses to

facilitate its future development.
Sustainability Awards

Six plants in Malaysia, Vietham and China received UL Zero Waste to Landfill
Gold Validation to acknowledge their efforts and achievements in maximizing
waste diversion and energy recovery rates as well as their ongoing commitment

to improving sustainability performance.

GP Batteries and a factory in China were awarded “Hong Kong-Guangdong
Cleaner Production Partner (Supply Chain)” and “Hong Kong-Guangdong
Cleaner Production Excellent Partner (Manufacturing)”, respectively by the
Environment and Ecology Bureau of Hong Kong SAR and the Department of
Industry and Information Technology of Guangdong Province, China.

A plant in Dongguan, China was presented “Dongguan Safe Enterprise Award”

by Office of Dongguan Work Safety Commission.

GP Batteries was awarded “100% HK Branding Award - Outstanding Corporate
Social Responsibility (CSR) in Environmental Conservation 2022” organized
by Greater China Association of Branding Industry to honor brands for their
continuous contributions in promoting CSR.

|n

GP Batteries was presented the “Energywi$e Certificate - Good Level” and

“Wastewi$e Certificate - Good Level” by Hong Kong Green Organisation.
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Product Awards

« KEF LS60 Wireless Lotus Edition, the first KEF x Lotus co-branded all-in-one

speaker system, was launched for the China market. Along with Muon, it was

featured at the Lotus Day in Shanghai, China.

- KEF’s innovative, patent-pending Uni-Core® technology received “Innovation
of the Year Award” while KEF LS50 Meta was presented “Product of the Year
Award - Standmount Speakers”, both by \What Hi-Fi? Sound & Vision, UK.

- KEF LS60 Wireless was named “Best Product 2022-2023: Wireless
Floorstanding Loudspeakers” by EISA, UK and “The Applause Award” from

StereoNET, Australia.

- KEF Blade Two Meta was named “Product of the Year 2022 - Loudspeaker” by

Stereophile, US.

« KEF LSX Il was presented “Product of the Year Award 2022 - Standmount

Speaker (Active)” by StereoNET, Australia.

Quality Award

= The professional audio manufacturing business received the “2022 Quality at
the Source Award” from Fender Musical Instrument Corporation.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSHREEE

Executive Directors

Victor LO Chung Wing GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 73, joined Gold Peak
Technology Group in 1972 and has been appointed the Chairman and Chief
Executive since 1990. He is also the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
GP Industries Limited and GP Batteries International Limited. Mr Lo is a member
of the Culture Commission under Culture, Sports and Tourism Bureau of the
HKSAR. He is also a member of the board of directors of Hong Kong Design
Centre and a director of PMQ Management Company Limited. Mr Lo graduated
from the Institute of Design of lllinois Institute of Technology, US with a Bachelor
of Science degree in Product Design. He also holds an Honorary Doctorate in
Design from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is the father of Ms Grace
Lo Kit Yee.

Brian LI Yiu Cheung DBA, aged 70, has been appointed an Executive Director
since 2015. Dr Li joined Gold Peak Technology Group in 1981 and is currently
the Vice Chairman and Executive Vice President of the Company. He is also an
Executive Director and the Executive Vice President of GP Industries Limited.
He has been engaging in the electronic engineering and manufacturing industry
internationally and in China for over 40 years. He is the vice chairman of The
Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association and a council member of the Hong
Kong Electronics Industry Council of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries.
He is a member of the Co-operative Education Centre of City University of
Hong Kong, a member of the Advisory Committee for the Department of
Electronic Engineering of The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a member
of the Electronic and Information Engineering Programme Board of Hong Kong
Institute of \Vocational Education. Dr Li is an honorary fellow of City University
of Hong Kong and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. He
holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from The University of
British Columbia, Canada, a Master’s degree in Global Business with Dean’s
Honour from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Doctor of Business

Administration degree from City University of Hong Kong.

Michael LAM Hin Lap aged 62, joined Gold Peak Technology Group in 2014
and has been appointed an Executive Director since 2019. He is currently the
Managing Director of the Company. He is also an Executive Director, Vice
Chairman and Executive Vice President of GP Industries Limited, and a Director
of GP Batteries International Limited. He first joined the Group in 2001 and was
transferred to a global energy management group following the disposal of the
Group's electrical business in 2007. He has been in senior management positions
for over 20 years. He holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Electrical Engineering from

The University of New South \Wales, Australia.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

HITES

Zfhe€ GBM GBS OBE ' K4+ » 73
B B1972F A2 IR EE - 19905 £
BERERLIRFREE  TAGPIEARRATR
ReWBHERERARIERAE - BERA
EERRBAXICEERIRERXEZEEER
CEEERRAPLESEESE LA
BARARES - BERBEXEFNFET
BEMRTBSLENG  UREEBIARE
FHEKEE L - BPRAERIBZR -

4R mRom

FRFEELT 705k - B20I55BZERMITE
£ - FRB198IFMAZ LR EE - BEA
RAREIEFERANTRIAE - XAGPTERR
RAMITEFRATRIAE - FRREIFR kF
BMEFTREMMEXREAI0FLR - AR
EREETERNCRIGREABEETIEASETE
BETXRRERESGLE - FRELHEBHUT
REBEHBEPLEE BEEPNKREEFT
ERREREZESREREEEEHEERE
FREAMIEREZIZECERE - TRR/TEW
MARBRERIRBEEIRMEGEREE -
UHENMERNLBI ML TAEERTIRE L
B  HAPXAZBRIEEBETEMRES
BABTRERELE -

MEEY  625% © B2014F A IR EE
R2019FEZERNTES - MERRKR/EAR
RIEFELE  TRCGPILEARRARNITE
FBIERHTRIER  TASIIEBEE
BIRARIEE o R 2001F MAAREE - Hig
BEEBER2007F HEEREBMEEE K
B REEAT - MEH ISR EERER20
F o I ERMNT R R R AT AR ER TIZET -

20



Brian WWONG Tze Hang aged 60, joined Gold Peak Technology Group in 1993
and has been appointed an Executive Director since 2019. Mr \Wong is currently
Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He is also a Director and Chief Financial
Officer of GP Batteries International Limited. Mr Wong has over 35 years’
experience in the finance and accounting field and is a fellow of both the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants of the UK. He holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the
University of London, UK.

Victor CHONG Toong Ying aged 58, joined Gold Peak Technology Group in
2016 and has been appointed an Executive Director since 2021. He is currently
Director, Vice Chairman and President of GP Batteries International Limited. He
has over 30 years’ working experience in electrical energy management, and
has held senior management positions in strategic leadership and international
operation and business development covering China, Asia Pacific, Europe and
the Middle East. Mir Chong is a member of Australian Institute of Company
Directors, The Singapore Chamber of Commerce (Hong Kong) and The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical

Engineering from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology, Australia.

\Waltery LAW \Wang Chak aged 60, joined Gold Peak Technology Group in
2018 and has been appointed an Executive Director since 2021. Mr Law is
currently Senior Vice President, Group Finance Management of the Company.
He is also Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer and
Senior Vice President, Finance and Corporate Development of GP Industries
Limited. Mr Law has over 35 years’ experience in global fund raising and
floatation exercises, mergers and acquisitions, corporate financial advisory,
corporate restructuring, investors relations, financial due diligence, and financial
audit. Mr Law is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and \Wales. He is currently registered as a
certified public accountant with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and a certified internal auditor with the Institute of Internal
Auditors. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and a Master’s degree in
Financial Economics, both from the London School of Economics and Political

Science, University of London, UK.
Non-Executive Directors

Karen NG Ka Fai CFA, aged 42, has been appointed a Non-Executive Director
since 2015. Mls Ng managed transactions in Asia for global financial institutions,
and possesses more than 10 years’ experience in investment in the region. She
graduated from Massachusetts Institute of Technology, US with a Bachelor of
Science degree in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science. Ms Ng is the
daughter of the late Mr Andrew Ng, an Executive Director of the Company from
1984 to 2014.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MIANAGEMENT conro)

EENEREEREW

LUI Ming Wah SBS, JP, PhD, aged 85, has been appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 1995. Dr Lui is currently an honorary chairman of
The Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association, an honorary president of the
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, an honorary chairman of The
Federation of HK Shandong Community Organizations and an advisor professor
of Shandong University, China. He is also a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. Dr Lui is currently the managing director of Keystone Electronics Co.
Ltd. He is also an independent non-executive director of AV Concept Holdings
Limited and LK. Technology Holdings Limited, both are listed companies in
Hong Kong. He obtained his Master's and Doctoral degrees from the University
of New South \Wales, Australia and the University of Saskatchewan, Canada

respectively.

Frank CHAN Chi Chung FCCA, FCPA, CPA, aged 69, has been appointed
an Independent Non-Executive Director since 2004. He is currently a group
executive director of Hong Kong-listed Techtronic Industries Company
Limited. Mir Chan is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and \Wales. He is qualified to

practise as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong.

CHAN Kei Biu PhD, aged 76, has been appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director since 2005. Prof Chan is an honorary chairman of The Hong
Kong Electronic Industries Association and honorary presidents of the Hong
Kong Association for the Advancement of Science and Technology and the
Hong Kong Mould and Product Technology Association. In addition, he is the
professional advisor and committee member of the Hong Kong Federation of
Innovative Technologies and Manufacturing Industries. Prof Chan is currently
the chairman and senior managing director of Surface Mount Technology
Limited.
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Timothy TONG Wai Cheung PhD, FASME, FHKENng, JP, aged 70, has been
appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director since 2019. Prof Tong is
also Non-Executive Independent Director of GP Industries Limited. He has over
30 years of teaching, research and administrative experience in universities
in the US and Hong Kong. Prior to serving as president of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University from 2009 to 2018, he was the dean of the School of
Engineering and Applied Science at The George \Washington University, US.
Being an expert in the field of heat transfer, Prof Tong is dedicated to addressing
issues concerning energy use and sustainable development. He is a fellow of
the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, the Hong Kong Academy of
Engineering Sciences and the International Thermal Conductivity Conference.
Prof Tong’s public engagement includes being chairman of the Council of Hong
Kong Laureate Forum, a member of the InnoHK Steering Committee, the Global
STEM Professorship Scheme Assessment Panel for the Innovation, Technology
and Industry Bureau of the HKSAR, and the Council of the Hong Kong Federation
of the Youth Groups. He is also the chief executive officer of AMTD Foundation
and chairman of AMTD Digital Inc. The former is a charity organization set up
to assist AMTD Group in fulfilling its corporate social responsibility. Prof Tong
is currently a non-executive director of Freetech Road Recycling Technology
(Holdings) Limited and an independent non-executive director of Xiaomi
Corporation, Gravitation Fintech HK Limited and Airstar Bank Limited. Prof Tong
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from Oregon
State University, US, and holds a Master's and a Doctoral degrees in the same

discipline from the University of California, Berkeley, US.

Senior Mlanagement

Grace LO Kit Yee aged 52, joined Gold Peak Technology Group in 2002 and is
currently Deputy Managing Director of the Company. She is also an Executive
Director of GP Industries Limited and President of KEF Audio Group under GP
Acoustics International Limited. She graduated from Northwestern University,
US and holds a Master of Design degree from lllinois Institute of Technology,
US as well as an MBA degree from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. She is the daughter of Mr Victor Lo Chung Wing.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance and has applied the principles of the code provisions set out in
Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) in Appendix 14 to The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the Code, except for the
deviations from code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the Code, details of which
are set out below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The principal focus of the board of directors (the “Board”) is on the overall
strategic development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business operations.

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprised six executive directors (one of
whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and four independent
non-executive directors. The biographical details of all directors of the
Company are set out on pages 26 to 29 of this annual report, which
demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and qualifications
among members of the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board comprised:

Executive Directors:

Victor LO Chung Wing (Chairman & Chief Executive)

Brian LI Yiu Cheung (Vice Chairman & Executive Vice President)
Michael LAM Hin Lap

Brian WONG Tze Hang

Victor CHONG Toong Ying

Waltery LAW Wang Chak

Non-Executive Director:
Karen NG Ka Fai

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
LUI Ming Wah

Frank CHAN Chi Chung

CHAN Kei Biu

Timothy TONG Wai Cheung

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors. Notice of at
least 14 days has been given to all directors for all regular board meetings and
the directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda if necessary.
Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect of regular board
meetings are sent in full to all directors within reasonable time prior to the
meeting.
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The Board’s primary function is to assume responsibility for leadership
and control of the Company. The directors are collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. Other duties of the directors
include but not limited to maintaining effective control of the Company,
giving specific strategic direction to the Company, reviewing, approving and
monitoring the fundamental financial and business strategies, plans and major
corporate actions, ensuring that the Company complies with the relevant
laws, regulations and codes of business practice, ensuring that the Company
communicates with shareholders and the relevant stakeholders transparently
and promptly and monitoring the overall corporate governance functions of
the Company.

Although the Board may and has delegated some of its responsibilities and
functions to various committees and principal divisions, it acknowledges
that it remains ultimately accountable for the performance and affairs of the
Company.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept by
the company secretary and copies of minutes are sent to the directors for
their records. Each Board member is entitled to have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary and, upon reasonable request and
in appropriate circumstances, seek independent professional advice at the
Company’s expenses.

None of the members of the Board have any connections (including financial,
business, family relationship and other material/related relationships) with

each other during the year under review.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, four board meetings and two general

NEERSHELMIEAS - BUEEZHEBR  meetings were held and the attendance of each director was set out as
oy - follows:
HEBITEER HEBTRE
SBRE =78 |
Number of board Number of general
BEEfE Name of director meetings attended/held  meetings attended/held
FlaE S Victor LO Chung Wing 4/4 0/2
TR Brian LI Yiu Cheung 4/4 2/2
WAL Michael LAM Hin Lap 4/4 0/2
HTE Brian WONG Tze Hang 4/4 2/2
REC Victor CHONG Toong Ying 4/4 2/2
BIE Waltery LAW Wang Chak 4/4 2/2
RKE Karen NG Ka Fai 4/4 2/2
B LUI Ming Wah 4/4 2/2
PRI Frank CHAN Chi Chung 3/4 0/2
PRE R CHAN Kei Biu 4/4 2/2
EEs Timothy TONG Wai Cheung 4/4 2/2
SR TEERAR —O-—ZE-O==H#4H§ 31



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT conro)

TEERBE @

BEER @

ERERFEERTE  ARFBR{ABESEERT
BN zIEslEMEES - UHBMEES2NEEXERR
AR g - AERROMAER SRR EmARR A
MEERTZEME - FEEXRE)ELERBERMRS
PREESE  UEERMEIFGMAER LT AR ESENA
BANERE -

RAFEEAR  MAEEHE2MARREBNMEEE
SRERNMSEERER - HMIENT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continuec)

In respect of continuing professional development, the Company will provide
an induction package including necessary information and briefings for
newly appointed directors and directors are encouraged to participate in
professional development courses and seminars to ensure that they are
aware of their responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. Ongoing professional training had been and will be offered to
all directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as directors of

a listed company.

During the vear, all the directors have participated in continuing professional
development relevant to the Company’s business and corporate governance

in the following manner:

BESERRTE2ER
(&)

Type of continuing
professional
development

= Name of directors programmes (Notes)
HITES: Executive Directors:

Pl Victor LO Chung Wing AC
TR Brian LI Yiu Cheung A B,C
MEESL Michael LAM Hin Lap AC
5118 Brian WONG Tze Hang A B,C
KT Victor CHONG Toong Ying A B,C
"= Waltery LAW \Wang Chak A B,C
FHITES . Non-Executive Director:

RRME Karen NG Ka Fai A C
BYFHITES : Independent Non-executive Directors:

FAFEE LUI Ming Wah A B,C
PR R Frank CHAN Chi Chung A B,C
BeR L fe CHAN Kei Biu A C
EBEE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung AC
[=ra Notes:

A 2pnmEEmREHAEd -

B: 2N E - &%  HERNEERE -

C: BUHRE CEMRA) FEAEE EFUA R E EH AR
B EMERZBEEY -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

A: Attending training provided by lawyers.

@

Attending seminars, meetings, forums and/or briefings.

C: Receiving reading materials in relation to update on the Listing Rules and other
statutory requirement and other relevant topics relating to listed companies.
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The corporate governance function of the Group is collectively performed by
the Board. The Board acknowledges overseeing the corporate governance
function of the Group collectively and agreed to comply with a specific
written terms of reference. During the year under review, the Board has
performed the following corporate governance functions:

reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and made recommendations;

- reviewed the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management;

- monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; and

- reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in this
corporate governance report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Victor LO Chung Wing is the Chairman and the Chief Executive of the
Company. Although code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual, the Board considers that the
present structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between
the Board and the management of the Group as the Group’s principal
businesses are separately listed and run by different boards of directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly to ensure
that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the
needs of the business of the Company.

The Company has entered into a letter of appointment with each of the non-
executive director and the independent non-executive directors pursuant to
which they are appointed for a specific term of 3 years subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the provisions of the articles of association of the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The main duties and functions of the Nomination Committee are to review
the composition of the Board at least annually, to make recommendations
to the Board on the changes of the Board, including the appointment or
re-appointment of directors, to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors, provided that no directors being involved in fixing his own terms of
appointment and no independent non-executive directors being involved in
assessing his own independence. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee follow the guidelines set out in the Code and have been posted on
the Company’s website.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee
comprised:

Victor LO Chung Wing (Chairman)
LUI Ming Wah

Frank CHAN Chi Chung

CHAN Kei Biu

During the year ended 31 March 2023, two Nomination Committee meetings
was held and the attendance of each committee member was set out as
follows:

HEBITEERE

Number of meeting

REHA Name of member attended/held
Pl Victor LO Chung Wing 2/2
Bz LUI Ming Wah 2/2
PR TR Frank CHAN Chi Chung 2/2
PRELEE CHAN Kei Biu 2/2
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The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the year ended 31
March 2023 included (i) reviewing the board diversity policy, the nomination
policy, procedures and criteria for nomination of Directors and the structure,
size and composition of the Board, (ii) assessing the independence of
independent non-executive directors, (iii) making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and (iv) considering
the Board succession plan.

The nomination policy sets out the criteria and procedures for the selection,
appointment/re-appointment of directors of the Company. The Nomination
Committee reviews the composition of the Board at least annually and makes
recommendations to the Board on the changes of the Board. Proposed
candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary information in order for the
Board to assess their suitability. The Board shall ensure that the procedures
of nomination, selection and appointment/re-appointment are in compliance
with the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and the Company’s Articles
of Association. The Nomination Committee reviews the nomination policy on
a regular basis so as to ensure its effectiveness.

34



EZRZTCHE

EEREAZTIERE  ZBFIREHEERKE
ZALRIE - MAEENERHREEAZRE -

REFZENRE (BIFETRNKE - A EXL
B XIEREEER MR FRERBEH) - U
iE'J§$%&ZJK"W”Ei%—1I BENEENELER
BTIAERE - AABRAEEEREEARZ TR
SRERAR E%IEET%‘%%DT%%E%):E’UEEEf’

M2023%¥3A31R EXREE—BREES 4
BEEZR% - ARAHEREERZTIEE &Y
CEEREGTNAEREEANESRHELETE
i ZEREEENERANSERE  NERERZT
- KEEERKMENLYITEEFEZHE -

M2023%3A31H  AREBUENZIERT (BHFES
REIEE) DRIHEA8%K%52%  BER T ETH5I%
TALR & B T -

EREES

ERLZEGZ T EREARINANEERMNZ 5T RA

RABGI - e AR E IR EBIZ R A HIE
2R -
MEZE2023F3A3IBILFE - EREEGEE

BRE (TE)
PRSI
PRECHE
RERE
EE=E

EERAAEERZEENEHAEBERZEELES -
BERZEEETREAEIEIN - mEREHES -
EREEGEELRKEFE EMRAEI2UEZ
BT - BRRE S BERE SR TE ZHBHR
FIESIMETE - WEFERERABHEER -

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach
to diversity of members of the Board. All Board appointments will be based
on merit, and candidates will be considered by objective criteria, including
but not limited to skills, knowledge, professional experience, cultural and
educational background, gender, age and length of service, for their potential
contribution to the Board and the Company as a whole in order to achieve
board efficiency. The Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development.

As at 31 March 2023, the Board consists of one female director, representing
9% of the Board. The Company will follow its board diversity policy, which
considers various factors including gender, when identifying qualified
candidates for Board appointments and potential successors to the Board to
achieve gender diversity. The proportion of female Board members may be
adjusted over time as appropriate.

As at 31 March 2023, approximately 48% and 52% of the Group’s employees
(including senior management) were male and female respectively which is a
reasonable balance of gender diversity among employees.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and to review the
effectiveness of the financial reporting process and internal control system of
the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee comprised:

LUI Ming Wah (Chairman)
Frank CHAN Chi Chung
CHAN Kei Biu

Karen NG Ka Fai

Timothy TONG Wai Cheung

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in technicality,
business and accounting in the Audit Committee. The composition and
members of the Audit Committee comply with the requirements under Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
follow the guidelines set out in Part 2 of the Code and have been posted on
the Company'’s website.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, two Audit Committee meetings were

MR e o BUKE 2 HFEFEREIINT held and the attendance of each committee member was set out as follows:
HEBITEERE
Number of meetings
REHA Name of member attended/held
Bz LUI Ming Wah 2/2
PR TR Frank CHAN Chi Chung 2/2
PRELEE CHAN Kei Biu 2/2
RRME Karen NG Ka Fai 2/2
EEE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung 2/2
REZE2023F3A3IHIEFE  EEZEEEKEE  The work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 March
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2023 included reviewing the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2022 and the unaudited interim financial statements for the six
months ended 30 September 2022, with recommendations to the Board for
approval.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee met with the
external auditor twice.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The main responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to review and
endorse the remuneration policy of the directors and senior management, to
approve the directors’ service contracts and to make recommendations to
the Board for the remuneration of the directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee has taken sufficient measures to ensure that no
director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee
comprised:

Frank CHAN Chi Chung (Chairman)
LUI Ming Wah

CHAN Kei Biu

Victor LO Chung Wing

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been posted on
the Company’s website.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, two Remuneration Committee
meetings was held and the attendance of each committee member was set
out as follows:

HEBITEERE

Number of meeting

REHE Name of member attended/held
PRETR Frank CHAN Chi Chung 2/2
=R LUl Ming Wah 2/2
PR EL 47 CHAN Kei Biu 2/2
S Victor LO Chung Wing 2/2
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The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year
ended 31 March 2023 included reviewing the remuneration policy and the
remuneration of the directors and senior management and approving the
terms of the executive directors' service contracts.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding the directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the Company
confirmed that all directors have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare financial statements for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue in business. Accordingly, the Board has prepared the financial
statements of the Company on a going concern basis.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim reports,
announcements, financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and
reports to the regulators as well as information required to be disclosed
pursuant to statutory requirements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has conducted annual review on the system of risk management
and internal control of the Group and its effectiveness covering the
financial, operational, compliance controls and risk management functions
and considered them effective and adequate. The Board is committed to
implementing an effective and sound risk management and internal control
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s assets.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

The internal audit department reviews and assesses the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The results of risk management and internal audit reviews as well as
recommendations are reported to the Audit Committee regularly.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The remuneration paid and payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, external

auditor of the Group, for services provided during the year ended 31 March
2023 were as follows:

et ENER

BR A5 12 fit Services rendered Fees paid/payable
FIT

HK$'000

EiT R Audit services 10,459
TR (BFE) Non-audit services (note) 315
A&r Total 10,774
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Note: Non-audit services were mainly tax management and consultation.
COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Mr. Louis WONG NMan Kon is the
company secretary of the Company and he has complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules by obtaining no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Article 68 of the Company’s Articles of Association and sections
566 to 568 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong), shareholders holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company (the
“Requisitionists”), may request the Directors to convene a general meeting
of the Company (“General Meeting”). The written requisition must state the
general nature of the business to be dealt with at the General Meeting and
must be signed by the Requisitionists and sent to the registered office of
the Company which is currently located at 9/F, Building 12\\V/, 12 Science
Park West Avenue, Phase 3, Hong Kong Science Park, Pak Shek Kok, New
Territories, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary. The
requisition may consist of several documents in like form and may include the
text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at the General Meeting.
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If the Directors do not, within 21 days after the date on which they become
subject to the requirement, proceed duly to convene a General Meeting for a
day not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the General
Meeting, the Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a General
Meeting. The General Meeting must be called for a date not more than
three months after the date on which the Directors become subject to the
requirement to call a General Meeting. Any reasonable expenses incurred by
the Requisitionists by reason of the failure of the Directors duly to a General
Meeting shall be repaid to the Requisitionists by the Company.

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, shareholders may
submit a written requisition to circulate a resolution at an annual general
meeting (“Annual General NMeeting”) if they: (a) represent at least 2.5% of the
total voting rights of all shareholders having a right to vote on the resolution
at the Annual General Meeting to which the request relates; or (b) are at
least 50 shareholders having a right to vote on the resolution at the Annual
General Meeting to which the request relates. The written requisition must:
(a) identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (b) be signed by the
requisitionists; (c) be sent to the registered office of the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary; and (d) be received by the Company not
later than six weeks before the Annual General Meeting to which the request
relates or if later, the time at which notice is given of that Annual General
Meeting. Shareholders are requested to refer to Section 580 and 615 of the
Companies Ordinance for further details.

For details of the procedure for shareholders to nominate a person to
stand for election as Director, please refer to the written procedure named
“Procedure for Nomination of Directors” published on the Company’s website
at www.goldpeak.com.

Shareholders’ enquiries or proposals can be directed in writing through
Investor Contact at 9/F, Building 12\, 12 Science Park \West Avenue,
Hong Kong Science Park, New Territories, Hong Kong or by email to
ir@goldpeak.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no change to the articles of
association of the Company. The articles of association of the Company has
been posted on the Company’s website.

The Board has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy (the “Policy”)
which aims at promoting and facilitating effective communication with its
shareholders. The objective is to ensure that the Company provides timely,
clear, reliable and relevant information for its shareholders in exercising
their rights. The Policy includes how shareholders can convene a general
meeting, the procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board and the
procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting. Sufficient
contact details for the above can also be found in the Policy. A procedure
for election of directors was also adopted to provide guidelines on how
shareholders can nominate an individual as director of the Company. The
Policy and the procedures for nomination of directors are published on the
Company’s website. During the year, the Company has reviewed the Policy
and considers it to be practical and effective.
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The Group is committed to reducing the impact on the environment and being
socially responsible to its employees, customers and the communities. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group complied with all relevant laws
and regulations relating to environmental, social and governance issues. The
2022-2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be published
separately on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ENVIRONMENTAL

To effectively monitor and minimize waste and emissions, task forces have
been set up. Policies are in place to cut down hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes as well as to properly handle industrial waste water and hazardous
wastes. There are also recycling guidelines and programs to reduce wastes
and for more efficient use of resources.

The Group strives to reduce energy consumption to alleviate effects on
global warming. Green building concept has been employed to reduce
energy consumption in its factories. Air-conditioning, electricity and water
conservation have been closely tracked and reviewed to maintain a lean and
an efficient operation. Product packaging is constantly reviewed in order to
reduce material usage and minimise the impact on the environment.

The Group maintains a well-established supply chain management policy
to monitor the quality of suppliers. Random audits at suppliers’ production
sites are conducted to ensure their continual compliance with the technical
requirements and quality of products, health, safety and environment
standards as well as business ethics.

The production of safe and quality products has always been the top priority
of the Group. The Group strives to comply with all regulatory requirements
pertaining to the health and safety of its products and services. Appropriate
channels have been set up to receive customer feedback for continuous
improvement.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group is supported by a motivated workforce of approximately 6,650
people worldwide. The Group strives to provide its employees with a safe
and healthy workplace and offer them fair and competitive remuneration
packages. Remuneration policies and packages are reviewed regularly to
ensure that compensation and benefits are in line with the market of each
territory.
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HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)

The Group invests in employees through development programs to enhance
their soft and hard skills as well as work competence in preparation for their
career development. Employees participated in various workshops and
training sessions on laws and regulations, management and leadership skills,
as well as language and communication during the year.

The Group is committed to compliance with applicable anti-corruption laws
and regulations. It prohibits its employees from offering, making or receiving
any bribes or kickbacks for the purpose of securing an improper business
advantage, or otherwise engaging in corrupt activities or practices.

The Group has established a whistle-blowing policy that allows anyone
to report misconduct or malpractice without fear of reprisal through a
confidential channel.

COMMUNITY

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group nurtures a caring culture
among employees in the workplace and reciprocates to the community
through participation in various community events during the year. The Group
has joined the Community Chest’'s Corporate and Employee Contribution
Program for decades. It is also an active supporter of many community events
throughout the year. In recognition of its continuous commitment in good
corporate citizenship, the Group has been awarded the Caring Company
Logo by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service for 21 consecutive years.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINICIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries and associates are investment holding and
development, manufacturing, marketing and trading of batteries, electronics
and acoustics products, which are set out in notes 48 and 49 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively. Further discussion and
analysis of these activities, including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties the Group is facing and an indication of likely future
developments of the Group’s business, can be found in the Review of
Operations set out on pages 17 to 23 of this annual report. This discussion
forms part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on page 58 and the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements. No interim dividend (2022: nil) was paid to the shareholders
during the year. To preserve the Company’s financial resources, the board of
directors does not propose a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023
(2022: nil).

TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past ten financial years is set out on pages 10 and 11.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$292,806,000 to expand its business. Details of movements
in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has no reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at
31 March 2023 (2022: nil).
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DONATIONS

During the vyear, the Group made charitable and other donations totalling
HK$ 123,000 (2022: HK$194,000).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Victor LO Chung Wing (Chairman & Chief Executive)

Brian LI Yiu Cheung (Vice Chairman & Executive Vice President)
Michael LAM Hin Lap

Brian WONG Tze Hang

Victor CHONG Toong Ying

Waltery LAW Wang Chak

Non-Executive Director:
Karen NG Ka Fai

Independent Nlon-Executive Directors:
LUI Ming Wah

Frank CHAN Chi Chung

CHAN Kei Biu

Timothy TONG Wai Cheung

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Messrs. Brian LI Yiu Cheung, Michael LAM Hin Lap, LUl Ming \Wah and Frank
CHAN Chi Chung are due to retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The re-election of, Messrs.
LUl Ming Wah and Frank CHAN Chi Chung, who are both Independent Non-
Executive Directors having served the Company for more than nine years,
will be subject to separate resolutions to be approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting. The Company has stated in the
circular to shareholders dispatched together with this annual report that the
Board has assessed their independence and the reasons for considering their
re-election.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS (continuec)

No director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The non-executive director and independent non-executive directors have
been appointed for a specific term of 3 years subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDENMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that every Director or
other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any loss
or damages which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company had
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the directors and other officers of the Group for the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the directors and
the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV/ of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”))
which were required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV/ of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Appendix 10 “Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” contained in
the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:

(a) Interests in shares of the Company (long positions)
As at 31 March 2023, the interests of the directors and the chief executive
in the ordinary shares of the Company were as follows:

FELSEROHE
Number of P
ordina:l\/ shares FARCRT
R zEDHE

held
Percentage of
BARER issued share
Personal capital of
BE Name of director interests the Company
%
PRl S Victor LO Chung Wing 242,941,685 26.54
ESres Brian LI Yiu Cheung 350,000 0.04
ML Michael LAM Hin Lap - -
HTE Brian WONG Tze Hang - -
SRR Victor CHONG Toong Ying - -
N = Waltery LAW Wang Chak - -
RKHE Karen NG Ka Fai 48,868,573 5.34
mAREE LUl Ming Wah - -
PR TR Frank CHAN Chi Chung - -
PR EL o CHAN Kei Biu - -
EEE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung - -

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%
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(b) ZATIZBELTARGER FR) (b) Interests in shares of the Company’s associated corporations (long
positions)
M2023F3A31H @ FEFRBHR AR AL As at 31 March 2023, the direct beneficial interests of the directors and
85.59% w2 M B A RIGPIEAFR AR ([GP the chief executive in the shares of GP Industries Limited (“‘GP Ind”), an
T ERRE 2RO ERET : 85.59%-owned subsidiary of the Company, were as follows:
BELZEROVEBERAECRIT
BAzETHE

Number of ordinary shares
and percentage of their
issued share capital held

GPI %
= Name of director GP Ind
A

Number %
FrallE S Victor LO Chung Wing 300,000 0.06
TR Brian LI Yiu Cheung 1,465,000 0.30
MRERSL Michael LAM Hin Lap - _
=1 Brian WONG Tze Hang - -
KRR Victor CHONG Toong Ying - -
BRZ Waltery LAW \Wang Chak 116,400 0.02
REHE Karen NG Ka Fai 94,603 0.02
=Rz LUI Ming Wah - -
PRI Frank CHAN Chi Chung - -
PR E CHAN Kei Biu - -
EEE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung - -

BrUA AT RSN - R2023F 3A31H - EER#EE  Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the directors, the chief
SHBEALTRARASIBEES RIEENIERZ Y executive or their associates had any interest in the securities of the Company
BN 2 BHRB T AIER © or any of its associated corporations as defined in SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

None of the directors, chief executive, their spouses or children under the
age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the year.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors or
the chief executive of the Company or their respective associates to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Directors are in the opinion that due to the excessive number of
subsidiaries and their directors, disclosure of the names of all subsidiaries and
their directors in this Directors’ Report would be made by way of reference
to the information on the names of subsidiaries and their directors under
“Investor Relations” at www.goldpeak.com.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being a director or chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under section 336 of the
SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings
of the Company:

AN RS BHITRA
ZEDL
Percentage of

BEEZBEREE issued share
[ 514 Number of capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary shares held the Company
RER Z@mA 98,432,150 (note 1) 10.75%
TO May Mee Beneficial owner (MEE1)
RIEE Z@mA 48,868,573 (note 1) 5.34%
Jessica NG Sheen Fai Beneficial owner (Bf5EL)
Ring Lotus Investment Limited SR HIA RS 70,569,500 (note 2) 7.71%
(“Ring Lotus”) Interests of controlled corporation (Ft5E2)
HSBC International Trustee Limited REEA 70,569,500 (note 2) 7.71%
(“HSBC Trustee”) Trustee FtsE2)

BAE -

1 REBZRIRRBELLNFIARRRZIFNTEER
RIE L+ 2 B AR

2. REMEREEZHERING LotusFIHSBC Trustees
BIVEHEEAN - HSBC Trustee AR ZE AR B D4
RAEREE A 70,569, 50008 A% 15 2 #E » BRI B
HSBC Trusteez 2 & # A A FIRing Lotus A3 $I A
Rl S D FTHES °

Br A EFT B RSN - 20235 3A 310 - IEEEFT
M- ARREEMBERBRBERMAL MERAF
ZEEBHGRIN HERIEEZEBEERAIEXV
BZEmA AR A 2 AR ARG SRR (D 2 #E s sk
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Notes:

1. Madam TO May Mee and Ms. Jessica NG Sheen Fai are the mother and sister,
respectively, of Ms. Karen NG Ka Fai, a non-executive director of the Company.

2. According to the two corporate substantial shareholder notices filed by Ring Lotus
and HSBC Trustee respectively, HSBC Trustee was deemed to be interested in
70,569,500 shares in its capacity as the trustee of these shares, which were in turn
owned by Ring Lotus, a company wholly-owned by HSBC Trustee, as interests of
controlled corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, so far as it is known to the
Directors, the directors and the chief executive of the Company are not
aware of any person (other than a director or chief executive of the Company)
who had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of any class of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR SIMILAR
RIGHTS

The Company had no outstanding convertible securities, options, warrants or
other similar rights as at 31 March 2023 and there had been no exercise of
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a stable dividend payment to its shareholders whilst
retaining adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The
Board of Directors of the Company determines the interim dividend and
recommends the final dividend which requires the approval of shareholders
of the Company. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is subject to
any restrictions under the Companies Ordinance and the Company’s Articles
of Association. In deciding whether to declare any dividend, the Board will
take into account a number of factors, including the financial results, the
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements, and the
current and future development plans of the Company. The Board will review
the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to time.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

A brief discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance
during the year under review is set out on pages 40 to 41 of this annual report
which forms part of the Directors’ Report. The 2022-2023 Environmental,
Social and Governance Report will be published separately at the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the vear, the Group has complied with the applicable laws and
regulations.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer and five
largest customers accounted for 5.70% and 19.52% (2022: 6.57% and
22.66%) respectively of the Group’s total turnover for the year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and five
largest suppliers accounted for 1.28% and 4.33% (2022: 1.85% and 5.39%)
respectively of the Group's total purchases for the year.

None of the directors, their close associates, or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE, AUDIT COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

Details of the Company’s audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 20 May 2021, the Company and Light Engine Technologies Limited (“Light
Engine”, and together with its subsidiaries, “Light Engine Group”) entered into
the Master Supply Agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell and
purchase certain products to and from Light Engine Group for a term from the
date of the Master Supply Agreement (ie. 20 May 2021) to 31 March 2024.
Light Engine is a company controlled by Mr. Paul LO Chung Wai, who is a
brother of Mr. Victor LO Chung Wing, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive of the Company. Accordingly, Light Engine is a connected person
of the Company and the transactions contemplated under the Master Supply
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 20 May 2021 (the “CCT Announcement”).

The continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group stated
below, as confirmed by Independent Non-Executive Directors of the
Company, were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; on normal commercial terms or on terms not less favourable
to the terms offered by independent third parties; and in accordance with
the terms of the agreements governing such transactions, which were fair
and reasonable and in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group below in accordance with
14A 56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company has disclosed the continuing connected transactions in note
46 to the consolidated financial statements in compliance with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

List of continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 March 2023
are as follows:

FiET

HK$’'000

MTEREEENE Sales to Light Engine Group 872
MTEAEEEES Purchases from Light Engine Group 3,084
BEREXFBR 5 Aggregate amount of continuing connected transactions 3,956
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The aggregate of the above continuing connected transactions has not
exceeded the annual cap of HK$25,000,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023 as set out in the CCT Announcement.
EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant event occurring after the reporting period are set out in
note 50 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the Company
to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

V/ictor LO Chung Wing
Chairman & Chief Executive
20 June 2023
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TO THE MEMBERS OF GOLD PEAK TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gold Peak
Technology Group Limited(the [Company ])and its subsidiaries(collectively
referred to as [the Group])set out on pages 58 to 187 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

\We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. \We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. \IVe believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BREXERE
Key audit matter

EMNECNIEEBRERER
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Impairment assessment on interest in an associate and ECL on
trade and other receivables from the associate
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\We have identified the impairment assessment on interest in
an associate which is engaged in trading of battery related
products in Russia (the “Associate”) and expected credit loss
(“ECL") on trade and other receivables from the Associate as a
key audit matter due to the significant estimation exercised by
the management of the Group for the assessments.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 \March 2023, the gross carrying amounts
of the Group’s interest in the Associate and the trade and
other receivables from the Associate were HK$84.3 million
and HK$44.0 million, respectively. As at 31 March 2023,
the management of the Group conducted an impairment
assessment on the interest in the Associate and the ECL on
the trade and other receivables from the Associate with the
assistance of an independent qualified valuer (the VValuer).

Based on management’s assessment, the Group has
recognised a reversal of impairment loss on its interest in the
Associate of HK$14.7 million and written back ECL provision
on the trade and other receivables from the Associate of
HK$16.5 million. Details of the above assessments are
disclosed in notes 17 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

HAIBLPTAE 28 2 A R a2 BB R R B 2 R R E K
M ZE & N RIRRIB 2 TREME B RAIRA 2 R P83

Z
&

2 HEMER - TRNFEETEES] BSEENEZHERF
BRR RO B BRI 2 AT

TERAFE ESBTAEMSZE THREMERERBRTE
AR BEMRANGERXNGEE T kEeE  BEBEY
iﬁ%%ﬁ CIERE - ERERMERNFTHEMEAOBRER S
BIE

HEEERI T 8L - RENFIEEIL

TREAEHEE B A BORTE S « B AE B A AR A b B
PGB 2 ARERNEE - HEERERMG %2 A RER
ETREMENBERAEL &

MR UL S A A S e B B 2 A RIBR IR 2 TREE B
/K RIEMSATAER  FHAAEMMARANERERR (BEE
HERRMER - g RABEMERNEORNMEEL) 26181 -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
the interest in the Associate and the ECL on the trade and other
receivables due from the Associate included:

Understanding and evaluating the management’s
assessment on the sanction risks in respect of the Group’s
relationship with the Associate with reference to the external
lawyer’s opinion;

Understanding and evaluating the Group’s impairment
and ECL assessment process with the involvement of
the Valuer, including the valuation model adopted and
the reasonableness of the key assumptions used in their
estimation of recoverable amount, including the budgeted
sales, growth rates, gross margin and discount rates applied;

Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuer;

Understanding and assessing the impact of the current
geopolitical situation, capital control measures and sanctions
on Russia to the interest in the Associate and evaluating
the overall reasonableness of management’s impairment
assessment on the interest in the Associate; and

In respect of the ECL on trade and others receivables
from the Associate, assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions adopted by the Valuer, including expected
probability of default rate, forward looking adjustments
and the estimated loss given default rate, based on market
available information.
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KEY AUDIT MIATTERS (continued)

BRERSEE
Key audit matter

BHNEZNAEEBRERSIR
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRERzBHREEERX
ECL of trade receivables
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\We identified ECL of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgement and management estimates in
evaluating the ECL of the Group’s trade receivables at the end
of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounted to HK$946 million and represented approximately
11.4% of the Group’s total assets.

As disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables excluding trade
receivables from the Associate based on collective basis
through grouping of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns, after considering internal credit ratings of trade
debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information.
In addition, trade receivables that are credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of
the trade receivables is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows with the consideration of expected future
credit losses.

As disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised a net reversal of HK$8.0
million of loss allowance on trade receivables. Excluding
the reversal of loss allowance on trade receivable from the
Associate of HK$15.1 million, the Group recognised loss
allowance of HK$7.1 million on trade receivables for the
current year. The Group’s ECL on trade receivables (including
the ECL on trade receivable from the Associate) as at 31
March 2023 amounted to HK$40.3 million.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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Our procedures in relation to ECL of trade receivables included:

Understanding key controls on how the management
estimates the loss allowance for trade receivables;

Testing the integrity of information used by management
to develop the collective basis including trade receivables
ageing analysis as at 31 March 2023, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the relevant
sales agreements, sales invoices and other supporting
documents;

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining loss allowance on trade receivables as at 31
March 2023, including their identification of credit-impaired
trade receivables, the reasonableness of management’s
grouping of the remaining trade debtors into different
categories in the collective basis, and the basis of estimated
loss rates applied in each category in the collective basis
(with reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information); and

Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of the

disclosures regarding the ECL of trade receivables in notes
24 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. \IWe have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONISIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONISOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. \\We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. \We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

\We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

\We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. \IVe describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Hung, Fran Suk Fan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

: \/
|v| ,\JIIl

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #; % 2023F 38 31H L F[E

2023 2022
ks FHET FAET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
(EFHR)
(Restated)
BEKEER Continuing operations
S Revenue 6 6,581,026 7,061,620
SHEMA Cost of sales (4,830,020) (5,229,351)
EAH Gross profit 1,751,006 1,832,269
H AU A R A Uz Other income and other gains 7 263,400 280,888
HE R HEH Selling and distribution expenses (829,564) (916,658)
TR Administrative expenses (866,350) (885,317)
Hah R EAEE Other expenses and other losses 7 (150,861) (204,551)
B TSR AN Finance costs 8 (205,293) (137,918)
Frib & A R 2E4E Share of results of associates 138,072 313,602
B A Al A Profit before taxation 9 100,410 282,315
B Taxation 11 (14,173) (38,919
FELEEB 2 2T RT Profit for the year from continuing
operations 86,237 243,396
BRIEEEEK Discontinued operations
BRIHEE R 2 2FEE Loss for the year from discontinued
operations 13 - (17,614)
Excanyl Profit for the year 86,237 225,782
2FERF (B1B) HBER Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
RATHAA : owners of the Company:
—FRBIC R T - from continuing operations 36,930 171,977
— BRI - from discontinued operations - (15,074)
36,930 156,903
2FERF (B1B) HBER Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
PR AR non-controlling interests:
—FRIBIC R T - from continuing operations 49,307 71,419
— BRI E - from discontinued operations - (2,540
49,307 68,879
86,237 225,782
FREF —EA GBI Earnings per share - Basic
—REEERB RIS E - From continuing and discontinued
operations 14 4.0HK cents 19.8 HK cents
— B R ET - From continuing operations 14 4.0HKcents 21.7 HK cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ceBERaRkEMZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & &= 20234 38 318 |- F &
2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(EFHR)
(Restated)
EEEH Profit for the year 86,237 225,782
Hh2mE ZH) W ! Other comprehensive (expense) income:
BT AR EFT DA R 1B L Iltems that may be reclassified subsequently to
EH - profit or loss:
MEGINETSEE 2 Exchange differences arising from translation of
X ERR foreign operations (210,697) 91,343
i HEMB AR RELEE Net translation deficit reclassified to profit or loss
BoEEER upon deregistration/disposal of subsidiaries 24,642 27,719
Bt ARz BEfth 2 E T Share of other comprehensive expense of
associates (28,480) (3,614)
(214,535) 115,448
BEET BB AR B L Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to
B E/’ profit or loss:
AEEFAEMEZERGE Fair value (loss) gain on equity instruments at
HXZISIEZ AHE (B18) W fair value through other comprehensive income (18,633) 30,319
FriGE e AR A 2 E R Share of other comprehensive income of associates 232 -
(18,401) 30,319
2FHEMEE GEH) W Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year (232,936) 145,767
2F2H (X)) Wit Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year (146,699) 371,549
2H GZi) WamBsEREn Total comprehensive (expense) income
attributable to:
RATHEE A Owners of the Company (131,010) 267,430
eI Non-controlling interests (15,689) 104,119
(146,699) 371,549

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB R

At 31 March 2023 720234 3A 31H
31.3.2023 31.3.2022 1.4.2021
k=S FHET FA&T FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(EF 7)) (EFHR5))
(Restated) (Restated)
FREBEE Non-current assets
M - BB R Property, plant and equipment 15 2,320,789 2,386,178 2,234,627
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16 262,754 291,653 282,447
Fib B & A Rl R Interests in associates 17 1,614,594 2,082,429 2,074,765
AR EFAEMEEKZEZ  Equity instruments at fair value
RATE through other comprehensive
income 18 83,496 90,384 60,065
mpEE Intangible assets 19 2,410 1,093 1,170
RS Goodwvill 20 70,399 70,399 79,066
IR B EARIE Non-current receivables 22 - 18,674 86,179
ERBIES Non-current deposits 24 19,706 29,852 38,749
RIERIBE E Deferred tax assets 33 34,457 34,365 27,787
4,408,605 5,005,027 4,884,855
RENEE Current assets
FE Inventories 23 1,232,477 1,473,046 1,192,082
PR SR E A FE U BR IR Trade and other receivables and
RIE A prepayments 24 1,287,901 1,610,902 1,557,618
USRS B Dividend receivable 25,905 28,117 24,826
Al e B IE Taxation recoverable 34,331 22,206 27,308
ARFEFAEZRZ Equity instruments at fair value
AT A through profit or loss 25 958 4,220 7,455
PTESRMITA Derivative financial instruments 26 - 955 -
HRITHETT  FRERE Bank balances, deposits and cash 27 1,277,888 1,186,326 1,318,468
3,859,460 4,325,772 4,127,757
DEAFLEEE Assets classified as held for sale 28 - 42,905 42,214
3,859,460 4,368,677 4,169,971
REEE Current liabilities
FERIREREA Creditors and accrued charges 29 1,561,900 1,764,823 1,953,572
EHaE Contract liabilities 29 88,150 109,293 51,451
FERTRRIR Taxation payable 51,161 46,708 61,579
TEemITA Derivative financial instruments 26 - 111 7,122
HEAaE Lease liabilities 30 60,427 78,471 72,339
RITER  BEEEREM Bank loans, import and other loans
B 31 2,474,487 3,082,962 2,710,704
SHAEE Provision for restructuring 34 - 24,600 -
4,236,125 5,106,968 4,856,767
RBAEFE Net current liabilities (376,665) (738,291) (686,796)
MEERERBER Total assets less current liabilities 4,031,940 4,266,736 4,198,059
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At 31 March 2023 20234 37 31H

31.3.2023 31.3.2022 1.4.2021
B3 FHET FAT FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(EFHR) (EFHRY)
(Restated) (Restated)
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
HEaE Lease liabilities 30 226,883 243,938 215,585
RITREME R Bank and other loans 32 1,043,848 740,846 1,047,933
EXEFIBEAE Deferred tax liabilities 33 38,447 64,400 59,898
AR Provision for restructuring 34 - - 99,810
1,309,178 1,049,184 1,423,226
EEFE Net assets 2,722,762 3,217,552 2,774,833
EXR Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 35 998,666 998,666 921,014
fFtE Reserves 702,603 1,196,302 926,423
AT AEL 2w Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 1,701,269 2,194,968 1,847,437
AR Non-controlling interests
RIR AR HE I B h ok Simple agreements for
future equity 36 111,096 - -
it B AR EEFE Share of net assets of subsidiaries 910,397 1,022,584 927,396
1,021,493 1,022,584 927,396
S Total equity 2,722,762 3,217,552 2,774,833

EO8AEZF IB/AF T 2 ireMHE - BE702023  The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 187 were approved
FOA20HHEEERAE WA TEFREES and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 June 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Efhgg R Victor LO Chung Wing Brian LI Yiu Cheung
EFE EFE Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #; % 2023F 38 31H L F[E

SENEATEEA
Attributable to owners of the Company
g & F2
i EfiGE s
RE EERS Popety  BEEE  REEE  Ivestment  (REET Non- &%
Share Legal  revaluation  Translation Capital  revaluation  Retained 4 controlling Total
capital surplus Teserve Teserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total  interests equity
Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Thn T Thn Fhn FhnL
HK$000  HK§000  HK$000  HK$OO0  HK$000  HK$000  HKHOOO  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
(33 (3t)
(note) (note)
R2021F4R 1R (FAFD At 1 April 2021 (as originally stated) 921,014 13,601 40113 (250699 316,638 1249 56611 159874 885,393 2484167
AR EE () Adjustment on merger accounting (see note 2) - - - a079 2990 - 2080 248663 2003 290,666
N2021F4R 18 (EXigd) At 1 April 2021 (restated) 921,014 13,601 40113 (B4779 346,578 12,496 768413 1847437 9027396 2,774,833
REET Profit for the year - - - - - - 156,903 156,903 08819 25,782
AEENEHEL /R RS Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign
operations - - - 63,064 - - - 63,564 21779 91,343
it/ LERBL AR TR ERER Net translation deficit reclassified to profit or loss upon
HEEER deregistration/disposal of subsidiaries - - - B2 - - - B2 3997 27719
WATEFAA2ENEZRATAZATE  Fairvalue gain on equity instruments at fair value through
Wi other comprefensive income - - - 2,013 - 131 - 26,334 3,98 30,319
FibBEARZEHRENE () Share of other comprehensive income (expense)
of associates - - (580) (2,575) - - 62 (3,003 (529) (3,614
PERENRAE EE) Total comprehensive income for the year (restated) - - (580 86,74 - U31 16965 67430 104119 371549
FitBEnTAETERD Share of change in net asset valug of an associate - - - - 1,806 - 12 1,931 (2,72 (793
E\GR Transfer of eserves - - - - 4015 - (4,015) - - -
BRETENBLT BNER Acquisition of additional interests in a subsiclary through
(zz48(0)) capitalisation (note 48(0)) - - - - 518 - - 518 (L1 (653
HEMBLR (HE48) Disposal of subsidlaries (note 48(0) - (849) 2 - (5% - B30 . . .
[FHER A ERRRRE Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (503 (5,03
BT 2R (H:235) Issue of shares upon rights issue (note 35) 81,085 - - - - - - 81,085 - 81,085
BlkhNRaRE Transaction costs attributable to issue of shares (3433 - - - - - - (343 - (343
77652 (845) - - (21,196) - 24,490 80,101 (8,931 TL170
2022 3A31A (EHifEH) At 31 March 2022 (restated) 993,666 12,756 39533 (168064 35,382 36,817 949868 2194968 1022584 3217562
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & &= 20234 38 318 |- F &

SRRRLAREA 3y i
Attributable to owners of the Company Non-controlling interests
FriEHEAR
% K& g5
B L Share of
BE  EEB#%  Popety  BEHE  RABE  Ivestment  REEH FRBE  netassets EHeE
Share legal revaluation Translation ~ Capital revaluation  Retained Mt HERE of Nt Total
capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total SAFE  subsidiaries  Sub-total equity
TR TR T TR TR TR ThR ThR ThR TR TR T
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
() (&)
(note) (note)
200254818 (R At 1 April 2022 (as originally stated) 998,666 12,756 39,533 (170,361 295,338 36,817 703563 1,916,312 - 0’6l 975651 2,891,963
BHEEZAE () Adjustment on merger accounting
(seenote 2) - - - 2,307 30,044 - 46306 218,65 - 46,933 46,933 325589
2002548 1R (EFES)) At 1 April 2022 (restated) 098,666 12,756 30,633 (168,054 325,382 36,817 949,868 2,194,968 - 1022584 1022584 3,217,552
2EER Profit for the year - - - - - - 36,930 36,930 3,562 45,755 49,307 86,237
RERISHEL BN 2R Exchange differences arising from
translation of foreign operations - - - (148213 - - - (148213 - (62,428 (62,424 (210,697
HH/HENBLARFELEBE  Netuandation deficitredlassified to
HABEER profitor loss upon deregstration/
disposal of subsidiaries - - - 21,090 - - - 21,090 - 3,552 3,552 24,642
HE-BELNIRELFEEN  Bichange translation defioit reclassified
HEEER toprofit or loss upon disposal of an
assoclate - - - 18,977 - - - 18,977 - 3,19 3,196 2,173
WATEFALMREREZRAT  Fairvalue loss on equity instruments
E7ATEER atfair value value through other
comprehensive income - - - (3,793 - (12,788 - (16,581) - (2,052 (2,052 (18,633
FEBEDFZEMRE () k& Shareof other comprehensive (expense)
income of assoclates - - - (43,351 - - 198 (43,153 - (7,268 (7,268)  (50,421)
2ERE (L) akE Total comprehensive (expense) income
forthe year - . - (155350 - (2789 W8 (BLON) 352 (1924) (15689 (196,699
Fie-HEELAAESEEY Share of change n net asset value of an
associate - - - - (362,689 - - (362,689 - (61,086 (61,080  (423,775)
g5k Transfer of reserves - - - - 10010 - (10910 - - - - -
HE-EMBRARREE AR Realisation of reserve on disposal of a
subsidiary - - - - (2,745) - 2,745 - - - - -
HTHBATRERBRRE Dividend paid to non-controling
shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (2260 (32,260 (32,260
—FINBARRAARRESERS  Issue of SAFE notes bya subsidiary
(#z£36) (note 36) - - - - - - - - 107544 - 107544 107,544
FERBRNES Capital contribution from non-
controlling interest - - - - - - - - - 400 400 400
- . . - (355 - 8165 (02600 1075 (208 14598 (34809
R2023E 37318 At 31 March 2023 998,666 12,756 30533 (33404 (9142 4029 978831 1,701,269 111,09 910397 1,021,493 2,722,762

Bt - BARBEIERERELERIRZIER T,
&M E QR AR ERIR B R 2 R R R
HWEIREZ ATERZSBIRARTEARANE
(B HBARRBE AT ZHENMOER - %%
WERMOEFFIEEBHEEEREBRERAET
e

EE BB EEAREMERPERZ HEARZE
TEBERRAE o

SRR TIEERAF —O-ZZE-O-_=F4%%

Note: Capital reserve mainly represents the difference between the amount of non-

controlling interest adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid/received
on partial acquisition/disposal of a subsidiary without losing control and the
capitalisation of profits of subsidiaries and associates established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") that were available for appropriation after the
approval from the relevant PRC authorities.

Legal surplus comprises the Group’s share of statutory reserves of the
subsidiaries established in the PRC.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SEHTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #; % 2023F 38 31H L F[E

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

2023 2022
F5E FET FAT
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
(EFHRH)
(Restated)
KR T Operating activities
B2EHF Profit for the year 86,237 225,782
HE - Adjustments for:
i1 Taxation 14,173 40,952
IZiEla NS Share of results of associates (138,072 (313,602)
FE U A Interest income (12,950) (13,329)
BITREMER ZHE Interest on bank and other loans 191,701 122,428
HEHEFS Interest on lease liabilities 13,592 15,836
RN E R R E A EUERTE 2 Impairment loss recognised on trade
AIEEE and other receivables 39,931 25,849
PTG — & R Bl R B 518 Reversal of allowance for impairment
=0 #% loss on the interest in an associate (14,697) -
R — e AR 2 REEE Impairment loss recognised on an
associate - 59,947
HRYE  BELREZ Impairment loss recognised on
FIEEE property, plant and equipment 20,648 -
R AEEE 2 RERE Impairment loss recognised on right-
of-use assets 2,932 -
FEEE Allowance for inventories 22,008 2,687
B ERE Amortisation of intangible assets 1,183 77
¥  BERREZITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 185,983 178,149
EREEEZITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 82,556 99,215
HERHTE A B2 F e Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (60,870) (30,445)
HEME - BE k&2 W Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment (9,782 (241)
FEEME - BB KRR Property, plant and equipment
written off 3,332 16,701
HE EER LD AR 2 e Gain on disposal/dilution of
associates (24,360) (307)
SN B A B FIE N, Net translation deficit reclassified to
EEEFOEEER profit or loss upon deregistration of
subsidiaries 18,513 982
SRR BRI Reversal of provision for
restructuring (6,720) (75,210)
PRIB K AR [ 45 Reversal of relocation cost (4,309) (24,285)
AAFEFAEMEE RS2 Dividend income form financial
TREBE 2 RBMBA assets at FVTOCI (172) -
AAFERFABRZBRATAZ Unrealised fair value loss on equity
REIRNFERBE instruments at FVTPL - 3,271
NAFEFABZZRATAY Fair value gain on equity instruments
N EW S at FVTPL (43,596) -
—RB & DN RERIMER Z Bargain purchases of additional
EAE e investment in an associate (12,581) -
FEU B ER Reduction in compensation
receivable 16,660 -
EENER \Write off account payable (3,314) -
TEERMIEZ RERATE Unrealised fair value loss (gain) on
BB W) derivative financial instruments 624 (7,123
BIbN 1o = i ) Rent concession related to
COVID-19 (2,074) (521)
HEBS 2z K Gain on lease modification - (884)
HELI 2 W= Gain on lease termination (17) (406)
WERER ZIRITER Bank loan waived - (7,594)
REBFINEH MR FF) B Effect of unrealised foreign
exchange rate changes - 6,074

o4



For the year ended 31 March 2023

B Z 2023F 3A31IH IEFE

2023 2022
B FExT FAT
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
(EFHRH)
(Restated)
EREESEERI EE Operating cash flows before movements
Renh=E in working capital 366,559 324,264
BTE 2R () Decrease (increase) in inventories 210,527 (317,549
FEUR & 3R e EL At Uk BR T Decrease (increase) in trade and other
TE R Z R (E ) receivables and prepayments 223,730 (83,499
FEREREBEREBAZ (BD) 1Eim (Decrease) increase in creditors and
accrued charges (190,312) 19,525
BHEBERD Decrease in provision for restructuring (17,880) -
aRBEZ (i) B (Decrease) increase in contract liabilities (21,143) 57,842
KEEBELAZRS Cash generated from operations 571,481 583
EAS BB AGNEL (3 & A0 TH Taxation paid in other jurisdictions (39,336) (42,345)
ENEENEH Taxation paid in Hong Kong (7,072) (24,503
BB AN A b [ AR TR R Taxation refunded in other jurisdictions 2,005 7,477
B EATIERK Tax refunded in Hong Kong 72 1,422
EEBEEL (BR) 2R F8E Net cash from (used in) operating
activities 527,150 (57,3606)
WA Investing activities
LENBARELE RS TR Net cash inflow arising from disposal of
subsidiaries 37 154,299 13,863
HEARNTFEFABRZ SREE Disposal of financial assets at FVTPL 109,788 -
B E R E 2 RS Dividends received from associates 75,862 238,123
& — R & A B2 OB Proceeds from disposal of an associate 57,941 -
HEWE - HEREBYE 2 Proceeds and deposits received from
HIENET® disposal of property, plant and
equipment 20,955 8,871
BB QB AR 2 WK Proceed from capital reduction of an
associate 20,768 -
BUFLE Interest received 11,349 5,968
—MEE R REBEKER Repayment of loan receivables by an
associate 7,047 -
AT EFF AR MEERE 2 Dividend income from financial assets
SREEZRBIA at FVTOCI 172 -
BAME - BE R&E Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (291,140) (299,778)
A — RIS AR 2 BIMER Acquisition of additional interest in an
associate (16,679) -
AR FEGFAREMEEK G Z Acquisition of financial assets at
EREE FVTOCI (11,745) -
BAME - BERREMNZES Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment (3,702) (2,697)
EARFARE Acquisition of intangible assets (2,500) -
WEEBEEL (BR) 2R FE Net cash from (used in) investing
activities 132,415 (35,650)

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS conro)

AEREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #; % 2023F 38 31H L F[E

2023 2022
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(EFHRH)
(Restated)
B Financing activities
EBIRIT REMER Repayment of bank and other loans (1,287,638) (630,205)
BEARRITREMERZFE Interest on bank and other loans paid (184,401) (116,425)
BEBEERE Repayment of lease liabilities (74,997) (75,642
BB A R SRR R 2 IR B Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries (32,260) (5,036)
HEABENS Interest on lease liabilities (13,592) (15,836)
EAIRE Dividends paid (3 (488)
FERITER New borrowings raised 1,005,812 663,844
AT Z B D Issue of shares upon rights issue - 81,085
—HIME R B TR B ek Proceed from issue of SAFE by a
23R8 subsidiary 96,319 -
IR R L & 'R Capital contribution from non-
controlling interest 400 -
BA—HNEBAR 2 BEIMER Acquisition of additional interests in a
subsidiary - (653)
BITRD IR G Transactions costs attributable to issue
of shares - (3,433
BLE PR 2 IR &5 Net cash used in financing activities (490,360) (102,789)
REREBEBSIEM (RD) F8 Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 169,205 (195,805)
FzReREERE Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 1,186,326 1,318,468
HNEE IR RS E) 2 R Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (77,643) 63,663
FRZASREBERS Cash and cash equivalents at end of the
HRITHET  FRERE year, bank balances, deposits and cash 1,277,888 1,186,326

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRAR MR

1.

SURBETIEARAF —O==%

—REHR

SRR TEERAF ([ARE) H—HEES
MRz EMARRDE - ABROREEBSR
SRERAT (FAEBRZM]) £ - RATEM
MER IR T REWH D FENAFRZ
RAERNA -

Rig A MR AR R RN EEBTHS

KRR —HREERAR - HEZ2MBAF KL
B2 N B2 D BB M i E 4849

BHtETEREH RS

ARAREMBAR @GR (KRR mETR
HAEEF Rz EZB RO S REDRREE
SR RSB EHE5I 55 [HFEEHI &6
ZattastRE] ([E5HE3I £ 55)) wadtest
EBERE o

M2022F 127 30R » AR AJE & R Bl E R Al
AR A (MsEbell) 1A 1,100,000,0004# 7T 78
Ui B T S EE 60. 87% M HE - IR - A
HEEERTELERMORETRANRREE
MEmBEBA - BRLEHFE60.87%E # 1Tk
KR SREEEMBEREA A o WHTHIL - T
HERCIFANEZENB AR - AREIRRIE
TR KA A (PR s - ZUBEE
RIFEGETIES|FEORAKRIEHIEB S 6 RA
AR

IR AR 2 202156 47 18 [ 20224 37 31H
iR EMBIHRCENRY - UBETENLES
BOWEE BEERBERE  LUSHEBER
H[R e AR (PR ST 4R ] 2 B ARRT ST - Ak
E & Z= 20215 4A 10 k20224 3A 31 845
MBBROENMRY - UHBAEEZERFE
i PR R RERE - AR miE - BIEK
BMAREHREINEEFELEHNERE
Ao LMEHEBERKRREMEREE 2
B AR SeRUEE -

ZOZ=55%R

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual
report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in notes 48 and 49,
respectively.

MERGER ACCOUNTING AND RESTATEMENTS

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group")
accounts for all its business combinations involving entities under
common control under the principles of merger accounting in accordance
with Accounting Guideline 5 "Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations" ("AG 5") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA").

On 30 December 2022, XIC Innovation Limited ("XIC"), an associate of
the Company, completed the acquisition of the entire equity interests in
Light Engine at a consideration of HK$ 1,100 million. Immediately before
the acquisition, Mr. Paul Lo Chung Wai ("Mr Paul Lo") is the ultimate legal
and beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of Light Engine
and also the ultimate legal and beneficial owner of 60.87% per cent of
the issued share capital of XIC. Upon completion of the acquisition, Light
Engine became a wholly-owned subsidiary of XIC. Since XIC and the
Light Engine are under common control of Mr. Paul Lo, the acquisition has
been accounted for as business combination under common control in
accordance with AGbH.

The consolidated financial statements of XIC as at 1 April 2021 and
31 March 2022 have been restated to include the assets and liabilities
and the results of the Light Engine Group, as if the acquisition had been
completed since the date when the combining business first came
under the control of Mr. Paul Lo. The consolidated financial statements
of the Group as at 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 have been restated
to adjust the interest in associates, share of results of associates, other
comprehensive income, share of change in net assets of XIC other than
comprehensive income and earnings per share as if the acquisition had
been completed since the date when the combining business fist came
under the control of Mr. Paul Lo.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

2. EOETHEREHET @ 2. MIERGER ACCOUNTING AND RESTATEMENTS (continued)
FERAHEHEAEERE2022F3A 318 I FEL The effects of the application of merger accounting on the consolidated
EERROTZENT statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 are as

follows:
afgshA
2 R
Adjustments
on merger
accounting
FAT FAT FAxT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(FR5EFED) (EFHRT)
(originally
stated) (restated)
BEKEER Continuing operations
FriGE e A RIZEE Share of results of associates 286,141 27,461 313,602
BR A BT V4 ) Profit before taxation 254,854 27,461 282,315
2E 5 Profit for the year 215,935 27,461 243,396
Hft2E*ZH : Other comprehensive expense:
FETERJREEF HEZ 18752 Items that may be reclassified
EH - subsequently to profit of loss:
FrihBg A e 2 Hf2EZ .  Share of other comprehensive
expenses of associates (11,076) 7,462 (3,614)
2EPERSBTE Total comprehensive income for
the year 336,626 34,923 371,549
AU EEHE
2R
Adjustments
on merger
accounting
P PR il
HK cents HK cents HK cents
(FR5EFED) (EFH )
(originally
stated) (restated)
SRAEF —-ER Earnings per share - Basic
—FBEERERLE - From continuing and
KRBT discontinued operations 16.9 2.9 19.8
— B EETS - From continuing operations 18.8 2.9 21.7
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2. AtEFEREHFS @ 2. MERGER ACCOUNTING AND RESTATEMENTS (continued)

_Eall EFTAR B A 20224 3A 31H MER A& B Ik The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
NERZFEGENT - statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022 are summarised
below:
AL AR
Adjustments
on merger
accounting
31.3.2022 31.3.2022
FAxT FHET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(RFEFTET) E#im)
(originally
stated) (restated)
=3 ASSETS
PG & A Rl Interests in associates 1,756,840 325,589 2,082,429
EEFE NET ASSETS 2,891,963 325,589 3,217,552
E= EQUITY
it Reserves 917,646 278,656 1,196,302
IR Non-controlling interests 975,651 46,933 1,022,584
R TOTAL EQUITY 2,891,963 325,589 3,217,552
At E R H A 2021F 48 18 4R A B ik The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
MERZZERENT - statement of financial position as at 1 April 2021 are summarised below:
AEHEFHEZ R
Adjustments
on merger
accounting
1.4.2021 1.4.2021
FAET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(FRSEFTET) (EHF )
(originally
stated) (restated)
EE ASSETS
FriGEse & A Rl Interests in associate 1,784,099 290,666 2,074,765
EEFE NET ASSETS 2,484,167 290,666 2,774,833
= EQUITY
& Reserves 677,760 248,663 926,423
FEIEAR R Non-controlling interests 885,393 42,003 927,396
A TOTAL EQUITY 2,484,167 290,666 2,774,833

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%% 69



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro

e BHmRNTE

3. ERFTREETEBUBHREEL (FEHK

HEER ]

RAFERFER BB EREER ZBTAR

WAFE  AEECDHERERUTHEES
RERM 2 BB EMELENZEFTA - MR
SURAMBWEME - BB AT 202264

A 1ARZ &0 2 FEHIFRBIAER

ERMEMEER  RABSIER

FEIRZIERTA
A EAE 165 ME - BB KRB —HTE
ZAERTA FZATZ FrSRIA
BFRGTEUEIT BEAHN-ET el
ZAERTA 2R
BRMBMEEN . BAEWBEMESER2018
CHIEN FE20205F M2 F
g

BT ESN  RAFERATEMBRELELZ
ERAIARAREERFELBEFE 2 MBRA LN
AR/ IR GE VB REN B HEEEYEE

=4
N:Z- X

FERE B I8 B R E I 2 65T KB

R HE

AREE IS B BN 202255 4A 1B s 2 B2 1) %
BAHRAZFEIR - ZFERIAENE LY
B ELERF SIRER A frevieat - 3 5/A2018
FOAMMZ [ 2018F M B IMEHAEZR] (1
SIER]D) - B (RER2HBUBREER] (H
2010%F 108 7845 2 [ 20104 B %5 ¥ 5 LAz 2R
R - RIN—IERE - EB S ERE 375
B IARBERIREE] LEE ERMBER
ERBLER) -REFE21% [HE] #EANR
SZRENME - WEHERATBETERIEI7HR
HZEE ERFBERERBZES) —RBFE 2R
M SEBL SRR AR E R EIE & G AW A
& RRIN—IERREERR - E T RN

—IREBAHTAIENAEE -

MAFEEAZE
BHMEEREANF

o

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

ERT AN BE AR E AR S B
2

. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current

year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments

to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective

for the annual period beginning on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018
- 2020

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 "Reference to the
Conceptual Framework"

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations for
which the acquisition date was on or after 1 April 2022. The amendments
update a reference in HKFRS 3 "Business Combinations" so that it refers
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the "Conceptual Framework") instead of Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October
2010), add a requirement that, for transactions and events within the
scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination and add an explicit
statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired
in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 16 "Property, Plant
and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use"

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
yvear. The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were
produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management (such as samples produced when
testing whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is functioning
properly) and the proceeds from selling such items should be recognised
and measured in the profit or loss in accordance with applicable
standards. The cost of the items are measured in accordance with HKAS
2 "Inventories".

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has applied the
new accounting policy retrospectively to property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 April 2022. The application of the
amendments in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs "Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 2020"

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards:

HKFRS 9 "Financial Instruments”

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes substantial
modification under the "10 per cent" test, a borrower includes only fees
paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid
or received by either the borrower or the lender on the other's behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group applies the
amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged as at the

date of initial application, 1 April 2022.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts?®
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS
17)
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
\Venture?
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?*

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction!

t Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the "2020 Amendments") and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the "2022 Amendments")

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity's
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that the
classification should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been modified
by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only
covenants with which an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity's right to defer settlement of
a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants
which are required to comply with only after the reporting period do not
affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure requirements
about information that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liabilities could become repayable within
twelve months after the reporting period, if the entity classify liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the entity's right to
defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the "2020 Amendments") and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the "2022 Amendments") (continued)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity applies
the 2020 amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the 2022
Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that
period.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2023,
the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group's liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 "Disclosure
of Accounting Policies"

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term "significant
accounting policies" with "material accounting policy information".
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity's financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 "Making Materiality Judgements" (the
"Practice Statement") is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies
the "four-step materiality process" to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.
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. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 "Disclosure
of Accounting Policies" (continuec)

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group but may
affect the disclosures of the Group's significant accounting policies.
The impacts of application, if any, will be disclosed in the Group's future
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 "Definition of Accounting Estimates"

The amendments define accounting estimates as "monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty".
An accounting policy may require items in financial statements to be
measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty - that is, the
accounting policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be estimated.
In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the
latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS 8is
retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption of
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of
HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions that,
on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, for leasing
transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 "Income Taxes" requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a
deferred taxation asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utilised) and a deferred taxation liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the
lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group's annual reporting periods
beginning on 1 April 2023. The management is in the process of assessing
the impact of the application of the amendments. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements upon adoption on 1 April 2023.

/6



4. REGESUBBRZEERTESHBE 4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

41 RBEGREMBBRZEE 4.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered as material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the
Group in light of the fact that the Group's current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$377 million as at 31 March
2023. The Group's current liabilities as at 31 March 2023 included
bank loans, import and other loans of approximately HK$2,474 million
that are repayable within twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. Taking into account of the internally generated funds, the
available banking facilities of approximately HK$2,008 million as at
31 March 2023 and that historically the lenders continuously provide
financing to the Group, the directors of the Company are confident
that the Group will be able to meet their financial obligations when
they fall due in the foreseeable future and be able to operate on a
going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions
that are accounted for accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in
use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36”).
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4.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
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a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
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42 TEFFEE

4.2

are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1,that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and

Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies

HERE Basis of consolidation
K,ﬁu?éﬁﬁ‘%iﬁﬁ BEARATRBEARARRE The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
E)EEPN %‘JZE‘%‘%ZEH%?&%E o EVIS statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
BERERAT] - and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:
HIREHRITERED has power over the investee;
DEBEHRCER MBS GRE is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
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with the investee; and
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.
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Basis of consolidation (continuec)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income (“OCI”)
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

\When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group'’s interests in existing subsidiaries (continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in OCl in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.

Business combinations or assets acquisition

Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 April 2020, the Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially
all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of
activities and assets is determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which are
subsequently measured under fair value model and financial assets/
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance
of the purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19
“Employee Benefits” respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value
of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as
if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at the
same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.
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Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

Merger Accounting for business combination involving businesses
under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining businesses in which the common
control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the
date when the combining businesses first came under the control of
the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated using
the existing book values from the controlling party's perspective. No
amount is recognised in respect of goodwiill or bargain purchase gain
at the time of common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss includes the results of
each of the combining businesses from the earliest date presented or
since the date when the combining businesses first came under the
common control, where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements
are presented as if the businesses had been combined at the
beginning of the previous reporting period or when they first came
under common control, whichever is shorter.
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Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwiill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or group of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combinations,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently whenever there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
gooduwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. \When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.
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Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of the associate and
changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and
OCI. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period
in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. \When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwiill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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Investments in associates (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. \When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS
9 the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in OCI in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in OCI by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.

\WWhen the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

\When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, ie. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle

of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of electronics and
batteries products is recognised at a point in time. Under the transfer-
of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from these sales is
recognised when customer acceptance has been obtained, which is
the point of time when the goods are delivered based on the agreed
shipping terms and the location specified by the customers, and when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of these products and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component and are accounted
for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of leasehold building, machinery and equipment and others that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied that practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
not included in the measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets, and are recognised as expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentive
receivables, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets. \IWhen the modified contract contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting
the revised lease payments using the unchanged discount rate and
makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets.
A lease modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform if,
and only if, both of these conditions are met:

the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest
rate benchmark reform; and

the new basis for determining the lease payments is economically

equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately
preceding the modification).
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Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

COVID-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2022; and

there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes
are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

\When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-
lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as
lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as
part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions
The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess whether
sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use assets arising from
the leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of
the asset and recognises any gain or loss that relates to the rights
transferred to the buyer-lessor only.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell, except for financial assets within the scope of
HKFRS 9 and investment properties, which continue to be measured
in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in respective
sections.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
that asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than asset under construction and freehold land
as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost or fair value less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Advantage has been taken of the transitional relief provided by HKAS
16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” from the requirement to make
regular revaluations of the Group’s land and buildings which had
been carried at revalued amounts prior to 30 September 1995, and
accordingly no further revaluation of land and buildings is carried out.
Prior to 30 September 1995, the revaluation increase arising on the
revaluation of these assets was credited to the property revaluation
reserve. Any future decreases in value of these assets will be dealt
with as an expense to the extent that they exceed the balance, if any,
on the property revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation
of the same asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued
asset, the corresponding revaluation surplus is transferred to retained
profits.

Freehold land is not depreciated and is measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Asset in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

92



4 RHEGESUBEBRRZEERTESHBE @) 4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

42 FEEFHBX @ 4.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

¥ BERRE @
EAEEXNREEE L METFTEHG 2
ERBE RN RE - BBRRELRN &R
RS Z BE A FELLPIFETEE T BB TR
D 2B © WAERE S RAE AT SEd D BC - A
RARIIEEERE 2 HE L1t 2 TR
BUBIRAREINR (EAEEE] - ER(E

TERIFFHERTHOBMBEE L2
AP ERER 2B BEVMESBERY
% WEk&

TEREERKAER AN BE - LURL
ERBREER ZRARMEE  REMGTH
FHABRERBRBRBERER - A
FH - MREERFETERBEREE

EITER - MG E B2 & AR
EEAG -

ME - BERREEESEHERAHEE
158 P8 BE T & 7 SRR 2R AR O ) 22 B 531 R R
R o S EHEHYME - BB MR EZEM
T%ﬂ&ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁﬁ%QEZ%E@Z%
RERTED) B HER

HREE

(a) PHWEZBEZEE —BIF  FFRE
Edd
IR R BN & A AR EIL D 5
AEAEFTERERN20F R 2FUER
EHE o

BARBENEMSEARK 2R EERN
A - RBES B ERRET - LAEED 3F
EO5FNIRFERFAIFEH MREE) #
i ©

R AEHEBETERBENEE
RETER  MEMGSESNTEN
AR REEARR -

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of
assets other than asset under construction and freehold land less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method or reducing balance method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the assets and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

(a) Intangible assets acquired separately - Trademarks, patent and
Technical know-how
Trademarks and patent are measured initially at purchase cost
and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives, which are estimated to be twenty years and two years
respectively.

The cost of acquiring rights to technical know-how for the
production of new products is amortised on a straight-line
method, over a period of three to five years from the date of
acquisition or over the licence period, whichever is shorter.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at

the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets (continued)
(b) Internally-generated intangible assets - Research and
development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date
when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
above. \Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately. The resultant asset
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful
live, not exceeding ten years, commencing in the year when the
product is put into commercial use.

(c) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination - Customer
relationship
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date, which is regarded as their
cost.

The customer relationship is amortised using straight-line method,
over a period of five years. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the customer relationship is recorded at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. \IWhen it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the
relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of
CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that
standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuec)

4.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

\WWhere an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in
which case the reversal of impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase under that standard.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. \When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Restructurings

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has
developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the
restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main
features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring
provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the
restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily
entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing
activities of the entity.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at F\VVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued))

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at F\V/TPL, except
that initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in OCI if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or F\VTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Investments in equity instruments at FVVTOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they
are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCI| and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “other income and other gains” line item in profit or
loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other income and other gains” or
“other expenses and other losses” line item.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including non-current
receivables, non-current deposits, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, dividend receivable, bank deposits, bank balances and
amounts due from associates) and financial guarantee contracts
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually and/or
collectively using a collective basis with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

100



4. FRGESVBBRZEERTESHER®

42 FEEHEE @

EHMITE )

THEE

RIEE S ISR E ERE O EITR BTG

MNERMEEREMIBEE ZRE @

() =RREEZELN
EHEEVEERECEARKRESEE
TN AEBBERTARNRKRERR
EEHNERES R T ARIRERA
BB ABZOMRBRETHE - EEEAR
FEE  AEEEEABYEIHNE
EREHER  BEAFLCHRLESH
RN E R REINK AN S BN Al 1S Y
AIEMEE -

AgmE  EFAERARRREERER
MEFZREIATER

SRITAIE WB) RREEEFTR
MERRIEMNEREEE

EERRBRNIIBT S ERRZE
£ MEERERBELA - BHBA
ERENERERBRZ LT

EHHREREBARTREEEEE
EVRENFEE TIRVETS - MK
BEAHOREIRB IR RE L

BEEAREEENERRTEHNE
BEE

AR (TR EE R0
BB TRE M0 TS A FTRIVEEE - 40
B ITRRENER REANES
THEE -

o B FH AR A R - AREERE
EAHNREBEEBB308 - AlE MR
ERESHEECRARBREEZEN -
BIEAREBASEMTHERERILIE
At ©

M BERAOME - AEERSTA
BEAEEE — 0 H B BHUR SR RE
ZRERBH - RAHEEERBRE W
IR R DA BE LN - AEER
BEREEEBARNAROED -

AEBEFHEEANBECERRE S
BEZNMNRENE YR - WHEER
RIERERT - R ERIRA BRERLHRN
RIS B R R EREIE 0 -

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, eg. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuec)

4.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrowver;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (ie.the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that
it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but
only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by
adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped on the following basis:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in

which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.
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Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS O (continued)

(V) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred
to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an equity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including creditors and other payables, bank loans,
import and other loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the amortised
cost measurement applies as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to account for
these changes by updating the effective interest rate, such change
in effective interest rate normally has no significant effect on the
carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only if, both these
conditions are met:

the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate
benchmark reform; and

the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is

economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis
immediately preceding the change).
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Financial instruments (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on
the nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments for
cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group documents
the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for
undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether
the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged
risk.

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers whether
the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values
or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which
is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge
effectiveness requirements:

there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument;

the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that
result from that economic relationship; and

the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that
resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group
actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that
the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same,
the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (ie.
rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

For changes made to the hedged risk, hedged item or hedging
instrument required by interest rate benchmark reform, the Group
amends the formal designation of a hedging relationship to reflect the
changes by the end of the reporting period during which the relevant
changes were made. Such an amendment to the formal designation
of the hedging relationship constitutes neither the discontinuation
of the hedging relationship nor the designation of a new hedging
relationship.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting (continued)

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and
other qualifying hedging instruments that are designated and qualify
as cash flow hedges is recognised in OCI| and accumulated under the
heading of hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair
value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit
or loss,and is included in the “other income and other gains” or “other
expenses and other losses” line item.

Amounts previously recognised in OCIl and accumulated in equity
are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item
affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged
item. Furthermore, if the Group expects that some or all of the loss
accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in
the future, that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only
when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes
instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated
or exercised. Discontinuing hedge accounting can either affect
a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a part of it (in which
case hedge accounting continues for the remainder of the hedging
relationship).

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is
ultimately recognised in profit or loss. \When a forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Bank balances, deposits and cash
Bank balances, deposits and cash presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and
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Bank balances, deposits and cash (continued)

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of Bank balances, deposits and cash as
defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwvill.
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application
of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement
or modification.
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Taxation (continuec)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in OCI or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in OCl or
directly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable, the
current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax
treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of
each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or
the expected value.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
using exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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Foreign currencies (continuec)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or
a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit
or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 April
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in OCI.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific bank and other loans pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Government grants relating to
compensation of expenses are deducted from the related expenses,
other government grants are presented under “other income and other
gains”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is
treated as a government grant, measured as the difference between
proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to the defined contribution retirement plans, including
state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme, are recognised as expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when
the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as

wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 4, the management of the Company is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment on interest in an associate which is engaged in
trading of battery related products in Russia (the “Associate”) and ECL
assessment on trade and other receivables from the Associate

The management of the Group considers that as at 31 March 2023,
there was an indication that the impairment loss of the Group’s interest
in the Associate has reversed and that there was a decrease in the
credit risk in respect of the trade and other receivables from the
Associate. Accordingly, the management of the Group conducted an
impairment assessment on the interest in the Associate based on the
estimated financial performance of the Associate and had appointed an
independent qualified valuer (the “Valuer”) to individually assess the ECL
on the trade and other receivables from the Associate.

As at 31 March 2023, the gross carrying amounts of the Group’s
interest in the Associate and the trade and other receivables due from
the Associate were HK$84,342,000 (2022: HK$59,947,000) and
HK$43,975,000 (2022: HK$62,571,000), respectively.

Based on management’s assessment, the Group recognised reversal
of impairment loss on the interest in the Associate of HK$ 14,697,000
(2022: full impairment loss of HK$59,947,000) and reversal of ECL
provision on the trade and other receivables from the Associate of
HK$ 16,455,000 (2022: ECL provision of HK$21,637,000). Details of the
above assessments are disclosed in notes 17 and 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired balances
are assessed for ECL individually. Details on the ECL of trade receivables
due from the Associate is set out in the above paragraphs. For trade
receivables that are not individually assessed, the Group uses collective
basis to determine ECL. The loss rates are determined based on internal
credit ratings for each grouping of debtors that have similar credit risk
characteristics. The collective basis is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable, and available without undue costs
or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables was
HK$946,273,000 (net of provision of ECL of HK$40,300,000) (2022:
HK$1,095,933,000 (net of provision of ECL of HK$49,973,000)). The
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 39
and 24.

Allowances for inventories

Inventory is stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. The
management of the Group reviews regularly the suitability of the Group’s
allowance policy for inventories and carries out review of the inventories
at the end of each reporting period. At the end of each reporting period,
management carries out the assessment of determining allowance for
inventories by comparing the carrying amounts of inventories with their net
realisable values. The net realisable values are primarily determined with
reference to estimated selling prices, less the estimated cost necessary
to make the sale. In addition, the management of the Group identifies
slow-moving inventories with reference to aging analysis and determines
the net realisable value for inventories by considering the saleability of
inventories based on current market demand and future sales plan. \When
the expectation of the net realisable value is less than the cost, further
allowance may arise.

Allowance for inventories of HK$22,008,000 (2022: HK$2,537,000)
from continuing operations was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2023.Asat 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of inventories
was HK$1,232,477,000 (2022: HK$1,473,046,000).
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
value in use of the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU (or a group of CGUs)
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.\IVhere
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was
HK$70,399,000 (2022: HK$70,399,000). For the year ended 31 March
2023, no impairment loss on goodwill was recognised (2022: nil). Details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 21.

Fair value measurements

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The directors have a designated team to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair values of
investment properties, equity instruments at F\/TOCI and certain types of
financial instruments of which details are set out in notes 18, 28 and 39
respectively.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Judgement
is involved in determining the group-wide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. \\Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department (“IRD”) issued a preliminary profits tax calculation for the
years of assessment 2006/07 to 2013/14 based on the information
provided by one of the subsidiaries of the Group for a preliminary
assessment and the Group provided HK$19 million of income tax expense
which represented the Group’s estimation of the potential tax liabilities
and the related penalty. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
has finalised the tax assessment with the IRD and an additional income
tax provision amounted to HK$ 11 million (2022: nil) has been recognised.
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For the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the executive directors, who are the chief operating decision makers
(“CODM"), assess profit or loss of these operating divisions using a
measure of operating profit which exclude: interest income, other
expenses and other losses, finance costs and unallocated expenses.

The three main operating divisions of the Group, each of which constitutes
an operating and reportable segment for financial reporting purpose, are:

Electronics - development, manufacture and distribution of electronics
and acoustic products and other businesses.

Batteries - development, manufacture and distribution of batteries and
battery related products.

Other investments - holding of other investments which are mainly
engaged in selling and distribution business.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

The Group’s revenue represents sales of electronics and acoustics,
batteries and other products.

REBZEERBEDFWRAREESTIT - The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by these
operating and reportable segments:
BZE2023F3A31ALFE Year ended 31 March 2023
REDH
@t
HitiRE Total
EY Eitr Other  reportable ik At
Electronics Batteries investments  segments Eliminations Total
FEr TET TET TET TET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HEGEEY Continuing operations
EEH REVENUE
HINHE External sales 1,601,954 4,979,072 - 6,581,026 - 6,581,026
£BHHE Inter-segment sales 1 18 - 19 (19 -
£BEER Segment revenue 1,601,955 4,979,090 - 6,581,045 (19 6,581,026
¥iE RESULTS
£BEE Segment results 123,053 365,933 (63) 488,923 - 488,923
FIEHA Interest income 12,950
Hth B R RAMERE Other expenses and other losses (150,861)
BISRA Finance costs (205,293)
TNz ER Unallocated expenses (45,309)
FRLE RTINS R Profit before taxation from continuing
operations
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100,410
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6. PEER EEB @ 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continuec)

HE2022F 38310 L FE EHHEH) Year ended 31 March 2022 (restated)
WEHH
HigkE Total
T Bt Other  reportable #H CEH
Electronics Batteries  investments segments  Eliminations Total

TEL TEL TEL THEL TEL THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HECEER Continuing operations
EXE REVENUE
HIMNEE External sales 1,627,681 5,433,939 - 7,061,620 - 7,061,620
EBHHE Inter-segment sales 2,028 456 - 2,484 (2,484 -
$BEEE Segment revenue 1,629,709 5,434,395 - 7,064,104 (2,484) 7,061,620
E RESULTS
XBEE Segment results 406,889 231,419 (62) 638,246 - 638,246
VN Interest income 13,306
Hth BB REMEE Other expenses and other losses (204,551)
BB Finance costs (137,918
Tz BA Unallocated expenses (26,769)
BB EBRATRN Profit before taxation from continuing

operations 282,315
DEEBERREBESINES  RRAAEREE Segment results represents the results from each segment without
BERRERSUREERD RMRE TG - F allocation of interest income, other expenses and other losses, finance
BUA -~ BB A REMEE - SR - R costs, central administration costs and directors’ emoluments. Impairment
THRERNESTMEEIRENHEE - W loss recognised and written off on property, plant and equipment and
¥ BERSEREAEEE ZERREREIER right-of-use assets are not allocated to segment result which the related
HESENEEDEES  HEWE  BEKE property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are allocated
EBREAEEECHEEENHEE to segment assets. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the

purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

E¥BHEEN2EMGERMETE - Inter-segment sales are made by reference to market prices.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continuec)

REBREDBIEERBEITHT - The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by

reportable segments:

HitiRE
EF7 Eith Other At
Electronics Batteries investments Total
FET FHET FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000

M2023%3A31H

ﬁﬁﬁiﬁéé

REHRERE

At 31 March 2023

Assets

Segment assets 2,403,150 4,365,755 58,722 6,827,627
Unallocated assets 1,440,438
Consolidated total assets 8,268,065

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 464,342 1,457,499 41 1,921,882
Unallocated liabilities 3,623,421
Consolidated total liabilities 5,545,303

HMigE

BT Epiu) Other BET
Electronics Batteries investments Total
FAT FAT FHET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R20225F3A 318 (EFH w5

At 31 March 2022 (restated)

BE Assets
XBEE Segment assets 2,933,704 5,049,244 51,379 8,034,327
THOBEE Unallocated assets 1,339,377

IREREE Consolidated total assets 9,373,704

afE Liabilities

¥%8E Segment liabilities 522,465 1,666,062 41 2,188,568

TN EBE Unallocated liabilities 3,967,584

IRERAE Consolidated total liabilities 6,156,152

MEEEBRERER 2 HNERD For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating

resources between segments:

BRAEE - RERIEAE - aJUREIFIE - 3]R1T . all assets are allocated to operating segments other than goodwill,
H1F - FRRRE RS EBHLRERNE deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable, bank balances, deposits and
MEE  FIEEESIEKEHE & cash and assets used jointly by operating segments; and
BRTEMBIE BTER  BEEERHEM . all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than taxation
B RITRHEMER BEERBBAEBERE payable, bank loans, import and other loans, bank and other loans,
EEBARERENEMAE  MEEEDE deferred tax liabilities and liabilities for which operating segments are

jointly liable.
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6. PEER EEH»

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continuec)

HihEw Other information
EF =it APE =E
Electronics Batteries Unallocated  Consolidated
T FHET THART THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BZE2023F3A31ALFE Year ended 31 March 2023
HEGEER Continuing operations
BREEIHEER Amounts included in measure of segment
HEEFSBEC S8 assets and segment profit or loss
ki A Rl Interests in associates 1,359,429 255,165 - 1,614,594
BARE M Capital expenditure 78,579 214,156 71 292,806
¥ BERREINERER Depreciation of property, plant and
BE#H equipment and amortisation of
intangible assets 25,476 160,558 1,132 187,166
FREEECRE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 32,686 38,477 11,393 82,556
Pl N RIEE Share of results of associates 73,001 65,071 - 138,072
FERE Allowance for inventories 4,360 17,648 - 22,008
HEWE -« BE LSRG G Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 1,070 8,712 - 9,782
HE /EERE ARz Gain on disposal/dilution of associates - 24,360 - 24,360
MEmAEEzAERE Rental concession related to COVID-19 891 919 264 2,074
MR (B8 RS2 b EIURERIE Net impairment loss recognised (write
ZEREBE back) on trade and other receivables 60,646 (20,715) - 39,931
SRR LR Reversal of provision for restructuring 6,720 - - 6,720
PRBA AN B Reversal of relocation cost - 4,309 - 4,309

ZOZ=55%R

119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

6. DEER EEEw 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continuec)

Hibgrl Other information (continued)
Ea i) ADE e
Electronics Batteries Unallocated ~ Consolidated
FEL FHEL FHT FEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ2022F3A31ALEE Year ended 31 March 2022
(EHEHT) (restated)
BEQEER Continuing operations
BEEHIBEER Amounts included in measure of segment
HEbEFEE 28 assets and segment profit or loss
iR NGl 2 Interests in associates 1,802,889 279,540 - 2,082,429
BEATH Capital expenditure 52,729 248,052 1,449 302,230
W - BEREENEREL Depreciation of property, plant and
BEHH equipment and amortisation of
intangible assets 20,877 165,118 1,280 177,275
FREEEZITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 45,900 41,003 11,639 98,542
g NG Share of results of associates 298,609 14,993 - 313,602
FERE (B8) (Reversal of allowance) allowance for
inventories (737) 3,274 - 2,537
HEWE  BEREE W Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant
(&1#8) and equipment 215 (115) 141 241
3 NG el 6 Gain on dilution of an associate - 307 - 307
FRmA AR RS Rental concession related to COVID-19 167 - 354 521
REWE T REAMEYERE . Net impairment loss recognised on trade
FREEE and other receivables 49 25,800 - 25,849
mEmE Compensation for relocation - 38,919 - 38,919
SR Reversal of provision for restructuring 75,210 - - 75,210
PRBA A1 Reversal of relocation cost - 24,285 - 24,285

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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6. PEER EEH»

it R
ZKE IZ%L&W%T’& AR B e EAth 3R M
BN R EMBIZK#ETT ©

TREH T —AREEAINRE S i AR
NS ECEEGE BN R BEIEREDE
WERIE « ISERBMEKIES - LATEFAEME
Hl s BRATARBERIEEENIEREEE
KM AT

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continued)

Geographical information
The Group’s manufacturing and marketing functions are carried out in the
PRC and certain other Asian countries, European and American countries.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
continuing operations from external customers based on location of
customers and information about its non-current assets other than non-
current receivables, non-current rental deposits, equity instruments at
FV/TOCI and deferred tax assets by geographical locations of assets:

B EREBEE
Revenue Non-current assets

2023 2022 2023 2022
FET FExT FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
E#FwE7)

HEREER Continuing operations

=s) The PRC

—&E - Hong Kong 276,518 317,330 380,905 442 526
— A - Mainland China 2,504,700 2,437,186 2,983,124 3,435,752
HAbZMNE R Other Asian countries 488,641 537,319 860,270 936,237
BUM Europe 1,850,699 2,068,140 57,357 23,346
EF) Americas 1,407,762 1,648,825 8,996 12,371
Hity Others 52,706 52,820 - -
6,581,026 7,061,620 4,290,652 4,850,232

REEZIREFEEBRIFREEAE 2 HIFE
B mERNEXRERSHE IETEL\,\WEEE I Ed
R BN - EMREM AT BEERABE—
FEBHEEERNK AR - DA [HAa M
Bz Z%%%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬁgixﬁéfé ¥
gﬁ’ﬁ’i.&fﬁ. ﬁ'ﬁ !—% HJ EI'J %ﬁﬁﬂiﬁxmﬁﬁ
EREZAILZEMN -

TEEMEXER
AT RAEEETEEMRBERZEXRAD
#r

The geographical information of the Group’s revenue from external
customers and non-current assets by individual significant countries in
other Asian countries, Europe, Americas and others is not available and
management considers the cost to obtain the information would be
excessive. The revenue and non-current assets classified as “Other Asian
countries” mainly represents Taiwan, Singapore and Malaysia, revenue
and non-current assets classified as “Europe” mainly represents United
Kingdom and Germany and revenue and non-current assets classified as
“Americas” mainly represents North America.

Revenue from major products
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue recognised at a point
in time from its major products:

2023 2022
FBT FH&T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
ﬁﬁﬂx‘giiﬁ Continuing operations
BEFHHED Electronics segment:
BFRGEBER Electronics and acoustics products 1,601,954 1,627,681
B ED - Batteries segment:
ot & AR E Batteries and battery related products 4,979,072 5,433,939
BEEFANEEZEXER Revenue from contracts with customers 6,581,026 7,061,620

EEFANELZEXRAEADMEESR
6,581,045,00077T (20224 1 7,064,104,000
70 Bz 2Rl R BilE#HE 19,0008 7T (2022
12,484,000/ 7T)

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

The difference between revenue from contracts with customers
and segment revenue amounting to HK$6,581,045,000 (2022:
HK$7,064,104,000) is inter-segment sales of HK$19,000 (2022:
HK$2,484,000).
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6. DEER EEH@®

FEEREEE»
AEBERERNRTFHEMBER - SXBTEY
THIEEBRER  DEEMELEZMNIIERH
BENETAELESEFPES - AEERNEE
HORNSIHR  IEXFPHEERTREY R
EEERNELRMB RS ZE - —BRXHERR
BV ERE =T RE BT RRI -

FIAHEEHNEA—FREEEMRE - BEFER
SHERNE IR EFBERBEIEEZERERE
KL BB -

TEEFER

REZE 2023 20226 3A31HILFE - 2F
EfIE—FPh 10%3 A EAREE 2 22558 -

7. HAtWAREAMKE Hi X H R A bEE

. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continuec)

Revenue from major products (continuec)

The Group sells all products directly to customers. Revenue is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered to the customers’ specific location and customer
acceptance has been obtained. The Group’s revenue is recognised at a
point in time, which is the point of time when the customer has the ability
to direct the use of the goods and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits of the goods. Payment of the transaction price is normally due
ranging from 30 days to 120 davys, after the control of goods has been
transferred.

All sales contracts are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.

Information about major customers
No single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS/OTHER EXPENSES AND

OTHER LOSSES
2023 2022
FExT FiET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEREER Continuing operations
HEME - BE kEE2 W Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 9,782 241
SRITIF 0 M A i e PR LR B R B A Interest income from bank deposits and
balances and loan receivables 12,950 13,175
ikl NSIPY RSO Interest income from associates - 131
DEdiSEGEE] Government grant 13,987 32,615
NAFEFABSZBRATAY Fair value gain on equity instruments at F\V/TPL

N EWE 43,596 -

PTHEERMIAZBEFRATEKS Realised fair value gain on derivative financial

instruments - 21,066
PTESmMIAZ RERATERE Unrealised fair value gain on derivative

financials instruments - 7,123
AR 2 e R Rental concession related to COVID-19 2,074 521
EmpE - TIRBMEARA Product development and tooling income 3,028 1,248
HE EER AN R RS 2 e Gain on disposal/dilution of associates 24,360 307
HETH  ER  ERMFSME 2z Gain on sales of parts, samples, scrap and

surplus materials 7,387 8,718
BEE AR ZBEREEBERA Management fee income received from

associates 4,196 4,196
wEYZERS A Rental income from investment properties,

Bz 13,0005 7T less outgoings of HK$ 13,000 (2022:

(20224 : 104,000% 7T) HK$104,000) 92 718
EERSWA Operating lease income 3,281 1,505
Bl E b MR - SERARBRIRE Recovery of ECL in other receivables, bad debt

TEHAEE1BR and over provision of claims 6,044 15
& E ARz s (EE37(a) & Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 37(a) and

37(c)) 37(c)) 60,870 47,141
— B R R REIME R 2 R BB Y Gain of bargain purchase of additional interest

in an associate 12,581 -
Firil — M & A B R B 5 18 1o 1% Reversal of impairment loss on interest in an

associate 14,697 -
bE 3 e Exchange gain 23,380 -
WEwEE (Hrka) Compensation for relocation (note a) - 38,919
SHERAEE FH3E34) Reversal of provision for restructuring (note 34) 6,720 75,210
B A B (FffrEb) Reversal of relocation cost (note b) 4,309 24,285
ZFEBEUWA Royalty income 3,727 1,178
= Others 6,339 2,576
E A A R E AU 5 Other income and other gains 263,400 280,888
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7. HitWARE MU Hihk H R EthEE @

OTHER LOSSES (continued)

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS/OTHER EXPENSES AND

2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RFBEERE i Continuing operations
PESMTAZ BDEREAFEERE Realised fair value loss on derivative financial
instruments 11,881 -
TTESMI A2 RERATEEIE Unrealised fair value loss on derivative
financial instruments 624 -
AAFEFABRZBRATAZ Fair value loss on equity instruments
NFEEE at FVTPL - 3,271
B AR FESEEEHN S Nettranslation deficit recognised to profit or
Fi8m loss upon deregistration of a subsidiary 18,513 982
AR SR A AN (MfsEc) Closure and relocation costs (note c) 19,418 86,232
SR (5Ed) Restructuring charges (note d) 10,674 5,950
BRME - WBE KR EZRERE Impairment loss recognised on property, plant
(MiFE15) and equipment (note 15) 20,648 -
R AL E RERE Impairment loss recognised on right-of-use
(Hi3E16) assets (note 16) 2,932 -
ERZI S AR ZREREE (H:E17) Impairment loss on interest in the Associate
(note 17) - 59,947
THME - BRE REE Property, plant and equipment written off 3,332 16,701
Ra‘f‘:@ﬂé o Exchange loss - 28,584
%?K%DE@@WE’ETEWE@E Impairment loss on loan and other receivables 45,691 -
RN ER D (Hitte) Reduction in compensation receivables
(note e) 16,660 -
HAh Others 488 2,884
Hh R E A ESE Other expenses and other losses 150,861 204,551
Fi5E Notes:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

SURBETIEARAF —O==%

M20229 3R 31R ILFE - ALBEEMBUNE
B THRB—M B TRA iR - 302 WEIE IR
FRE9HEE

R2022F3A31A LFE - AEEH—HFHET
PR AR TR - BRI I 2 Al A L A 5808 B R R
B EEZRIBIFHRAERER) - BN 2023F
3ABIAILFEATERK

FIABENEZE2023F3A31HILFE - A&EH
MAURPBEMBEBENR AL TR E R EERE X
FTEOBARR - WOB R EBIRIAKA o

SRBAREAEERNIERFE A ZAPED
FREEA RPN - BIE 20229 3A31AIEFE * K
BRREZFBEM D IKGPERMRER AR ZK
0 RANE BB S R RZI AR R A RS T E
RERMBKERRARMELNER -

BESMTILEFHEANERL (W] W
Yk HE W - 6018 AR B EAMER - A
SEFRBEZEEMENERIE A HEER
RIAUE R (E AN 22 - e R = 202047 3/ 31A
IFBIBR S ERZ AR 2 M ERER - Bat AR
WHEE - FARZMEBZGEN %  EHRE
RRERE  ZEREMBERMEMBRPER -

ZOZ=55%R

()

©)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into an agreement
with a local government for relocation of a PRC factory and had received a
compensation from the local government.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group handed a PRC factory over
to the government and accordingly the relocation cost provision that had been
previously made and mainly represented the demolishing and cleaning cost
of the factory was reversed. The relocation was completed during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The amount included the costs incurred for closure, relocation and renovation
of the Group’s office and rechargeable batteries manufacturing factories
located in China and Hong Kong for the year ended 31 March 2023

Restructuring charges represented the costs incurred for the proposed
internal restructuring of the Group during the financial year, and costs for the
proposed distribution in specie of shares in GP Energy Tech Limited and the
acquisition of Light Engine Technologies Limited by XIC Innovation Limited, an
associate of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Pursuant to the property disposal agreement for the old factory site owned
by GPEHZ (the "Property"), the Group was entitled to an early removal
compensation and incentive based on the actual handover date of the vacated
Property before the expiry of a 60-month rent free use period. An estimated
compensation receivable was included in determining the related property
disposal gain in the financial year ended 31 March 2020. Upon handing
over the Property to the buyer during the year, the parties agreed to a final
compensation and the difference was recognised under other expenses and
other losses.
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8. B 8. FINANCE COSTS
2023 2022
FHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEREEL Continuing operations
BITREMERFEER Interest on bank and other loans 191,701 122,245
HEaENSER Interest on lease liabilities 13,592 15,673
205,293 137,918
9. BRFANER 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
2023 2022
FHET FET
HKS$’000 HK$'000
HEREER Continuing operations
BRIEADEN ERBRIATIER - Profit before taxation has been arrived at after
charging:
EEMWE (FIEE 10) Directors’ emoluments (note 10) 37,978 37,943
HEMBTH< 28 REF Other staff's salaries, allowances and welfare 1,105,175 1,182,877
ETEMNEREF (M) Total employee benefits expenses (note) 1,143,153 1,220,820
M BERZEZITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 185,983 177,198
FREEECTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 82,556 98,642
FERE Allowance for inventories 22,008 2,637
EmR A ERE Amortisation of intangible assets 1,183 77
ZEEMENS Auditor’'s remuneration
KEE Current year 12,371 12,478
FFETRE(REIN) 2 B Under (over) provision in prior years 414 (54
ERAITH 2 FERA Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 4,808,012 5,226,814
HRERE RS EMEREEFEMEREE  Netimpairment loss recognised on trade and
other receivables 39,931 25,849
TEETERAEEGETETHEH Expenses in relating to short-term leases,
HE - REEEEHAEMITSHEENK leases of low-value assets and variable lease
BREA payments not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities recognised in respect of
HEY Rental premises 9,888 9,972
Hih Others 133 208
WEREAT L (BREETEEER) Research expenditure incurred (included in
administrative expenses) 80,571 89,697

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised the
COVID-19-related government subsidies amounting to HK$9,894,000
(2022: HK$823,000) which was deducted from staff salaries.

MiaE - R 20234 3A 31H ILFE - NEBERHEEM
RS AR 2 B R /89,894,000/% 7T (2022
% 823,00087T) - EHETHEPHILE °
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10. EZRABFHREEESFHES 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

EERERTHRESTH Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments and employees’
emoluments
EBRE#R Directors and chief executive
BN RENT+—% (2022F : +=—8) EEK The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eleven (2022: twelve)
BRI directors and the chief executive are as follows:
2023
HAhEm

Other emoluments
*EER BKEF
T RE SRR
Hh#ER Performance Retirement

Salaries and related benefit
we other incentive scheme &t
Fees benefits payments contributions Total
THET THEr T FTHERr FaET
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(i)
(note i)
HITES Executive directors:
IPEE (B3 Victor LO Chung Wing (note ii) 10 8,652 862 613 10,137
R Brian LI Yiu Cheung 10 5,057 2,724 411 8,202
MEL Michael LAM Hin Lap 10 3,833 300 249 4,392
#T11E Brian WONG Tze Hang 10 3,463 74 283 3,830
SREC (HREIV) Victor CHONG Toong Ying (note iv) 10 4,680 300 276 5,266
BE (HEv) Waltery LAW Wang Chak (note iv) 10 4,765 118 18 4,011
FUTES Non-executive director:
RKE Karen NG Ka Fai 230 - - - 230
BYFHITES Independent non-executive directors:
ELEES LUI Ming Wah 280 - - - 280
R Frank CHAN Chi Chung 270 - - - 270
PRE R CHAN Kei Biu 230 - - - 230
ERE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung 230 - - - 230
1,300 30,450 4,378 1,850 37,978
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

10. ESRAEBFHR A EESFMES @ 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

EERARTHRESESTH @ Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments and employees’
emoluments (continued)
EEREHR Directors and chief executive (continued)
2022
Ho A Er

Other emoluments
~IIEHE RIKER
ek BBz BEIGEA

H{higH| Performance  Retirement

Salaries and related benefit
ik other incentive scheme &5t
Fees benefits payments contributions Total
FHET FHT FAL FHT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(I=ED)
(note i)
HITES Executive directors:
FREE (P3Eil) Victor LO Chung Wing (note ii) 10 8,651 2,014 613 11,288
BEEE (Bt Richard KU Yuk Hing (note iii) 3 471 - 44 518
AR Brian LI Yiu Cheung 10 4,852 1,742 394 6,998
PREEL Michael LAM Hin Lap 10 3,730 870 242 4,852
#HFfE Brian WONG Tze Hang 10 3,344 504 272 4,130
RELC FiTFFiv) Victor CHONG Toong Ying (note iv) 8 3,397 960 199 4,564
#E (fTEEiv) Waltery LAW \Wang Chak (note iv) 38 3,614 717 14 4,353
FHTES Non-executive director:
RKE Karen NG Ka Fai 230 - - - 230
BIYFHITES Independent non-executive directors:
mEREE LUI Ming Wah 280 - - - 280
PR Frank CHAN Chi Chung 270 - - - 270
FRE4E CHAN Kei Biu 230 - - - 230
BRE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung 230 - - - 230
1,299 28,059 6,807 1,778 37,943
Bt eE - Notes:
() FRABEEZEDRBEZFEEEEE  ARE () The performance related incentive payments were determined with reference
R AT BE TSR BT EE to the operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics for both years.
(i) ZBPLREEREARNARGE - P LMl EZ (i) Mr. Victor LO Chung Wing is also the chief executive of the Company and his
B BEERRE TR 2 R o emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the
chief executive.
(i) EEEREELAER2021F 78 1HBREIHNITES - (iii) Mr. Richard KU Yuk Hing was retired as executive director on 1 July 2021.
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EEZRABFHRESHM o

EERER »
(iv) RRCEERERZHREN2021F 77 1IREE(E
RBRITES

(v) AEFMBHTESHH  TBIZREMEARER
AEBEEMIEEEY - U LAEBYIIFRTES
FIERITERHH - TERWEEARREEZR
% o

BES
AEERAFEESFHzZARRERERRTNS
(2022%F : %) AREFHAE EMezH5
W EFTED o R2023F 3R 31R IFFE Hir— 5
(2022%F &) AEEZRSHFW IR DRES
BEZFHMIT

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments and employees’
emoluments (continued)
Directors and chief executive (continued)

(iv) Mr.Victor CHONG Toong Ying and Mr. Waltery LAW \Wang Chak are appointed
as executive director on 1 July 2021.

(v) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The independent non-executive directors’ and non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year included four
(2022: five) directors or the chief executive of the Company, details of
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining
one (2022: nil) highest paid employee of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023, not being a director of the Company, are as follows:

2023 2022

FBT FH&T

HK$’000 HK$'000

e REMET Salaries and other benefits 4,110 -
REMREEZE S Performance related incentive payments 855 -
RIRERIEEIHR Retirement benefit scheme contributions 257 -
5,222 -

fefaFrBgEEmT -

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

EE#A
No. of employees
2023 2022

5,000,001% 7T — 5,500,000/ 7T

RREFEAN TEETREHFMzZORES
(BREF  BINER) MSFEREBINARE
IMARE E 2 R SR ERA 2 18 - RWE
FER  BEESHEIMRTNHE -

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 -

No emoluments was paid to the five highest paid individuals (including
directors, chief executive and employees) as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during
both years. None of the directors or the chief executive has waived any
emoluments during both years.

12/



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro

e BHmRNTE

11. #1\8 11. TAXATION
2023 2022
FEx FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEKEER Continuing operations
(ki The charge comprises:
BEBFIER Hong Kong Profits Tax
—ARFERIEA - charge for the year 8,823 10,747
—AFE TR N B - under (over) provision in previous years 2,609 (119)
11,432 10,628
B AN b [ B TR Taxation in jurisdictions other than Hong Kong
—ARFERIEA - charge for the year 46,179 43,885
—EFE 2 BEINEE - overprovision in previous years (20,124) (13,303
26,055 30,582
37,487 41,210
RERIES I (F3E33) Deferred taxation charge (note 33)
—REE - current year (23,314) (2,291)
14,173 38,919

20234 M 2022F MIEFE - BENGHRIZE
ENEHE16.5%:1H -

EBAIMNE T BB ZAEHR - TERTE
EMSH ([REMETA]D MAEBRBMRS
B+ 2 BI AT % 25% 0 19%E1TH

ARE[EE T B S I E R R A Sl
EERNMAIRA 1ID%BEEMERE - SHHEZE
MEARPECEMSHREBR A ABLRE
BE -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Income tax on profits assessable outside Hong Kong mainly arose
from PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and United Kingdom
corporate income tax was calculated at a rate of 25% and 19%,
respectively.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are eligible as
High and New Technology Enterprise and are entitled to preferential
income tax rate of 15%. Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC of those
subsidiaries has been provided for after taking these tax incentives into
account.
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11. HE @) 11. TAXATION (continued)

MIB $REROT - A statement of reconciliation of taxation is as follows:
2023 2022
FER FiEIT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
(restated)
(EH )
R A5t AT A Profit before taxation 100,410 282,315
HEBHERE16.5%(20224F : 16.5%) Tax charge at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of
FTEZBRIBER Y 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) 16,568 46,582
Frt B & AR 2 RIS & Tax effect of share of results of associates (22,782 (51,744
TERIER S T2 RETE Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes 44,786 45,835
RRMA 2 BTG R E Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purposes (56,024) (17,333)
RERH BB RMETE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 49,333 37,313
EREERERNIEEE 2 BETE Tax effect on utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised (15,003) (22,399)
BEAIMNBETRBIER 22 Effect of different tax rates in jurisdictions
other than Hong Kong (3,656) 1,338
BB RAR D BE Il 2 BRI E Withholding tax on distributed and
undistributed profits 18,466 12,749
TFE 2 FINEE Over provision in previous years (17,515) (13,422)
REERIE Taxation charge for the year 14,173 38,919
12. B2 12. DIVIDENDS
HE2023F3A31ALFE - AARIEBIRALER No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
RERBSERRBEMRE - AMEPLEER Company during the year ended 31 March 2023, nor has any dividend
BINEEFRIRE RIS (2022F : ) - been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022: nil).

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%% 129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro

e BHmRNTE

13. BRI K

M2021F6A31A - ARET T EEWHE - N
HEARRZEMNBARZIUTEESERAR
(IRIITEEZ]) NEHEBHITERAN - EATS
TSR IGIT R 20214 OA 30H s 2 ATERK ([%75
HED - EREBHENKRN 2 LTXR SN
ARBE—2EMBAREMNSILRREHER
AR (EMEILARR]) BETER - EEME I
BREKBUASILTEESGN2ENBRSF -
SWTEES RBMNSIIRREBRAEER)TE
R - EFHEE R 2021F8A31AK -

REZE 2022630 31B ILFER - BRIEAERS
EBHEEHIIAT -

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 31 May 2021, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to sell the entire issued share capital of GP Industries Marketing
Limited (“GPIM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, inter alia,
conditional upon the satisfaction of various conditions precedent on
or before 30 September 2021 (the “Business Disposal”). As a condition
of the Business Disposal, GPIM and Huizhou GP \Wiring Technology
Ltd. (“"GPWT"), another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, shall
undergo a reorganisation such that GPWT shall become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of GPIM at completion. GPIM and GPWT comprised the
Group’s automotive wire harness business. The Business Disposal was
completed on 31 August 2021.

The loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 from the discontinued
automotive wire harness operation is set out below.

HZE 20224
3A31IHIEFE
Year ended
31.3.2022
FAxT
HK$'000

REFTBRRES

HETERAGEBER (15E37(0)

Profit of automotive wire harness operation for
the year 930
Loss on disposal of automotive wire harness

HEHE

operation (see note 37(b)) (16,696)
Tax expense on the disposal (1,848)
(17,614)

Bt AR R A M2 mKERMN TERRE
B 2021448 10 £ 20214 85 31H B Y %

The results of the automotive wire harness operations for the period
from 1 April 2021 to 31 August 2021, which have been included in the

SR

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
were as follows:

HZE=20214F

8A 31H [LHAR

Period ended

31.8.2021

FHET

HK$'000

= Revenue 83,937
SHERA Cost of sales (70,143)
E A A R H AU 5 Other income and other gains 795
HE RHHEH Selling and distribution expenses (6,371)
TR Administrative expenses (6,685)
Hofth 32 H % B Other expenses and other losses (72
BFRSR AN Finance costs (346)
BB A A Profit before tax 1,115
| Income tax expense (185)
ARfE R F Profit for the period 930

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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13. BARIEREEK @

RIMEEXBMHRMNBEEEATAS

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Profit for the period from discontinued operations includes the following:

HZE20214

8HA 318 |- HAfA

Period ended

31.8.2021

FET

HK$’'000

IZ AN & Auditor’s remuneration 273

HiBITH< - 28 REF Other staff's salaries, allowances and welfare 21,200

W - BERREITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 951

FREEECITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 673

FEEE Allowance for inventories 50

REAEZHZTFERA Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 70,093

PN and after crediting:

RITIHE R REMEET 2 FBIA Interest income from bank deposits and

balances 22

BE2022F3A3IEIEFE  €IUTEE S
BENMESUERRAEENE RS RFETRT
REMmH#7,5677,0008 7T » BIRE BB 4
433,000/8 7T + I 3k E & B 52 1949 358,000

BTT

TUTEREZGREMSIRRNEEANNEE

N B EREERHRES7(0)HKEE -

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

activities.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, GPIM and GPWT contributed
cash outflow approximately HK$7,577,000 to the Group’s net operating
cash flows, paid approximately HK$433,000 in respect of investing
activities and paid approximately HK$358,000 in respect of financing

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of GPIM and GPWT at
the date of disposal are disclosed in note 37(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

14. SRER 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

HERCEER
BRARDBEEAZFEEEEBERERER
TR IO BEATE

From continuing operations
The calculation of the basic earnings per share from continuing operations
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2023 2022
FExT FiET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
(EFTHRT)
BRI Earnings
BRARNBIES A2 FLER Profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company
FHEISE T8 .2 2 Fm A Profit for the year from continuing operation 36,930 171,977
BRI EEB 2 F BB Loss for the year from discontinued
operations - (15,074)
FTESEEE DRI RS EBERER  Profit for the purpose of basic earnings per
BRIz F5 7 share from continuing and discontinued
operations 36,930 156,903
¥ +
'000 ‘000
BRHEE Number of shares
FTESRERRN FRBEITEER Weighted average number of ordinary shares
A& 17 B9 hnte 19 21 in issue during the year for the purpose of
calculating basic earnings per share 915,475 791,698

STESREARMN 2 B BT E B B INEF
BEE 20225 27 140 BV HAEH T -

FRSERCRILREXEYR
ERARFEAANBGRHELERERIEEE
F 7% 1) 2 4 F1) 36,930,000% 7T (20224 :
166,903,000/ 7T) 1 kil /3 & 5 AR B A & F 8
DR BEKERCRIEREEBNERELRR
A4 0B (20226F : §&19.871L)

SRIERERR

BZE2022F3A31AIEFE - ERARFHEAR A
FE(h B £ L8 & X T8/ 2 F 5518 16,074,000/%
T DG ESRERBNN D& - BRIEEE
EBHNEREREERAL.E -

MREZE2023F3ABIH I FEWBEILER
B BUEBREE LEERBOGRARET
ZAE -

REZE 20234 3A 31H 20224 3A 31H 1L
FENIREEERRG - FURRRESRE
BRI ZEE -
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The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share has been adjusted for rights issue on 14 February
2022.

From continuing and discontinued operations

Basic earnings per share for the continuing and discontinued operations
is HK4.0 cents (2022: HK19.8 cents), based on the profit for the year from
the continuing and discontinued operations attributable to the owners of
the Company of profit of HK$36,930,000 (2022: HK$ 156,903,000) and
the denominators detailed above for both basic earnings per share.

From discontinued operations

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the basic loss per share for the
discontinued operations is HK1.9 cents, based on the loss for the year
from the discontinued operations attributable to the owners of the
Company of HK$15,074,000 and the denominators detailed above for
basic earnings per share.

No computation of basic earnings per share for the discontinued
operations for the years ended 31 March 2023 is disclosed as there is no
discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2023.

No computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022 is disclosed as there are no potential
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2022.
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15. 9% - BERRE 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

KAER

THREE Y BERRE IERIA

Freehold 2L S EE£E  Machinery Moulds HREE

land and Owned  Leasehold and and  Assetunder Aty at
buildings  properties improvements  equipment tools  construction Others Total

T T FEx T T T T Fin
HK$'000  HK$O00  HK$O00  HK$000  HK$000  HK§O00  HKPO0O  HK$000

()
(note)
BASE COST OR VALUATION
#2021 4R 17 At 1 April 2021 81,667 733,204 163,396 2,267,497 410,288 708,334 185,017 4,549,403
L Currency realignment (950) 28,669 2,108 38,337 10,693 25,326 1,648 105,821
£ Additions - 404 11,133 33,697 42,763 210,376 4,294 302,667
e Disposals - (3,240) - (49,616) (5,809) (30 (6,796) (65,491)
i Written off - (34,796) - (54,636) (4,765) - (281) (94,478
HERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - (11,577) (27,812) (4,825) - (1,224 (45,438
et Transfer - 554,856 10,795 54,768 16,983 (640,461) 3,009 -
2022537318 At 31 March 2022 80,717 1,279,087 175,805 2,262,235 465,328 303,545 185,717 4,752,484
SHRE Currency realignment (3,707) (88,366) (5,711) (86,555) (23,757) (21,765) (4,305)  (234,166)
& Additions - 328 12,381 47,615 16,938 205,215 10,329 292,806
e Disposals - (11,363) (1,709) (37,445) (2,874) - (3,515) (56,906)
i \Written off - (6,236) - (48,334) (5,557) - (2,603) (62,730)
i Transfer - 44 868 51,746 107,243 58,027 (325,189 63,305 -
#2023%3A 317 At 31 March 2023 77010 1,218,318 232,562 2,244,759 508,105 161,806 243,928 4,691,488
2R Comprising:
KA At cost 46,255 1,218,318 232,562 2,244,759 508,105 161,806 248,928 4,660,733
(& —1004% At valuation - 1994 30,755 - - - - - - 30,755
77010 1,218,318 232,562 2,244,759 508,105 161,806 248,928 4,691,488

FERAE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
2021 4F 18 At 1 Aprl 2021 20,703 168,213 122,720 1,655,309 219,406 - 128,425 2,314,776
FHHE Currency realignment (29) 7,217 1,591 27,538 4319 - 1,239 41,609
REEER Provided for the year 1,039 24,505 14,506 97,079 29,856 - 11,164 178,149
HERER Eliminated on disposals - (445) - (45,302) (4,388) - (6,714) (56,849)
HERRR Eliminated on written off - (26,707) - (47,040) (3,665) - (265) (77,677)
HENRBARRRR Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries - - (11,577) (16,855 (4,169 - 1,100 (33,702
#202243A 318 At 31 March 2022 21,447 172,783 127240 1,670,729 241,359 - 132,748 2,366,306
L Currency realignment (998) (12,289 (4,246) (65,583) (10,717) - (3,275) (97,108)
RERE Provided for the year 985 31,482 14,442 90,887 32,400 - 15,787 185,983
HE Impairment - - 758 3,456 2,106 - 14,328 20,648
LERTR Eliminated on disposals - (2,179) (1,482 (36,317) (2,660) - (3,102 (45,732
AR Eliminated on written off - (6,079) - (46,466) (4,499 - (2,354 (59,399)
12023 3R318 At 31 March 2023 21,434 183,726 136,712 1,616,706 257,989 - 154,132 2,370,699
REE CARRYING VALUE
#2023E3A 318 At 31 March 2023 55,576 1,034,592 95,850 628,053 250,116 161,806 94796 2,320,789
#202243A 318 At 31 March 2022 59,270 1,106,304 48,615 591,506 223,969 303,545 52,969 2,386,178
i HmeaiERAMER  EEED A Note: Others included furniture and fixtures and motor vehicles with carrying values of

82,274,000 7t (20224 : 41,584,000 7T) HK$82,274,000 (2022: HK$41,584,000) and HK$12,522,000 (2022:

12,522,000 7T (20224 : 11,385,000% HK$11,385,000), respectively.

JT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

15. 1% - BERRE @ 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continuec)

ME - BB RRE (EREENMKARE Lk
81 2 ARSI (B A B A AT AT A 4 HR e AL A AR
HREERATHEXNERESFNEREH

S

FE 2% 4%

TS 2% Z 5% SRR 84
MEFH EEEE)

ROEEEE 10% 25 33Y, % K IZ E 5]
T
(EEEE)

A K2 55 A 10%=33,%

THEETA 10%2=50%

Eih (BRE - BB 5%E33/%

BAE)

20235 37 31H & 20224 3A31H LFE
REEYE —HEERE R EERNIME 2 5
LM - B LR ELEREEENREEETT
TEE ZEERNEIFEELEBR - BERATK
CEeREDREEREETE  EREEREE
EEMEZEMUBREDZBARSRE
KA EIRE IR K 13.2% (20224 : 13%) EE -
Eit - BE2023F3A3IHIEFE - B -
BE &gkt AEEERDRERED NG
20,648,000/ 7t 1 2,932,000/ 7T (20224 :
) o
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Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or valuation of items of
property, plant and equipment, except for asset under construction
and freehold land, over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line method,
at the following rates per annum:

Straight-line method:

2% to 4%

2% to 5% or over the remaining period
of respective leases where shorter

10% to 33'/,% or over the remaining
period of respective leases where
shorter

Machinery and equipment 10% to 33/,%

Moulds and tools 10% to 50%

Others (representing furniture, 5% to 33'/,%
fixtures and motor vehicles)

Buildings
Owned properties

Leasehold improvements

During the year ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the Group
carried out a review of the carrying amounts of certain property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of a plant engaged in
the manufacturing of a particular type of battery product which had
incurred losses in previous years. The recoverable amount of the plant
was determined based on a value in use calculation using the cash flow
projection from latest financial budgets approved by management with
a pre-tax discount rate of 13.2% (2022: 13%) and, as a result during
the year ended 31 March 2023, impairment losses of HK$20,648,000
and HK$2,932,000 (2022: nil) were recognised on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets respectively.
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16. EREEE 16.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

SURBETIEARAF —O==%

BRRRE
HERE Machinery
Leasehold and Hith =
building equipment Others Total
FHEL FHEL FHEL FHL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2023% 3R 31A As at 31 March 2023
FEE Carrying amount 251,139 9,524 2,091 262,754
#W2022%3A 31H As at 31 March 2022
FEE Carrying amount 276,532 13,337 1,784 291,653
HBZ2023F3A31BLFEE For the year ended 31 March 2023
2EHE Depreciation for the year 78,258 2,782 1,516 82,556
RHREER Expense relating to short-term leases 1,741
REBEEREER Expense relating to leases of low-value
TREREBEEECLREESE) assets, excluding short-term leases of
low-value assets 68
AERENRER Expense relating to variable lease
TEERREREHEZN) payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities 8,212
HER RGeS Total cash outflow for leases 98,610
BRREEELN Additions to right-of-use assets 66,994
BZ202253A31ALFE For the year ended 31 March 2022
2ERE Depreciation for the year 94,086 2,964 2,165 99,215
RHREER Expense relating to short-term leases 2,115
REBEEREER Expense relating to leases of low-value
TEEEEEEEZRE assets, excluding short-term leases of
HE) low-value assets 167
AEHENTER Expense relating to variable lease
TEERREREHEZN) payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities 7,898
HERS L BE Total cash outflow for leases 101,658
FREEEEN Additions to right-of-use assets 120,511

AEEHEXEHEESE - = - B RE
MAERBAREER - HEARMWEBEEHARA
1F =165 - HEGFEREENER BEEE
B - B E 8B ARAERRAIGE - NEBEE
HEE G R G HIRES - SRAA
R E 2 I HEE A B FT SR BT TRV EAR

ZOZ=55%R

The Group leases various leasehold building, motor vehicles, machinery
and equipment and office equipment for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 15 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a

contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.
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e BHmRNTE

16. FAEEE @ 16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

UESh - AREERE — LB TR LB R EEE
RiEEBFEANTE - AEBERZEMEES
BVEMEA A - EEMEE LA T HERIA
BRI SED IR - BEEMEMEE LA A
@I -

AEBEHREERT  BELEMREILE
HATHE - M 2023F3A31H - EHERAEE R
M REaEHESERAREAS AL -

ETRABASER2TRRENR - (FRERE
MR EEREN LA ARG REAEE
BEMHR -

HER %

BE2023F3A3IALEE - HETEEHA
HAR A BEIRE A S BER (T EHTE b A R 15
HERGHMEESRR - ELE SRR ML
RIEMBERER  TENABBHBERSLE
16.46BH A& it - I B AR EE BRI {7
HIDERFHEE LB 2R BREE SR - BH
HASHEBEEENRERIHA MY HETRES
B & /52,074,000 7T (20224 : 521,000/
L) R BB R EHENIR -

HERSBHZY

gEoh - 2023 3A31H - REE & E
287,310,000 % Jt ( 2022 % : 322,409,000
B 7T) KRRz (8 B A E 262,754,000/ 7T
(20224 : 291,653,000/ 7T) © Br 7 HAHEFF
AMEEEETMEMERI  BERRLEE
MEMAE - HEBETSREREER -

HEREHERS -EH -FHEA
RTEFEEREENENEENBRERFR -
AEBERSR TR FERER HEREHE
R - BLAFERN BB BRSLERE
15 ESR - ABRBTHEEENHE -
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In addition, the Group owns some office buildings and several industrial
buildings where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests. The leasehold
land components of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leasehold building,
machinery and other equipment. As at 31 March 2023, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense was related as disclosed in this note above.

Leases of certain warehouses only contain variable lease payments that
are based on the percentage of usage on certain warehouse over the
lease term. All other leases are with only fixed lease payments.

Rent Concessions

During the year ended 31 March 2023, lessors of the relevant retail
stores provided rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of COVID-19 pandemic to the Group through rent reductions. These
rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence of COVID-19
pandemic and met of all of the conditions in HKFRS 16.46B, and the
Group applied the practical expedient not to assess whether the changes
constitute lease modifications. The effects on changes in lease payments
due to forgiveness or waiver by the lessors for the relevant leases of
HK$2,074,000 (2022: HK$521,000) were recognised as negative
variable lease payments.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$287,310,000 (2022: HK$322,409,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$262,754,000
(2022: HK$291,653,000) as at 31 March 2023, The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Sale and leaseback transactions - seller-lessee

To better manage the Group’s capital structure and financing needs,
the Group sometimes enters into sale and leaseback arrangements
in relation to land and building leases. As these legal transfer satisfies
the requirements of HKFRS 15, it is accounted for as a sale of land and
building.
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17. Fri6 & A R

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022
Fix F&T
HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
(EFHET)
/NS EC = I DN Cost of investments in associates
il Listed 84,467 230,962
JEE™ Unlisted 348,892 319,632
PTG EE & a7 R E 2 G - Share of post-acquisition profit and other
AR E WAL S comprehensive income, net of dividends
received 1,217,814 1,576,064
1,651,173 2,126,658
i NI Amounts due from associates 9,880 16,927
BRI Allowance for impairment loss (46,459) (61,156)
1,614,594 2,082,429
RS A3A31IH 2 A E (H:E) Fair value of listed shares at 31 March (Note) 222,076 492,917

MiE - EWRENDTERETSREFRANEERE
R BB HETE ©

B DR RS BRI R B MO8 B B EERK
H-gBZER  ARESISERSHEER
B+ —EARRHERER - Hit - HSEINE
FERBEE -

FiT A5 B 2 2 A) M 25 B+ 7 2 87,420,00078 7T
(20224 : 77,237,000/ 7T) °

20226 3A31H - AEEEREZ R (K2E
SNEPEENE R) BREEBURTE - BAER
Ei SRR HIBBRE R B T EE RS
ASMNEIR R B IR EAATE NI RORE 1) - IRIBEIE
BEDRETFHB S ARMHES - Btk
RE BB B, - B2 RRHBRAEEE
TF% o WS - BEMZEEHRER ORI - RE
HER T ZREAEHIER  SRREISNERE
FHEBRBERRE RUMBINRZHTFERIFE
BIHRBAEBZINE - Ait - AEEERERR
BTSN - EOREHREMEERFE - Aitst
=N mERFL 2 ERIEDY, 947,000 7T °

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

Note: The fair value of the listed investments is determined based on the quoted
market bid price multiplied by the quantity of shares held by the Group.

The amounts due from associates are unsecured and interest-free and
have no fixed repayment terms. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
would not demand for the repayment within the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the amounts are shown as
non-current assets.

Included in the interests in associates is goodwill of HK$87,420,000
(2022: HK$77,237,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the management of the Group had considered
that the geopolitical situation, capital control measures and the sanctions
on Russia had significantly restricted its ability to realise any economic
benefit in its capacity as a foreign shareholder of the Associate with
reference to the external lawyer's opinion. Based on the financial
performance of the Associate estimated by management covering a five-
year period, it was anticipated that due to the various sanctions on Russia,
there would be a general decline in revenue of the Associate. Also, in
response to the sanctions imposed on Russia by a number of countries,
Russia has implemented a number of capital control measures including
restrictions on disposal of Russian investments by foreign investors
and restriction of foreign currency transfers to overseas counterparties
for non-trade related debts. As a result, the management of the Group
considered that it is unable to estimate a reasonable fair value of the
investment other than a zero value and recognised a full impairment of
HK$59,947,000 on the interest in the Associate.
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17. Frb & D RER @) 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

20234 3A31H - ZEISMNEEMNER - B
BRAFANERFBRRIARE fIEEOL B
% BAREBIERNGIEMEREEEIERIIE
BRERLENAZNGENNERTE - AREE
BERA  NEENEE QR ST ERER
PR - REEEEHFHREDF B E R BH
BRE  ERIBEARSEERT AR - AR
RAEHIRA IR R - AREIR K 28.0% AR
BESRETRA - Bt - XEEERESEHE
A B ANHE £ B (£ (B 1E 39,092,000/8 TTHERR
HLHEE R FEHRIE 14,697,000/ 7T 2 B #

MREEEMBFRRRENSOR D 1% - (£
BEES SRR 1,708,000% 7T sk 1 N
1,578,000 T °

B E2023F3A31R IEMERFE - NER B
AR IR B 11,543,000% 7T (20224 -
) - WHER G Z 2 RE N 40,508,000/ 7T
(20224 : 6,969,000/ 7T) °

TEBENRZFHBERNRA 49

FTEBEAR M BERRBE
BHAKEEEME AR ZHBENBRETIM
T NTHBERNBEZARBEEEMBREEN
RELZBERR M EMRATREHE °

JRi P8 R R THRA AR AT ([208]) 24
SENEABLLT  REAUBERRMESE
B -

As at 31 March 2023, taking into consideration the external lawyers'
opinion, the actual financial performance of the Associate during the year,
and the actual impact of the current geopolitical situation, capital control
measures and the sanctions on Russia on the Group's ability to realise
the economic benefit as a foreign shareholder, the management of the
Group considers that there was an indication of impairment reversal of
the Group's interest in the Associate. Based on the financial performance
of the Associate estimated by management covering a five-year period,
it was anticipated that the Associate will continue business as usual and
there will be a steady growth in revenue of the Associate. Discount rate of
28.0% per annum was used to discount the cashflow forecast. As a result,
the management of the Group recognised a reversed of impairment of
HK$ 14,697,000 on the interest in Associate with reference to the value in
use of the equity interest in the Associate of HK$39,092,000.

If management's estimate of discount rate increases or decreases by 1%
per annum, the amount of value in use would decrease by HK$ 1,708,000
or increase by HK$ 1,578,000 respectively.

The Group has received a dividend of HK$ 11,543,000 (2022: nil) from the
Associate and recognised share of profit of Associate of HK$40,508,000
(2022: HK$6,969,000) during the financial year ended 31 March 2023,

Particulars of the principal associates are set out in note 49.

Summarised financial information of material associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material
associates is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

XIC and Meiloon Industrial Co, Ltd. (“Meiloon”) are the material associates
to the Group and are accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

ZEMAIREKE AR XIC and its subsidiaries

2023 2022
FTExT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
(EFHR)
MENVEE Current assets 2,228,224 2,441,155
IEMENEE Non-current assets 1,378,209 2,072,379
mEBAE Current liabilities 1,581,431 1,464,140
EREAaE Non-current liabilities 137,460 86,631
eI Non-controlling interests 23,042 14,020
B Revenue 1,966,380 5,442,910
2Fm M Profit for the year 53,204 533,761
FEEMEEZH Other comprehensive expense for the year (54,454) (19,752

2ERE (ZH) Waies Total comprehensive (expense) income
for the year (1,250) 514,009
F NI AIE 2 BB Dividend received from XIC during the year - 163,451

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

XIC and its subsidiaries (continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

carrying amount of the interest in the associate in respect of XIC
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
EFm)
REINZEEIRIEAE A 2 ZEEIBIFEE  Net assets of XIC attributable to
owners of XIC 1,864,500 2,948,743
REBTEZEEAEEER L] Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest in XIC 39.13% 38.13%
i Blal e F &&= Share of net assets of XIC 729,579 1,124,356
(EES Goodwill 40,822 28,242
Hih Other adjustment (15,317) (2,537)
REBE LR IR 2 BREE Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in XIC 755,084 1,150,061
EEREHMBAE Meiloon and its subsidiaries
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MENVEE Current assets 1,386,181 1,780,987
IERBEE Non-current assets 687,904 693,832
mEAE Current liabilities 483,920 635,849
ERBAE Non-current liabilities 460,563 573,033
e i Non-controlling interests 85,244 83,886
BEEE Revenue 905,174 1,050,531
2 F @A) Profit for the year 24,190 58,123
2FHEMEEEA ) Other comprehensive income (expense) for the
vear 18,075 (15,832
S ERHEINEERE Total comprehensive income for the year 42,265 42,291
FRMERUEZ IS Dividends received from Meiloon
during the year 16,310 16,248

ZOZ=55%R
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17. FribEtE A RS @ 17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
XEREMBLR @ Meiloon and its subsidiaries (continved)
LI E R E R RN A M IRER A Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
RZBE N REAREEYRAT carrying amount of the interest in the associate in respect of Meiloon

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022
FEx FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEREERAACERFEE Net assets of Meiloon attributable to owners
of Meiloon 1,044,358 1,182,051
NEBEEEHEAER 2 LB Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest in Meiloon 20.27% 20.27%
P EERFEE Share of net assets of Meiloon 211,691 239,602
GES Goodwill 38,855 41,252
Hih A% Other adjustment (257) (276)
NEBFTGERE#ERZ Carrying amount of the Group’s interest
BREE in Meiloon 250,289 280,578
ERHMBFELERAI2A31H - AEER The financial year end date for Meiloon is 31 December. For the purpose
BEBREERIN—ENIASIALEE BB HRE of applying the equity method of accounting, the consolidated financial
ETMIER - At - AEBFERERLKEHB R statements of Meiloon and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
RIEZE2022F 127 318 (20224 : 20214127 December 2022 (2022: 31 December 2021) have been used as the Group
318) IEFEZHFAMBRRESER I ER considers that it is impracticable for Meiloon to prepare a separate set of
VEZ BHY o ¥R 20224 12 A 318 8120234 3A financial statements as of 31 March. Appropriate adjustments have been
318 (20224 : 20214 127 318 8120224 37 made accordingly for the effects of significant transactions between that
31R) 2EEAR S 278 ) « EAHREE date and 31 March 2023 (2022: 31 March 2022), if any.

HEERFEE -
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17. Frib Bt & A aliER @
FEBEABE ARNGEEER

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material

2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
AL ERTIE R The Group’s share of profit 112,394 98,298

AEEREEMEE ) K& The Group’s share of other comprehensive
(expense) income (9,081) 7,015

REBEELEEWGERE The Group’s share of total

comprehensive income 103,313 105,313

REB AR S QAR R EARHE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
interests in these associates 609,221 651,790

20235 3A31H © AR E A RIS EIEIAT
LA

(i) Bk ™ {& 250,289,000 # JT ( 2022 £ :
280,578,000 7T ) M XE B - X[E
WEa &Mk - /\J&LT’ naEES
REMBMAERABD LT - AEE M
{5%@%5}%2023@3}%3 1B 2%
& {8 & 175,160,000 & 7T ( 2022 F :

302,802,000%7t) °

(i) BE ™ 1B 34,445,000 & T ( 2022 F :
31,662,000 7t ) #) Hanoi Battery Joint
Stock Company ( [ Habaco |) & 5 -
Habaco sk AL - ERRAD 7 A&
HRZ G LT o ANEBE PTG Habacoi# iR
20234 3R 31H 7 % B8 /46,916,000
B (20224 1 53,171,000%7T) °

(|||) 2022@3)3315 MBRAOBERD A
RE(TFHEABE]D) RONKREASR
74415000%75"%&’5%77%4&%‘*‘%
Eﬁﬂﬁii HERHOHRAEZESRX SRR
MAERRE LW o REBFTIEIE DT
&%f\mﬁ/\ZOZZEF(BH SIHzMi5EER
136,944,000 7T 720234 3HA 31H -
ZNER BIND S G TR D RHR (AT s o

JE U Bt = N B R IA BB B RE (G 2 S IF BRI T
39-

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

Interest in associates as at 31 March 2023 included the following listed
investments:

U]

(if)

(i)

The shares of Meiloon with carrying value of HK$250,289,000
(2022: HK$280,578,000). Meiloon was incorporated in Taiwan and
its shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. The
market value of the Group's interest in Meiloon as at 31 March 2023
amounted to HK$ 175,160,000 (2022: HK$302,802,000).

The shares of Hanoi Battery Joint Stock Company ("Habaco")
with carrying value of HK$34,445,000 (2022: HK$31,662,000).
Habaco was incorporated in VVietham and its shares are listed on the
Hanoi Stock Exchange. The market value of the Group's interest in
Habaco as at 31 March 2023 amounted to HK$46,916,000 (2022:
HK$53,171,000).

In addition, as at 31 March 2022, the shares of STL Technology
Co, Ltd. ("STL") has a carrying value of HK$74,415,000. STL was
incorporated in Taiwan and its shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation. The market value of the Group's interest in STL
as at 31 March 2022 amounted to HK$136,944,000. As at 31 March
2023, the Group has no interest in STL.

Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from associates are set
out in note 39,
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18. AT EFARMEERE 2RATA 18.EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023 2022
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETRAES 2 A FE () Unlisted equity securities, at fair value
(note) 83,496 90,384

FaE - H o 46,978,000 7T (20224 : 51,378,000
BIT) RAEBIEHA49%(2022F : 49%) a2
—FRPBEKIZ AR EXBEBRHERD
8 o AEET2EZABNABEBNRERE
EXEREHRRENEN - EFR/ARERES
FZRREITEARE  AUZARKIIRAUR
FEFAEMEERGEABRATE -

Note: Included in the above is an investment of HK$46,978,000 (2022:
HK$51,378,000) representing 49% (2022: 49%) equity interest in a company
established in the PRC, which is engaged in selling and distribution business.
The Group does not participate in the daily operations and has no voting
power in the directors' meetings of the company. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group cannot exercise significant influence over the company
and accordingly, such investment is classified as equity instrument at

FVTOCI.
10 B EE 19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
EmBRXH
Product HERE EFB%
[ =7 development Technical Customer &%t
Trademarks Patent expenditure know-how relationship Total
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A COST
R2021F4A 18 K At 1 April 2021 and
20224 3H31A 31 March 2022 85,205 - 129,461 103,616 10,026 328,308
b Yl Additions - 2,500 - - - 2,500
2023437 31H As 31 March 2023 85,205 2,500 129,461 103,616 10,026 330,808
Rt B RRE ACCUMULATED AMIORTISATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
H2021%F 44 18 At 1 April 2021 84,035 - 129,461 103,616 10,026 327,138
TEELERE Provided for the year 77 - - - - 77
#2022%3A31R At 31 March 2022 84,112 - 129,461 103,616 10,026 327,215
EFEEE Provided for the year 77 1,106 - - - 1,183
#H2023F3A31R At 31 March 2023 84,189 1,106 129,461 103,616 10,026 328,398
BREE CARRYING VALUES
#M2023F3A31R At 31 March 2023 1,016 1,394 - - - 2,410
K 20229 37 31H At 31 March 2022 1,093 - - - - 1,093
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20. &

20. GOODWILL
FET
HK$’000
120224 [ 20235 3/ 31H

BERE OREAA SRR RA 21

21. HEZEERNR

R 2058 2 B S R =R EBR AR RS

ELEMEREN - FHIT

At 31 March 2022 and 2023 70,399

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in note
21

21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill set out in note 20 has
been allocated to each individual or group of CGUs as follows:

2023 2022

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

GPI % GP Ind 33,775 33,775
iR (B)K) BHERAR] Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co. Ltd 33,319 33,319
Ei Others 3,305 3,305
A&t Total 70,399 70,399

RAFE  ARERBAESREBARHEE
TRENR -BREeREFRMBBEARIESF
(2022% : 125%) MEMMBRERLSRE
EREEA%ZEB8%(20224F : -1%%24%) + LARHE
AIHTERE11.5%%E 13.2%(20214F : 11.5%%

12.6%) =& -

o TS T AV AT W % 4R A A B
SHE - EREEN S EERRARERE 2
% MELREFBREELHOTSEL o F
T2 0 R T 5 A T U 2 SRS R

BRAITRENREL BN 2 ERRERAE

BE - WRIIPTRVIGERTAR - 2XBLE
BEXHMB R AR NIRm SRR Z 21
TER - HAbEt EEAEENEZRREEENR
SEABNZBERERERESTISEREN
FRZHERENBERERZRERARAL
BE - ERERREMELRRZPEFEER
eI e ReELENNRAERBER

LT

YeEl 58 - Ft I mAERRE o

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

During the vear, the Group performed impairment review for goodwill,
based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial
budgets of each of the CGUs for the next 1 to 5 years (2022: 1 to 5 years)
with reference to annual growth rate ranging from 4% to 8% (2022: - 1%
to 4%) by using the pre-tax discount rate ranging from 11.5% to 13.2%
(2022: 11.5% to 12.6%).

The recoverable amount of each of the CGUs or groups of CGUs has been
determined on the basis of value in use calculation. The key factors for
the value in use calculation are discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
CGUs. The growth rate is based on average industry growth forecasts.
Changes in revenue and direct cost are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculations included budgeted sales and gross margins
and their related cash inflow and outflow patterns, estimated based on
the CGUs' historical performance and management’s expectation of the
market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount
to exceed the recoverable amount of the CGUs thus no impairment would
be recognised.
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22 EREEWRIE 22. NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRERERTE—F U EET Variable-rate loan receivable in more than one
wBim=4 () year but not more than three years (note) - 18,674

B eE - Note:

(o) FUWMEREBBNALE=H  BEITHHEERNEX (@) The loan receivable was advanced to a third party and carries interests at
5.5%5H 8 - W 2023F6RER - ZE=HF-AK prevailing market rates of 5.5% per annum and is repayable in June 2023.
EE-FHNBARMNKRER - ZFE =7 KEEZNE That third party is a shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group. The third party
NEIFOEEEARKERNIER - 81220235 has pledged its interest in that subsidiary as a security for the loan receivable.
3A31IRIEFEMERE R ETEF BN Details of impairment assessment of loan receivable for the year ended 31
39¢ March 2023 is set out in note 39.

23. FE 23. INVENTORIES
2023 2022
FET FAExT
HK$’000 HK$'000

JR Raw materials 397,731 490,935

TR \Work in progress 322,598 384,241

IR Gh Finished goods 512,148 597,870

1,232,477 1,473,046
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24, R ERR Y RERBNRE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

2023 2022
FHExT FiET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEP &2 ERE SR R EWRE Trade and bills receivables from contracts with
customers 986,573 1,145,906
W EERKEE Less: Allowance for credit losses (40,300) (49,973)
946,273 1,095,933
HAbEARTE - e RFBARIE (i) Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments (note) 361,334 544,821
1,307,607 1,640,754
W FERBIES Less: Non-current portion of deposits
BEYE  BERRBAZNZZS Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment (19,706) (18,480)
FEnRBEE RS Non-current rental deposits - (11,372)
(19,706) (29,852)
1,287,901 1,610,902

MiEE - 20234 3A31H - ZeWMIBRBERANER -
BNER  WE - BFE RREENFUA KK
O #EH (20224 : IEERABBHMEE
66,089,0007T) °

KEBRTEESGEPEES  —RB=1TXE
—BAZTRIEF - BFREREEKRER GIKRE
BEEER) RERR SR REHEE R ZRK
DT

Note: The amount mainly includes advance to suppliers, prepaid expenses, advance
payment for property, plant and equipment and VAT recoverable (2022: also
included early relocation subsidy amounted to HK$66,089,000) as at 31
March 2023.

The Group allows its trade customers with credit periods normally ranging
from 30 days to 120 days. The following is an ageing of trade and bills
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022

FHET FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

0-60X 0-60 days 760,577 912,399
61-90k 61-90 days 113,153 130,025
HBEO0K Over 90 days 72,543 53,509
946,273 1,095,933

H2021F 4710 - BEFAKNEEZBIER
#%1,209,361,000% 7T -

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

As at 1 April 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to HK$1,209,361,000.
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24.

25.

26.

EWEFRREmERRERBEARIE @

REMEPH  AEESREETF ZERE
HAERHERATEEEEER - EEERKE
BMER W E R R E M YR Z (R IR -

M 2023 3A31R - AEEREREREHT
BIERRE 418 73 248,106,000/% 7T (20224 :
129,092,000/ 7T) M # & B B a4 e el ik
e B ERAEERTR - 536,161,000 7T (2022
F 1 8,724,000/ 7T) B HEO0OKR K E R -
RIBELEFHRIFERCHNINBER T8
ERREL -

FEME N Lt FE M IR RO R E RS FHIE SR
FE39¢°

UAFEFABRZRATA

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will internally assess the
credit quality of the potential customer and define appropriate credit
limits. The management also closely monitors the credit policy of trade
and other receivables.

As at 31 March 2023, included in the Group's trade receivables balances
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$248,106,000 (2022:
HK$129,092,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, HK$36,161,000 (2022: HK$8,724,000) has been past
due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default based on good
repayment records and the financial background for those customers.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 39.

25. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
FExT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REBR LT RAESH Equity securities listed in United States 958 4,220
TEEMIA 26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2023 2022
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
TTEeBMEE Derivative financial assets
INEIRERE A Foreign currency forward contracts - 955
TEemEes Derivative financial liabilities
HNERERE A Foreign currency forward contracts - 111
A MBI Amount shown in the consolidated financial statements as:
2023 2022
FExT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEE Current assets - 955
mEBALE Current liabilities - 111
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26. {TE€MI A @

INEEBEH

R2022#3HF 314

#2022 3A31H  IMNEEEIE K 2 E 2R
T

=
Notional amount

ZHA

Maturity

26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Foreign currency forward contracts

At 31 March 2022

Major terms of foreign currency forward contracts as at 31 March 2022
are as follows:

AR

Exchange rate

& 1117,500,000% T
Sell USD 17,500,000

27. RITHETF - FRRRE

REERKAZRTER FRERBERE
Ko = {8 A i PA TS B BR 2 58 B R 1T 13 FR A S 1) 2
0.01%Z 3.0%(20224 : 0.001%% 1.50%) 4
HURS,

28. HEAFHEEE

2022547 278 % 20224 12 A 30H
27.04.2022 t0 30.12.2022

Z7t/ AR#¥6.366%6.5108
USD/RMIB6.366to 6.5108

27. BANK BALANCES, DEPOSITS AND CASH

Bank balances, deposits and cash held by the Group comprising cash
and short-term bank deposits with original maturity of three months or
less which carry interests ranging from 0.01% to 3.0% (2022: 0.001% to
1.50%) per annum.

28. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

FHET

HK$'000

R2021647 18 At 1 April 2021 42,214
HEsTE Currency realignment 1,125
HE Disposals (434
M20224 34 31H At 31 March 2022 42,905
HEEEE Currency realignment (2,944)
HE Disposals (39,961)
712023434 31H At 31 March 2023 -

REENREZE 2021331 FFEE BB E
=ARIMNEE RS  BBHEMNBLARLE
B - HEEREHENEE20214 3431
B —FRZER - B S M DEERIIED R

REZ 20226 3A31AILFE - Hbh—BEE R
FERA - BHEMYERBLENBRAS L
BTE @M ARAR ([£WEBL]) HE O
F£37(c)) °

M202343ABIALFE Z—HEEBHE
FERK - HERE TN Y B I M B A R M
FREDERAF (BMEREL]) HE G
37a)) °

M202293A31H BREEEBMIETNIRE DX
ZAHEREEE2EEERRANAEERET
e »

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had entered into two
sale and purchase agreements with independent third parties for the
disposal of certain land and building and investment properties located in
Huizhou, PRC (the "Huizhou Properties") through disposal of subsidiaries.
The disposals were expected to be completed within one year as at 31
March 2021, and accordingly the Huizhou Properties were reclassified as
"assets classified as held for sale".

During the year ended 31 March 2022, one of the sale and purchase
agreements was completed and part of the Huizhou Properties was
disposed through disposal of GP Batteries (China) Limited ("GPB (China)"),
a subsidiary (note 37(c)).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the other sale and purchase
agreement was completed and the remaining Huizhou Properties was
disposed through disposal of Huizhou Modern Battery Limited ("HMBL"),
a subsidiary (note 37(a)).

The fair values of investment properties included in the Huizhou
Properties as at 31 March 2022 were valued by management with
reference to the agreed price according to the sales and purchase
agreement.

14/
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20 EREREAREGHEAR 29. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED CHARGES AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

e RRIBIZ S A N IS B E B 2 R AT

The following is the ageing of creditors presented based on the invoice

POl date at the end of the reporting period:
2023 2022
FET FAT
HKS$’000 HK$'000

JERTER Trade creditors

0-60X 0-60 days 890,294 972,962
61-90X 61-90 days 68,146 150,998
HBEI0K Over 90 days 124,361 64,987
1,082,801 1,188,947
EMEMNRERER (1) Other payables and accrued charges (note) 479,099 575,876
1,561,900 1,764,823

Miat - SRETRBERNEEMAL - —KPENBAF

Note: The amount mainly includes accrual for operating expenses, receipt in

HEYE 2 BIGOR - B & MEE R RN
TR ©

BEERNTIHEELHR60E120K -

K20214F 48 18 - & 498 15 % 51,451,000/
T o

AHEBEIERRREP A o RAHE A
Rz & 4B EMERNE %5 /5109,293,000
77T (20224 : 51,451,000%7T) °

advance from sales of property of a PRC subsidiary, provision for relocation
expenses and other tax payables.

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 days to 120 days.
As at 1 April 2021, contract liabilities amounted to HK$51,451,000.

Contract liabilities are mainly advance payment received from customers.
The amount of revenue recognised in the current reporting period which

relates to brought-forward contract liabilities is HK$ 109,293,000 (2022:
HK$51,451,000).

AREBE T EREE LA TEREE
HEEEQBRRANEEERFXR2.32%=
7.13%( 20224 : 2.32%%5.35%) °

HEREARMEEREZHERBHR)EER
R
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30.HEEE 30. LEASE LIABILITIES
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ENHEEEE: Lease liabilities payable:
—E R EIH Within one year 60,427 78,471
B iA —FE T E R Within a period of more than one year but not
more than two years 44,401 52,656
BIBRE (R RF Within a period of more than two years but not
more than five years 70,141 67,327
fiEpchakes \Within a period of more than five years 112,341 123,955
287,310 322,409
o 128 A REIERS A REI B E Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months shown under current liabilities 60,427 78,471
128 A& EEAF ASER B A S Amount due for settlement after 12 months
shown under non-current liabilities 226,883 243,938

No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements entered
by the Group. The incremental borrowing rates applied by the relevant
group entities range from 2.32% to 7.13% (2022: 2.32% to 5.35%).

Lease liabilities that are denominated in currencies which are same as the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities.
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3L RITER - BEFERHEMER

31. BANK LOANS, IMPORT AND OTHER LOANS

2023 2022
FiBx FiET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EERCHRTERREEEE Unsecured short-term bank loans and import
(B5E) loans (note) 1,723,536 2,355,304
FAERIRTT R EME R 2 RERE G, Current portion of unsecured bank and other
(f15E32) loans (note 32) 750,951 727,641
BT EER R BTN Current portion of secured motor vehicle loan
(f15E32) (note 32) - 17
2,474,487 3,082,962

M AREEERESMRTERREEEENT
BRI RGERAE - F 0 BEFERRTE
REAEEEZEREFNEHERL1.83%=E

Notes: The unsecured short-term bank loans and import loans of the Group are
arranged at floating rates. The effective interest rates of unsecured short-
term bank loans and import loans during the year ranged from 1.83% to

8.05%( 20224 : 1.00%%E5.15%) °

32 |ITREMER

8.05% (2022: 1.00% to 5.15%) per annum.

32.BANK AND OTHER LOANS

2023 2022
FBT FH&T
HK$’000 HK$'000
I RIRTT R EMERER THFEBR The unsecured bank and other loans are
B repayable™:
—FA Within one year 750,951 727,641
BiE—FETEmNE Within a period of more than one year but
not exceeding two years 757,037 579,291
HBimmFE SR E Within a period of more than two years but
not exceeding five years 286,811 161,555
BERAEEREN N FENEES The secured motor vehicle loan is repayable™:
—FR \Within one year - 17
1,794,799 1,468,504
B —FERHE ARSI EE (FFE31)  Less: Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities (note 31) (750,951) (727,641)
EEMTEEFE A, (EE31) Current portion of secured motor
vehicle loan (note 31) - (17)
1,043,848 740,846

Y ENSEERERBATRENEEERAL - *

agreements.

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

T RIRTTREMERE HRRZ KA 7,534,000
BT (20224 @ 8,420,000 7T) - A%KE iR
TREMERNARENE 2 HE BEERRT 2
FEME) B2.30%% 7.64%(20224F : 1.34%
%£5.09%) °

&R E R EE 20234 3A 31H & 20224 35 31
HZ st EENE ST RS 16K

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

Bank and other loans are net of transaction cost of HK$7,534,000 (2022:
HK$8,420,000) arranged at floating rates. The range of effective interest
rates of bank loans (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) on
the Group's bank and other loans are from 2.30% to 7.64% (2022: 1.34%
to 5.09%) per annum.

The Group complied with all financial covenants for the test periods
ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.
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33 EEBIE 33. DEFERRED TAXATION

AEECHERBETIEEERAEZSHNAT Movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the

Group are as follows:

FABER
BREBIE B8
ZITERE  Withholding

BEME  Accelerated tax on
Investment tax  undistributed HEER Hif fit
properties  depreciation profits Tax losses Others Total
TEL TEL TEL TEL TERL TERL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEREEE Deferred tax assets

202154 18 At 1 April 2021 - 11,624 - 2,083 14,080 21,787
EBRE Currency realignment - 174 - 6 149 329
REBREFEA Credit to profit or loss - 370 - 3,562 2,327 6,249
120224 3R 31R At 31 March 2022 - 12,168 - 5,641 16,556 34,365
otk Currency realignment - (647) - 5 (226) (868)
REEREA Credit to profit or loss - (849) - 4,409 (2,600) 960
120235 3R 31H At 31 March 2023 - 10,672 - 10,055 13,730 34,457

BEHESE Deferred tax liabilities
2021F4R 17 At 1 April 2021 2,148 6,501 37,148 - 14,101 59,898
ghaE Currency realignment - (209) - - 753 544
RERRER GrA) Charge (credit) to profit or loss - 3% (3,445) - 7,009 3,958
120224 3A31H At 31 March 2022 2,148 6,686 33,703 - 21,863 64,400
EBE Currency realignment - (137) - - (1,314 (1,451)
HE-RIEAR Disposal of a subsidiary (2,148) - - - - (2,148)
PESERIR GHA) Charge (credit) to profit or loss - 1,337 (7,059) - (16,632) (22,354)
120235 3A31H At 31 March 2023 7,886 26,644 - 3,917 38,447

2023 £ 3 A 31 H X&EHEHFA
2,318,903,000 & Tt ( 2022 4
1,960,958,000/8 7T) 2 A& ATt B EE A T
HIHARRZ G H © SEZIAB LB BRRLENIA
A E60,944,0008 7T (20224 : 34,191,000
BT o MR R s R BOETEN - 30 M R A
T 55 1B #4288 2,257,959,000% 7T ( 2022 :
1,926,767,000/&7T) {EHIEIERI A& E R ©

RIEPEARAMBCEMSHE - AEBEER
2008F 1R 1R ER T E 2 B AR 25k
B SRR R 0 BB MBI TR » AEE IR
BRLEEE2008F 1A 1IHRAREENFEZET
MBS A BIPAS R TIE R 2 2 RAE IR IR
R - RSB pb R fE S E R0 2 R K Ag
Hj= R TR RARKEE - 72023434 31
B AEERREEZBERRRETRFEZ
Bt 88 2 B) 2 AR 3 B MR 99 B IA 20% 2 5% E 15 %
TEIRIE T TA B #4858 /3 26,644,000 7T (2022
£ : 33,703,000/ 7T) °
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At 31 March 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$2,318,903,000 (2022: HK$1,960,958,000) available for
offsetting against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of HK$60,944,000 (2022: HK$34,191,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$2,257,959,000 (2022: HK$1,926,767,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, a withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary difference attributable to profits earned by the Group's certain
PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. As at 31
March 2023, the amount of HK$26,644,000 (2022: HK$33,703,000)
represented the deferred taxation on undistributed profits arising from a
Taiwan associate being recognised at a taxation of 20% and undistributed
profits arising from certain PRC subsidiaries being recognised at a taxation of
5%, respectively.
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34. EAEEE

35.

SURBETIEARAF —O==%

34. PROVISION FOR RESTRUCTURING

2023 2022
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’'000

MEHREBNSIFTOT : Analysed for reporting purposes as:
ERBEE Non-current liabilities - -
REBAE Current liabilities - 24,600
BHBE

Provision for
restructuring

FERx

HK$’000

MR20215 47 18 k2022434 31H At 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 24,600
FANEA Utilised during the year (17,880)
b CIE Reversal of provision (6,720)
MR2023%F 3A31H At 31 March 2023 -

R 2021F 47 18 Z S R ik B BEN &
NEBERBRAEDE S MRS —RE G
FHZ A - BHKAA H£99810,000/8 7T 5
A B ka2 (8 E#51889,810,000/ 7T K B Ak
710,000,000% 7T °

REZE2022F 3A31R IEFE - BEBERE
AEERBEBEEPEEIMNT - ARBER
i R TMMEBRZRD Rt EHEERE
75,210,000 7T - W EEPETA -

BIE 2023 3A31H ILFE @ BETK - FIgk
BV EAEREEME 6,720,000 L2 B I A AR

ZS o

As at 1 April 2021, the provision for restructuring is related to the
estimated cost of relocation of parts of the Group's operations
from Huizhou, PRC to Thailand and the set up of another factory
in a new location in PRC. The provision for restructuring costs of
HK$99,810,000 were related to estimated compensation to employees
of HK$89,810,000 and relocation cost of HK$ 10,000,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, management had decided to
relocate the related Group's operations to within Huizhou, PRC. Since the
compensation to employees is significantly reduced due to the relative
proximity of the previous and current location, an overprovision for
restructuring cost of HK$75,210,000 was reversed and credited to profit
or loss.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the relocation was completed
and the remaining overprovision for restructuring of HK$6,720,000 was
reversed and credited to profit or loss.

&S 35. SHARE CAPITAL
RAEE
Number of
shares
+ FEx
000 HK$’000
EETRAR TR Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
AR 2021448 18 At 1 April 2021 784,693 921,014
HARBIT 2 Rt (BH5E) Issue of shares upon rights issue (Note) 130,782 81,085
BT RIS Transaction costs attributable to issue of
new shares - (3,433)
M 20224 37 318 & 20234 37 31H At 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 915,475 998,666

MizE . W2022%F 28 140 - AR B SH AR
70.628 T RBE R AR BRRIAFT AR
BRI BT — AR AR AR HETT AR (HEAR]) -
g B2 20224 3A B1HATSEAL - W 1T
130,782,168/ & AR - HARFTISFRIELR
#/381,085,0008 7T - HEFBERARFA
/20229 3A BAMMR E 2P HEE -

ZOZ=55%R

Note: On 14 February 2022, the Company announced a rights issue (“Rights
Issue”) on the basis of one rights share for every six existing shares held by
shareholders of the Company at a subscription price of HK$0.62 per rights
share. The Rights Issue was completed and 130,782,158 ordinary shares was
issued before 31 March 2022. The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue was
HK$81,085,000. Details of the Rights Issue were disclosed in the prospectus
of the Company dated 8 March 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

36. KRR RAERE

37

2023F 18  ARRIHMEZEWB AR - KEF GP
Group Limited([KEF GPJ) B— 38 & EF ]
% 7 AR 5 B2 15 2 5= & 49 13,700,000 7t (18
B R #)107,544,000/% 7T) ° s1RE#EITKEF GP
RESEEES  ARBREHERESBBATR
1,000F= s (B8 810 BKEF GPE LA °
ﬂi%%%?ﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬂ%ET@ ER TR ()BT
KEF GPRZZLA & 5 (IRIEKEF GPE i
ﬁﬁiﬁ@%&ﬁ*%ﬁx%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%u ZREEEER
I8 o ARBIEH B ETRBIEE - )88 F X
HEEA - HRARREBERE T FEEANE
REHT eI EMEREE AT MEs
HARRIR AAREBSRE VSRR R IR
Pty — L5 -

S A E)

(a) 2021 1A31H » REEEBIE=7
RV BREEEAR - HESMEANZER
- RERARY 145,670,000 (FHE R4
165,831,000 7T) - BME R EEHAHE
Sk Jﬂ%& R A RERER

36. SIMPLE AGREEMENTS FOR FUTURE EQUITY

In January 2023, KEF GP Group Limited ("KEF GP"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued simple agreements for future equity
("SAFE") for an aggregate amount of US$13,700,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$107,544,000). The SAFE will automatically convert
into preferred shares of KEF GP at a conversion price of US$ 1,000
per share if there is issuance of shares of KEF GP for raising capital. The
SAFE will terminate following (i) the issuance of shares of KEF GP for
raising capital; or (ii) repayment to SAFE investors pursuant to change of
control of KEF GP or dissolution of KEF GP. The SAFE is not mandatorily
redeemable and has no interest rate or maturity date. As SAFE do not
contain any contractual obligation to pay cash or other financial assets,
they are classified as equity and regarded as part of non-controlling
interests in the Group's consolidated statement of financial position.

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@) On 31 January 2021, the Group entered into Equity Transfer
Agreement with an independent third party in relation to the disposal
of the entire equity interests in HMIBL at the consideration of
RMB 145,670,000 (equivalent approximately to HK$165,831,000).
HMBL mainly held leasehold lands property, plant and equipment and

R EHABEUERTE o 72X 5720224 9A 30H trade and other receivables. The transaction has been completed on
TR o 30 September 2022,
30.09.2022
FHIT
HK$'000
BEUAE Consideration received:
BURE Cash received 165,831
KEBGIRNEEFNEEIN Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control
was lost:
FHERE Asset held for sales 39,961
FEUCE 0 e Ho At FE W AR 1B Trade and other receivables 61,020
|ITHET - FREESE Bank balances and cash 148
ERRERER Creditors and accrued charges (148)
BITRE S (& Deferred tax liabilities (2,148)
HEEEFE Net assets disposal of 98,833
HE—RRE AR Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:
BB Consideration received 165,831
HEAEFE Net assets disposed of (98,833
HH S R R S [ 48 Release of reserve upon disposal (6,128
o M s Gain on disposal 60,870
HEEEMFEESRA Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
ReRE Cash consideration 165,831
W HERRITETERRS Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of (148)
20224 3A31A L FE KRR & Deposit received in year ended 31 March 2022 (11,384)
154,299

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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37. HEMBLAR @@

(b) OB EE13FTIRE - FA20215E8A 31H - REE
BREHESITERSNEMNE IIARREH
EHRERRER - U TEXEZNEMNS

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) As referred to in note 13,on 31 August 2021, the Group disposed of its
automotive wire harness operations on disposal of GPIM and GPWT.
The net assets of GPIM and GPWT at the date of disposal were as

LiEREREASHFEEMNT ¢ follows:
31.8.2021
FiEIT
HK$'000
ERRE : Consideration received:
BHHEE Cash received 69,513
KEESIENEEMBEDT Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control
was lost:
Y - BB KRR Property, plant and equipment 11,736
FREEE Right-of-use assets 14,688
FE Inventories 32,026
FEMBRTE K B 5K IE Trade and other receivables and prepayments 86,066
BITET  FRERE Bank balances and cash 13,177
FERTRRTE I H M FERTRRIE Creditors and accrued charges (70,370)
HEBE Lease liabilities (14,785)
FERHITE Taxation payable (352
EEFE Net assets 72,186
GRS Attributable goodwill 1,579
HEAESE Net assets disposal of 73,765
I — IR A B MR Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:
BHRE Consideration received 69,513
HEEEFE Net assets disposed of (73,765)
HERZFELFBEEN D EEER Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve
upon disposal to profit or loss (11,947)
R GRAR Transaction costs (497)
HEEE Loss on disposal (16,696)
HEEENFREMA Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
ReRE Cash consideration 69,513
B HERRTETERS Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of (13,177)
B SRR Transaction costs paid (497)
55,839

SINTEE SREMN S 1L AR RE AR E A H]
FATHEERR S RENTEEM T 13H K

3= o

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

The impact of GPIM and GPWT on the Group’s results and cash flows

in the current and prior periods is disclosed in note 13.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

37. HEMBAR @ 37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(c) M2021F 1A 318 » KEEEBIE =T () On 31 January 2021, the Group entered into Equity Transfer
FIVREEESR  RES LB Agreement with an independent third party in relation to the disposal
1 {8 A AR 0,000,000 H & K4 of the entire equity interests in GPB (China) at the consideration of
111,429,000 7m) - ® LB EERHEF RMB90,000,000 (equivalent approximately to HK$111,429,000).
B HETMEYE  BERERE  %ZXH GPB (China) mainly held inventories, leasehold lands and property,
2022 3A 1A T © plant and equipment. The transaction is completed during the year 31
March 2022.
31.3.2022
FiET
HK$'000
BEUAE Consideration received:
BUERE Cash received 111,429
KEBGIRNEEFNEEIN Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control
was lost:
FHERE Assets held for sales 434
RITHETT - TR ERE Bank balances and cash 41,976
BEFE Net assets 42,410
(EES Attributable goodwill 7,088
HEEEFE Net assets disposal of 49,498
HE—FRE AR Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:
ERE Consideration received 111,429
HEAESFE Net assets disposed of (49,498)
HERZFIELFHENDEEER Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve
upon disposal to profit or loss (14,790)
& e Gain on disposal 47,141
HEEEMFEESRA Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
HERE Cash consideration 111,429
A 20214238 318 IFEEWEINET & Less: Deposit received during the year ended
31 March 2021 (111,429
HERRITEFRRE Bank balances and cash disposed of (41,976)
(41,976)

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023 154



38 EXEMER

ARTERHER - AR EE B A
FEERERE R A RS
BEAABREARR - AEE2 BREHMNE
FEEHTE -

REE 2 ERBEREEFED (BED AN
SIR 2R ZRITER - AEEEREME
BRERITERAEGEFRREREFEARSE) RARQ
AAARIEERD BREGEREZHRP AR
BZOBITRR - REEN R EMERE -

AABEZTE IR BEAERS - (ERAEHN—&
N BEEREARAREZBERFRZAE
%o ARFEFREEANEEMERIARE - &
TEE - BRI RETHEBRELREE
% AT EEEBEANGRE -

38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
bank loans, import and other loans and bank and other loans disclosed in
notes 31 and 32 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
retained profits and other reserves as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

30.¢@T A 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
ST EER Categories of financial instruments
2023 2022
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
REEN AT E s SRVEE Financial assets at amortised costs
— FEUE B H At U BR TE - Trade and other receivables 1,043,464 1,277,573
— AR B - Dividend receivable 25,905 28,117
—iRITETT - FRERE - Bank balances, deposits and cash 1,277,888 1,186,326
L NIV - Amounts due from associates 9,880 16,927
— BB EMRARTE - Non-current receivables - 18,674
AT EFAEMEEREHRATA Equity instruments at F\V/TOCI 83,496 90,384
WA EFFABZHNRATA Equity instruments at F\/TPL 958 4,220
TEEmMITA Derivative financial instruments - 955
2,441,591 2,623,176
LABESER AT BR SR B (E Financial liabilities at amortised costs
— FEERTE - Creditors 1,264,524 1,413,279
—RITER - BEEEREMER - Bank loans, import and other loans 2,474,487 3,082,962
—HRITREMER - Bank and other loans 1,043,848 740,846
TEEMITA Derivative financial instruments - 111
4,782,859 5,237,198
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39. £®IA @ 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuec)

TREAREEEERBE
AEBZEBMTAZHEREMEARE - 5F
SRTAZEREED SRR E¥RRE - 7K
Rk EMERRR) FERARERBDE SR
B o INADREDE L 2 RSB T X - BIE
[BYIR2 5 Rl 1T B TR I By PARE IR 7] LA K2 i LA
BRZHAERE B2 IEE

o

EEmE

20239 [ 20224 3A 310 + AEELINE (B
MRAERERBZNEER) stEIEZERE
ERERAE  eRERERREMEKIRE -
FEURL S - SRITHETR - FRERE - IERBEIK
fRIE - ENRREREMENIERE  RITER B
EEEREMERERITREMERNT

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary
liabilities, representing trade and other receivables, dividend receivable,
bank balances, deposits and cash, non-current receivables, creditors and
other payables, bank loans, import and other loans and bank and other
loans denominated in currencies other than the respective group entities’
functional currencies at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

BE =R

Assets Liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022
FHExT FAET FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
e usD 515,920 499,624 339,229 337,757
AR RMB 253,277 291,970 299,464 314,404
o SGD 4,995 3,965 10,576 5,256
BT Euro 19,692 31,435 12,408 21,902
793,884 826,994 661,677 679,319

BEINER BT REBREBREEZEERA
& - ERESEFETAMINERR - WRLE
FEBETEAIMNERR - WS REEFTIAE
HRXEERATINERRE QAT RINERE
B EFERAAEEREUITESRTANKE
PAEXR - F W EETERE AT -
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Exposures to foreign currency risks are managed as far as possible
by matching assets and liabilities in the same currency denomination.
The management regularly monitors foreign exchange exposure and
considers hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise. In addition, the Group enters into short-term cross currency
swaps and foreign currency forward contracts to manage certain foreign
currency exposure. In the opinion of the directors, the Group’s investments
in those derivative financial instruments are insignificant, therefore, no
sensitivity analysis is prepared.
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TRAMNEASETH T ENEEEREE
RS H B R INE 5% ( 20224F + 5%) #n
MR 2 EE - AR LEEE - BitD
MABEETMB T EE - FlgRERR
MEEBHREEERAREGER  TAEEBHI
BN BREFHNAIEHE - FRESTREEE
BT B MINS s WFEATFEREBREY
(2022F : B5%) WEFRFAE - oW
HTE B E 58 R0 e B #5534 5% (20224 -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%)
increase and decrease in the functional currency of the respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies. The analysis excludes
the fluctuation between United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars
because Hong Kong dollars are pegged to United States dollars. The
rate mentioned above is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the year end for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The
analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% (2022: 5%) strengthening of the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the relevant
foreign currency and a negative number below indicates a decrease in
profit before taxation and vice versa. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening
of the functional currency of the respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite effect on
the results.

2023 2022
FHxT FHIT
HKS$’000 HK$'000
AR RMB 2,309 1,122
AN T SGD 279 65
BT Euro (364) (477)
VilES Interest rate risk

AEEHSAHEEHERBERBAZNEATE
[ o

REBEHRRITHISERTBHAETSNE
WER - RITFR (5228 27) ¥ RRITE
W EEEEREMER (HFE31) RRTT R EA
B (f332) AENRSRENRER

ZIREEH TR RLEETRANE - BEF
AYERERNERNERRE - LRITREFE
(BRITRZEFRL) o MEREEHEEHAEEHRR
ERBRRNTEAREREREENRERN
FHBEN ARG [FREERE] AT

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to lease
liabilities at fixed interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its
variable-rate loan receivable, bank balances and deposits at prevailing
market deposit rates (notes 22 and 27), variable-rate bank loans, import
and other loans (note 31), and bank and other loans (note 32).

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being
undertaken globally, including the replacement of some interbank
offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details of
the impacts on the Group’s risk management strategy arising from the
interest rate benchmark reform and the progress towards implementation
of alternative benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.
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39. £®WIA @ 39.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuec)

SRERSEEEREE @

TEEEE )

FIE @ @
AEBZREREMNERBREEEPRELAE AR
FEERITERZEBRITRZERE - IR
FEF SN FEBRFEZEE - ERERE - A
RETBIRTTAESG 2 B HHIRES - Ak E 28
HRSRTTHEAFTE Y 2 FIRRAB IR EKX o

THIGREE DT T AR S AR EZ BIRITER -
BEEEREMER - RIEFTREGERTDYE
ZHERBABELEMERE ° ZH M IERERE
EHMRKEESHTAAZERIEE - DOEZ
(20224 : BOEZH) E#/ THRAEEERS
MERBRIER  TATEBHANEESHNEIE
ST o

RE DT
HEWER - RITER - BEREEREMER
RARITHE A% BT+ P 50EE (20224
BOZEE) - MAAHMEBERTE » BIAE
I B4 5 AT M R 4200 %9 17,629,000 7T
(20224 : | /#N119,255,0008 7T) °
A M IERE R
AR E BRI BB EHRAES R IE
tmh$ﬁ%2&$1ﬂﬂ o AEEBHEE

AERERERNREEEHEREBE IR

‘% °
v

A A
ISR AT T A B R 2 B B
BAEETERE -

IR AFEFABEN EMRERENER A
T 5% (20224 : 5%) - AN BB T AT E F
#1E 0, R4 48,0005 7T (20224 : 211,000
BT
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, Singapore Interbank
Offered Rate or Prime Rate arising from the Group’s bank borrowings.
The management considers the Group’s exposure of the short-term bank
balances to interest rate risk is not significant as interest bearing bank
balances are within short maturity period.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate loan receivable, bank loans,
import and other loans, and bank and other loans. The analysis is prepared
assuming financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

If the interest rate on loan receivable, bank loans, import and other loans
and bank and other loans had been 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s profit before taxation would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$ 17,629,000 (2022: decrease/increase by HK$19,255,000).

Other price risk

The Group is mainly exposed to equity price risk through its investments
in listed equity securities and unlisted equity securities. The Group has a
team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

If the price of the listed equity investments at F\/TPL had been 5% (2022:

5%) higher/lower, the Group’s profit before taxation would increase/
decrease by HK$48,000 (2022: HK$211,000).
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
arising from the amount of financial guarantees provided by the Group is
disclosed in note 43. Except for the loan receivable secured by a pledge
of certain interest in a subsidiary (note 22), the Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets and financial guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the Company have
delegated the management to be responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit rating system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and rating attributed to customers are reviewed twice a
year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or based on a
collective basis.

The Group does not have any significant concentration of credit risk
over trade receivables. Trade receivables consist of a large number of
customers and spread across diverse industries.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal
credit rating for its customers. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed
based on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
Credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying amount of trade debt of
HK$22,883,000 (2022: HK$13,195,000) and the trade receivables due
from the Associate of HK$43,010,000 (2022: HK$58,178,000) as at 31
March 2023 were assessed individually. As the Group's historical credit
loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on
past due status is not further distinguished between the Group's different
customer base.
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30. ¢RI H @ 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
SREREEBERBER @ Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
EEmEERBEFE @ Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
AEFAAELREREL @ Tradle receivables arising from contracts with customer (continued)
BZE2023F3A31HILFE : For the year ended 31 March 2023:
W
i=E7¢-5 -0 EiEREE L EWER
Gross trade Range of IE3-¢-FS Trade
AEBEETR Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
FExT FExT FExT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EFERR” Very low risk® 548,305 0.01% - 0.29% 977 547,328
KRR Low risk 176,233 0.30% - 1.00% 1,485 174,748
—R R Average risk 127,000 1.01% - 3.50% 1,909 125,091
RER R Moderate risk 42,266 3.51% - 50.0% 10,026 32,240
893,804 14,397 879,407
¥ REHE26,876,000/8 7T 2 IR - * Excluded bills receivables amounting to HK$26,876,000.
BE202243A31HLFE : For the year ended 31 March 2022:
FELL
ERueE EEREHE TEHA FEUE R
Gross trade Range of BEEX Trade
WNEME BT R Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
FHET FA&T FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBERB” Very low risk™ 554,621 0.01% - 0.29% 878 553,743
1K= e Low risk 128,773 0.30% - 1.00% 1,071 127,702
—REE Average risk 305,198 1.01% - 3.50% 6,313 298,885
FERR Moderate risk 58,880 3.51% - 50.0% 10,427 48,463
1,047,472 18,689 1,028,783
¥ NBIE27,061,000/8 7T 2 FEUEREE © *  Excluded bills receivables amounting to HK$27,061,000.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer (continued)
Quiality classification definitions:

“Very low risk”

“Lowv risk”

“Average risk™

“Moderate risk”:

“High risk”:

The counterparty has a very low risk of default due to
strong financial background and a prompt payment
pattern.

The counterparty has a low risk of default with strong
financial background but occasionally repays after due
dates.

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually
settle in full.

There have been significant increases in credit risk
since initial recognition through information developed
internally or external resources.

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuec)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

2HITEH
2HITEH FEEBX
FEIBX (HREE
(EBEERE) )
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit- et
impaired) impaired) Total
FEIT FET FiET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
H2021F4A8 1R As at 1 April 2021 15,764 10,714 26,478
B Currency realignment 590 (63) 527
BT R A A Disposal of subsidiaries (67) - (67)
FREBEZER Net impairment loss recognised 22,520 515 23,035
R20224 3A31H & As at 31 March 2022 and
2022F4H 1R as at 1 April 2022 38,807 11,166 49,973
Bl Currency realignment (1,179) 185 (994)
SERERTE R Net impairment loss recognised (18,163) 10,168 (7,995)
FEEHARAERIMRIE Amounts written off as uncollectible - (684) (684)
M2023%F3A 31H As at 31 March 2023 19,465 20,835 40,300

HWEERBTRESARHEEMHRE  AER
b IR EFIRR TR ETS ABERICEA
WEFD) - REBESHHEKRER - R 2023F
SASIR%E ' OEHERREZBEE AR
7684,0008 7T (20229 : TET) -

JEWZIE 2 AR R B JEW AR

BZE2023F3A31H - BRE@EAIF& T EK
ZHE N A E R B A U AR TE 43,975,000
7T (20224 : 62,571,000%7T) - ERERS
H B BT BUR B2 RS 5 72 B 10 il B R & 18
TR A AR ER A B EKRIANER
Rk - A EEESHEKEESER PSR
2l - BEECZEMERN CRBRTEENEN
TEEE - AU EBMEOE TOMTIER) W
By fh et M i & R A B R IR I 2
BHEERR - REFGER  REE2023F
SASIALLFE - gt 2 AR ER LA
& Y2 BR 18 29 Bl [B] 8¢ = & % 85 15,060,00078 7T K
1,405,000/ 7T (20224 : {EHEVFREE &8
%951 /20,118,000/%# 7T % 1,519,000 7T) -
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The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, eg. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. During the year
31 March 2023, credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying amount of
trade debt of HK$684,000 (2022: nil) was written off.

Trade and other receivables due from the Associate

As at 31 March 2023, the management had assessed the ECL of the
trade and other receivables due from the Associate of HK$43,975,000
(2022: HK$62,571,000) individually. Management had considered that
due to the current geopolitical situation and sanctions on Russia there
was a significant increase in credit risk in the trade and other receivables
due from the Associate and accordingly management has classified the
receivables as “Moderate Risk” Management had appointed the Valuer
to assist in the estimation of the ECL provision of the trade and other
receivables from the Associate by determining an appropriate probability
of default rate, forward looking adjustments and the estimated loss
given default rate. Based on the result of the assessment reversal of ECL
provision of HK$15,050,000 and HK$ 1,405,000 (2022: ECL provision of
HK$20,118,000 and HK$1,519,000) were made on the trade receivables
and other receivables due from the Associate respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2023,
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables amounting to HK$26,876,000
(2022: HK$27,061,000), the management has considered the bills
received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one year
and have been individually assessed based on external rating of relevant
banks, and concluded that for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022, the credit inherent in the Group's outstanding bills receivables is
insignificant.

Loan receivable and early relocation subsidy

The management estimated the loss rates of the loan receivable and the
early relocation subsidy based on financial background and historical
payments records of the debtors, the fair value of the collateral pledged to
the loan receivable and also forward-looking information, as appropriate.
For the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the management considers
that the ECL of the Group’s loan receivable and early relocation subsidy is
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Other receivables, non-current rental deposits and dividend receivable

In determining the ECL for other receivables, non-current rental deposits
and dividend receivable with gross carrying amount of HK$123,096,000
(2022: HK$225,557,000), the management has made periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of these balances, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and also forward-
looking information, as appropriate. The management has considered
the consistently low historical default rate in connection with relevant
counterparties, and concluded the credit risk inherent in these amounts is
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Amounts due from associates

As at 31 March 2022 and 2023, for purpose of impairment assessment,
the amounts due from associates are considered to have low credit
risk as there has been no significant increase in the risk of default on
the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of
impairment assessment for the asset, the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12m ECL.

In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the financial
position of the associates, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
associates and general economic conditions of the industry in which
the associates operate, in estimating the probability of default as well as
the loss upon default. Management determines the amounts due from
associates is subject to immaterial credit loss and thus no loss allowance
was recognised.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances exposed is
considered minimal as such amounts are placed with various banks with
good credit ratings and there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount represents
the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under the respective
contracts.

The Group is also exposed to the credit risk in respect of guarantees given
to banks relating to banking facilities utilised by associates (note 43). The
management periodically reviews financial position of the associates and
considers that the associates has strong financial position and the Group
has adequate monitoring procedures to reduce the credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group finances its operations by using a combination of bank and
other loans and equity. Adequate lines of credit are maintained to ensure
necessary liquidity is available when required. The management monitors
the liquidity position of the Group on a periodical basis to ensure the
availability of sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations. \IVith reference
to the existing unutilised facilities of approximately HK$2,008 million as at
31 March 2023 (2022: HK$2,213 million) and newly obtained facilities up
to the date when the consolidated financial statements are authorised for
issue and after taking into account of any possible disposal of investments
and re-financing arrangements, the directors of the Company consider
the source of liquidity and capital for the daily operation are sufficient.
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30. &I A @ 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

SREREEEERBEK @ Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
REELEE Liquidity risk (continuec)

rEEze@MBEZEOZEE ZFFIFIRN The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity for
T o RBIFTHHRES - DiIRBEAEBER T AR its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
EREZEZeHBBEZBEATZATERERE undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
et - WRBEFNBEASZRER - I0FE on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
RERmAERBZENFE - #ﬁéi?éfﬁ%ﬁZ%%EM interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are at
WEBEREOFEE floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the

end of the reporting period.

RERES
#ER
ZIREE
B Ei ] Carrying
MR = -%R ZEZ ReRAE amount at
Weighted ~ Ondemand LER BENE Total the end of
average or within Within More than  undiscounted  the reporting
interest rate 1year 2-5years Syears  cash flows period
THL THL THL THL THL
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
1#2023%3R31A As at 31 March 2023
FEfTHRTE Creditors N/A 1,264,524 - - 1,264,524 1,264,524
RITER  BEEEREMER  Bankloans,import and other loans
(787%) (variable rates) 5.42 2,613,441 - - 2,613,441 2,474,487
BITREMER (23F1%) Bank and other loans (variable rates) 5.30 - 1,080,518 - 1,080,518 1,043,848
HEER Lease liabilities 4,95 73,023 144,245 131,323 348,591 287,310
3,950,988 1,224,763 131,323 5,307,074 5,070,169
120225 3R 31A As at 31 March 2022
FEfTHRTE Creditors N/A 1,413,279 - - 1,413,279 1,413,279
fEﬁ%m F‘i% EEREMET  Bank loans,import and other loans
(787%) (variable rates) 2.93 3,157,861 - - 3,167,861 3,082,962
BITREMER (FEF%) Bank and other loans (variable rates) 3.12 - 775,356 - 775,356 740,846
EEEE Lease liabilities 473 91,710 149,951 147,409 389,070 322,409
BEERAS (1) Financial guarantee contracts (note) 16,496 - - 16,496 -
4,679,336 925,307 147,409 5,752,052 5,559,496
ITETA-3RE Derivatives - net settlement
INERIBAN Foreign currency forward contracts m - - m m
111 - - 111 111
Mz : EMBI B ERAENFIEBRERRE A HERER Note: The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
ZBRBRERTHH T AIAEERAREZ 2E maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
TW%TAIEZFﬁi%'E RBEHEER - A%EE arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by
REBRK A ETRBERZ M L ERFIE - the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the
W‘ﬁﬁ EIEMET 2 B REURRN 77 s B IR BT reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no
BREKREEZ FEBAMBEERREZ T amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is
1 o subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty which
suffers credit losses on the financial receivables and claims under the

guarantee.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ from those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in notes 31 and 32, several of the Group’s floating rate bank loans
will or may be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group
is closely monitoring the market and managing the transition to new
benchmark interest rates, including announcements made by the relevant
IBOR regulators.

LIBOR

As at 31 March 2023, all LIBOR settings have either been ceased to be
provided by any administrator or no longer be representative, except for
US dollar settings (other than 1-week and 2-week settings) which will be
ceased immediately after 30 June 2023.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA") has
been identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue
HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong,
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
The following are the key risks for the Group arising from the transition:

Interest rate related risks

For contracts which have not been transitioned to the relevant alternative
benchmark rates and without detailed fallback clauses, if the bilateral
negotiations with the Group’s counterparties are not successfully
concluded before the cessation of LIBOR, there are significant
uncertainties with regard to the interest rate that would apply. This gives
rise to additional interest rate risk that was not anticipated when the
contracts were entered into.

There are fundamental differences between IBORs and the various
alternative benchmark rates. IBORs are forward looking term rates
published for a period (eg. 3 months) at the beginning of that period and
include an inter-bank credit spread, whereas alternative benchmark rates
are typically risk-free overnight rates published at the end of the overnight
period with no embedded credit spread. These differences will result in
additional uncertainty regarding floating rate interest payments
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (continuec)

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

Liquidity risk

The additional uncertainty on various alternative rates which are typically
published on overnight basis will require additional liquidity management.
The Group’s liquidity risk management policy has been updated to ensure
sufficient liquid resources to accommodate unexpected increases in
overnight rates.

Litigation risk

If no agreement is reached to implement the interest rate benchmark
reform on contracts which have not been transitioned to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates (e.g. arising from differing interpretation
of existing fallback terms), there is a risk of prolonged disputes with
counterparties which could give rise to additional legal and other costs.
The Group is working closely with all counterparties to avoid this from
occurring.

Interest rate basis risk

Interest rate basis risk may arise if a non-derivative instrument and
the derivative instrument held to manage the interest risk on the non-
derivative instrument transition to alternative benchmark rates at
different times. This risk may also arise where back-to-back derivatives
transition at different times. The Group will monitor this risk against its
risk management policy which has been updated to allow for temporary
mismatches of up to 12 months and transact additional basis interest rate
swaps if required.

Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates
As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new contracts
entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant alternative benchmark
rates or interest rates which are not subject to reform to the extent
feasible. Otherwise, the Group ensured the relevant contracts include
detailed fallback clauses clearly referencing the alternative benchmark
rate and the specific triggering event on which the clause is activated.

During the year, the Group's SIBOR bank loans with carrying amount
of HK$20,691,000 as at 31 March 2023 have been transferred to the
relevant alternative benchmarks rates. The Group is planning to transition
the majority of its remaining IBOR-linked contracts with amount of
HK$399,086,000 as at 31 March 2023 through introduction of, or
amendments to, fallback clauses into the contracts which will change
the basis for determining the interest cash flows from IBOR to alternative
reference rate at an agreed point in time.

In addition, for floating rate loans that is linked to HIBOR, the Group

had confirmed with the relevant counterparty the loans amounting to
HK$1,303,898,000 that HIBOR will continue to maturity.
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30.¢@MTAE® 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
SRIANFETE Fair value measurement of financial instruments
T REAEBNNETSESREERSR This note provides information about how the Group determines fair
BEZATFERHER - values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.
FEZEATFEITEZFEFZtHEEREHME Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
&2 2 FE are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
rEBFMNEREERSRIBEDNRSREDNE Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured
HAMATENE - TRIEREHEZSCREE at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
kemaEATEMABEENER CCERMA gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and
HERNT R AZR) financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s)

and inputs used).

EEHATEER FURERARER

SREE/ NVEHE/HERR BAHE DYEZEE
SRER AVEER FERAFECER Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ AYE Fairvalue  Basis of fair value measurement/ unobservable unobservable input(s)
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  valuation technique(s) and key input(s) input(s) to fair value
2023 2022
TERL TATL
HK$'000  HK$'000
1L PERNATEHAEEL E-R RABENATEDREXEROBSR MR TER TEA
BATEN ERRAER EERBEMEE -
Listed equity securities classified 958 4,220 Level 1 The fair value of the equity securities N/A N/A
as equity instruments at FVTPL is estimated by the price quotation
available on the New York Stock
Exchange in United States.
2. HEAITESBIANNE 4 EE BZfh HBRRERE - TEf TEA
BHAN 955
B FRRERENERBREBEERSER
111 ESERNTBERERE RN ERELSR
&) RAMEHES  NERMERFHZ
EERR MRERRMMb o
Foreign currency forward il Assets  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. N/A N/A
contracts classified as derivative 955
financial instruments Liabilities Future cash flows are estimated based on
11 closing forward exchange rates (from

observable forward exchange rate at
the end of the reporting period) and
contracted forward rates, discounted
at a rate that reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continuec)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

BZHNFUBE FUBRRAHER
SREE/ AVER B/ ERIR BAHE NTEZEE
SRR ATEER TR AHEZER Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ AYE Fairvalue  Basis of fair value measurement/ unobservable unobservable input(s)
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  valuation technique(s) and key input(s) input(s) to fair value
2023 2022
Ti#n FHEL
HK$'000 HK$'000
3 DATFERAEMZERGEZ 11,745 @ E-f RATAMATERISRER S TEA A
BRATA THEEME «
Equity instrument at FVTOCI 11,745 Nil Level 2 The fair value of the equity instrument is N/A N/A
estimated by market value of the recent
investment transactions.
4 UATEHAEM2EYEZ F=8 BB BYRANER R FEARNTSRERE
RATE B 2023F3A31H + & ATERES -
AEATMATEERARLERARANE  BUAKDER K
AEERTc BENGNAESEIEAR  BOSERUALE
ERUBEHARAAMKEAENATEE B Btk
EER REMERNEZ ()
IREAS - E%a
i BE - BRE
GY77742,669\
RE=z64, 830AR
% (185748 822%
TLE62,750%7) ©
(2022 : §F7
K47 ATBARHZE
48,867/\&#5 (18
08,6138 E
60,331%7)) °
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 46,978 51,378  Level3 Asset-based approach. Price per square The higher the price
meter.Using market  per square meter, the
The fair value of the target company direct comparable higher the fair value.

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

was determined by the asset-based
approach using the adjusted net asset
value. Net asset value of the target
company was adjusted through fair
value adjustments held by the target
company primarily by the direct
comparison approach.

and taking into
account of location
and other individual
factors such as
size, building
facilities, levels, age
of building, etc,
which is ranged
from RMB42,699
to RMB54,880
(equivalent to

to HK$62,750
(2022: R\MB47,476
to RIVIB48,867
(equivalent to
HK$58,613 to
HK$60,331) per
square meter as at
31 March 2023,
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuec)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

. ; _ EBHTTRE FTBREABESR
SREE/ NPEGE/HERR BAZE NTEZER
LREE ATEESR TZRABEZER Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ AYE Fairvalue  Basis of fair value measurement/ unobservable unobservable input(s) to
financial liabilities Fairvalueasat hierarchy  valuation technique(s) and key input(s) input(s) fair value
2023 2022
FEr  TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000
5 MATEGAHMZENE £ TG o RZTHRBILIIRE REZTERBLIMES
ZHATA - ‘ EAAUBARMiLE-  AVEIWE-
RAmA BRETAZBREBEEE - )
WAL S ETARZEBEL R (CRER BRHEHS  ATERY
SRHBAE BB TENEE 5
. AEEERAIRAIS AR
. HRE) BTG EETHE  TH
B ERBIERTIUEE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 17519 31,367 Level3 Market approach. The discount of lack The higher the discount
of marketability and of lack of marketability,
The market approach was used to applied multiples. the lower the fair value.
determine the valuation by the average
estimated values using the following The higher the applied
multiples: enterprise value to eamings multiples, the higher the
before interest, taxes, depreciation and fair value.
amortisation ratio, enterprise value to
earnings before interest, taxes ratio
and price to eaming ratio of selected
comparable listed companies in a similar
business and similar business model and
adjusted for the lack of marketability.
6 UATERAEMZEKGEZ F=8 ARERBEENTSE o RZTHRBILIIRE RETHRBLINES
BATA - B TUANBRATML R ATEAME-
RAZEL BRARLAERZ WHEREN n )
MFABERNEEFEET B RARNR AR ESR  ATEAM
T - RATSE - BBHEARARE = e
OFATAANL RN SRAEATNE
EFE - FORLTEERETEERRE
BEBIMTELS (AR ABHE
(BEEERFEELE  CREEEKNRA
SAMERNELE) BE[E  URRZ
TR FARE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 7,254 7,639  Level 3 Combination of asset-based approach and ~ The discount of lack The higher the discount
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market approach.

The fair value of the target company
was determined by the asset-based
approach using the adjusted net asset
value with adjustments for the lack of
marketability. Net asset value of the
target company was adjusted through
fair value adjustments of each sub-entity
held by the target company primarily by
the market approach using enterprise
value to sales ratio or enterprise value
to earnings before interest, taxes ratio of
selected comparable listed companies
in a similar business and similar business
model and adjusted for the lack of
marketability.

of marketability and
applied multiples.

of lack of marketability,
the lower the fair value.

The higher the applied

multiples, the higher the
fair value.
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30. &I A @ 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

SRIAAFETE ® Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)
THEEFMR A FELHRK Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurement of financial assets
UAFEA
Hh2mEU =
ZRATA
Equity instruments
at FVTOCI
Fi&IT
HK$'000
H2021F4H 1H At 1 April 2021 60,065
BAR Currency realignment 2,013
FIAEMEERE 2 AT ERE Fair value gain in OCI 28,306
H202243A 31H At 31 March 2022 90,384
HEEHE Currency realignment (3,793)
FIAREMEE R 2 A THEEE Fair value loss in OCI (14,840)
H2023F 37 31H At 31 March 2023 71,751

Hih 2 HW R A B IR ER AR E RS BRI
NFEFAZERSERATAZ E ETRAES
A2 A FERIE 14,840,000% 7T (2022F :
28,306,000/8 7t iezn) - AR yItFRE S
LR

REVE2023F M 2022 3A31H IEFE - AF
BEER BHEER -

FEBEE TR IANRNTEFSEVHRER
7o ERERBERTAMGEENABEMERIN R
T2HAHIE -

FAEtATE - AEEFATS A HERZTE
AER - BRAFEIRRE 2R NBARIE - K
SERFSERIIMNELEMETERLE - €18
BEaERIMEGEEMTLABEETERE
A BEREETHAEERSHESRIFEESI
HEZHZFERA -

AREBF A R EE T N FlEZ 2 MEER
EMEEZNFE
HiteMEEMSRME BN A FEDRIBEENR,
BREREAMN—RAREBEAEE - AQ
AEFRALEHEERERABALEHEK
ROz FREE R A FEHEL

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

Included in OCI is an amount of HK$14,840,000 loss (2022:
HK$28,306,000 gain) relating to listed and unlisted equity securities
classified as equity instruments at F\VVTOCI reported as changes of
investment revaluation reserve,

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair value hierarchy
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management of the Company is
responsible to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the
extent it is available. \Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available,
the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The management works closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The management reports the valuation to the directors of the Company
regularly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with general accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis. The directors of the Company consider
that the carrying amounts of these financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost approximate their fair values.

1/1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

40. R ARBRI & 40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

REBRBEFERFIERESENRLT —HR
sEATREESAE (eSS - RIERES
g BT MRELBAELHET . BHIEHRAE
MEBEARZD% FEBRESHEEKZAH
EE® A AL LR A30,000/ 5T « 2014546
ARBRAER - 1IN - BEREBABTREB R

PR o

MRS EME - BEFELAOPTE BB
He2HEEENMEE - MBEREFEENEARE
BiME B RN B L B E AR -

AEERF2ERAEERPESIMEEZBHET
Bz BREEEZRRE - AEESARS AR
THMZE T aMLERER - AR B
EAREERE LA HRKE T ZRIKENEE -
B Bt gessn - ARBEY|AB T 2 B2 MR
FoRNERRA A EARE -

BN+ AR B RN EE S BIASN 2 5N B
AEZEAEMAHBERLZTRAESF

B %EA RN EHRIGE -

RBZE2023F3ABIR EFE - REBEX L
47,741,000/ 7T (20224 : 53,172,000/ 7T)
ZIRIRFERIGEIK o
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The Group participated in a mandatory provident fund (“MIPF”) scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. Under the MIPF scheme, both the employer and its employees
are required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000 effective from June 2014 for the MIPF scheme. In addition, the
employer and its employees may make voluntary contributions at their
discretions.

For the MIPF scheme, all mandatory contributions made by the employers
are fully vested with the employees, while any unvested benefits of
employees arising from voluntary contributions would be forfeited and
reverted to the employers.

The Group also participates in the employees’ pension schemes of the
respective municipal government in various places in the PRC where the
Group operates. The Group makes monthly contributions calculated as
a percentage of the monthly payroll costs and the respective municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations
of all existing and future retirees of the Group. The Group has no other
obligations for the payment of pension and other post-retirement benefits
of employees other than the above contribution payments.

In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Company outside Hong Kong and
the PRC participate in central provident fund schemes established by
the relevant authority in their respective countries which are defined
contribution plans.

The Group contributed an aggregate amount of HK$47,741,000 (2022:

HK$53,172,000) to the above retirement benefit schemes during the year
ended 31 March 2023,
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41 MEEEZEEHER

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

AEEERMEELZBEZEH ZHBIERNOT -

BREESMIERS &

CcREEAMEBBEAR

RERIARAERRAEEGERERERD
BRBEMELZRESRMIEAR -

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement
of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

BITER
BECER
HitfER R ERFIE ERRE
BITREMER (BEEEM (BfEEEM
Bank loans, ERRR) PR A)
HE import and Interest Dividend
afg other loans payable payable
Lease  and bank and (included in (included in &t
liabilities otherloans other payables) other payables) Total
FHEL FHET FEL FHET FHEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2021F4A 1A At 1 April 2021 287,924 3,758,637 5,408 1,688 4,053,657
BEHSRE Financing cash flows (91,478) 33,639 (116,425) (5,524) (179,788)
EE ) Rent concession (521) - - - (521)
HHE/HERE New lease entered/lease modified 117,812 - - - 117,812
WEHRBERTER Bank loan waived - (7,594) - - (7,594)
ERHAE Currency realignment 7,621 31,337 342 - 39,300
BIRRE Dividend declared - - - 5,036 5,036
BB Finance costs 15,836 - 122,428 - 138,264
BIER—NIETFER Front-end fee amortisation of
ZHH bank loans - 7,789 (7,789 - -
HE—RRBAR Disposal of a subsidiary (14,785) - - - (14,785)
#2022 37 31H At 31 March 2022 322,409 3,823,808 3,964 1,200 4,151,381
BEHSRE Financing cash flows (88,589) (281,826) (184,401) - (554,816)
) Rent concession (2,074 - - - (2,074
e MERE New lease entered/lease modified 60,903 - - - 60,903
EAE Currency realignment (18,931) (24,533 (946) - (44,410
KRS Dividend declared - - - (©)] 3
BERRA Finance costs 13,592 - 191,701 - 205,293
BOEF—REFES Front-end fee amortisation of
B bank loans - 886 (886) - -
#2023 3A31H At 31 March 2023 287,310 3,618,335 9,432 1,197 3,816,274
SUMBTEERAR —O——Z_O-=F%H 173



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

REEHFRLRS 42. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION
REZE2023F3A3IBLFE - KEERF During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into new
REEFE #REREBELRRBIAE A lease arrangements for the use of leasehold buildings, machinery and
—FE+ARF (2022F . —FE2+RHF) O equipment and motor vehicles for 1 year to 15 years (2022: 1 year to 15
THERH  REERPIFAER  ~EEER years). On the lease commencement or lease modification, the Group
66,994,000/ 7t (20224 : 120,511,000/ recognised HK$66,994,000 (2022: HK$120,511,000) of right-of-use
JC) By { F # & E & 60,903,0005% 7t (2022 assets and HK$60,903,000 (2022: HK$117,812,000) lease liabilities.

117,812,000 7T) HHEEE -

43. RKAREE 43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
2023 2022
FExT FiET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEE N BIRITERER Guarantees given to banks in respect of
banking facilities to associates - 16,496
HAh, Others 12,709 12,885
44 EiE 44, COMMITMENTS
2023 2022
FHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRNEBRELREMISHREEE Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of
FAREBEYE  BEREEZ property, plant and equipment contracted for
B AR EYE but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements 3,059 55,640
45 EXEHE 45, OPERATINIG LEASE
ERAEA As lessee
M2023F3A31H  SEEERHAHEENRITE As at 31 March 2023, the Group has approximately HK$461,000 (2022:
A BEEL) /461,000 7T (20224 : 750,000 HK$750,000) of aggregate undiscounted commitments for short-term
I ° leases.
fERHEE As lessor
FA - REYEME S YA 105,000% 7T (2022 Rental income from investment properties, classified as held for sale,
1 822,000/ 7T) ° earned during the year was HK$ 105,000 (2022: HK$822,000).
HEvHEEKESINT : Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:
2023 2022
FER FiET
HK$’000 HK$'000
—ER Within one year - 167
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46. BEBEALR S HEk

(a) HERERS
HZE2023F3A31IBILFE » NER#E

TR

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(a) Continuing connected transactions
The Group entered into the following continuing connected

FBEEEZSHOT transactions during the year ended 31 March 2023:
FET
HK$’000
MTEAEEENE Sales to Light Engine Group 872
MTEAEEEES Purchases from Light Engine Group 3,084
BEREXFHBR5ETHE Aggregate amount of continuing connected transactions 3,956

(b) EABEALRS
AR SRR SR 2 B A

EITTATEAR

(b) Other related party transactions
The Group entered into the following significant transactions with its

2 - associates of the Group:
2023 2022
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEEHZE AT Purchases from associates 317,638 411,173
HE THE AR Sales to associates 225,908 148,249
BEENRZERBIRA Management fee income received from
associates 4,196 4,196
RB|ERERER  AEERARQ B EEE R At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following

FA LA T SRR R B SRR B R Mk B

BERENE  RENRERERNA

balances with its associates included under trade and other
receivables and prepayments and creditors and accrued charges:

2023 2022

FExT FiET

HK$’000 HK$'000

L & A R E IR Trade receivables due from associates 41,210 41,700

H A U & R B RIE Other receivables due from associates 6,456 5,624

FEREEE A RIER Trade payables due to associates 83,377 84,778

HAb RS QT 25 Other payables due to associates 691 994
FE UGBS N R B A SRIE RN R B R B E A Other receivables due from associates and other payables due
HRERIEBZUE 5B BERNEKRE to associates are non-trade nature, interest-free, unsecured and

251a 2 o repayable on demand.

FHEE A FIRITE RBERY M 3143 Guarantees given to banks in respect of banking facilities to

ZEREEBEARAES
SN ION

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

¥ HEH

associates is disclosed in note 43.

il

The key management personnel includes solely the directors of the
Company and the compensation paid to them is disclosed in note 10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

47. A DE) Z B HRR R 47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

A TR 20234F 20224 3A 318 2 B & & The financial information of the Company as at 31 March 2023 and 2022

U as follows:
2023 2022
FTEx FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FREEE Non-current assets
W -~ B R Property, plant and equipment 2,939 4,002
EREEE Right-of-use assets 3,817 15,283
FrbMIB A mEs= Interests in subsidiaries 1,434,742 1,434,742
ERBILE Non-current deposits - 5,046
1,441,498 1,459,073
REEE Current assets
ot e W BR TR R TR FUR Other receivables and prepayments 19,190 6,133
LTINSV Amounts due from subsidiaries 26,182 4,855
RITET - GRERE Bank balances, deposits and cash 39,169 96,482
84,541 107,470
REEE Current liabilities
ENERERER Creditors and accrued charges 15,528 18,816
HEaE Lease liabilities 2,691 13,274
S IENGIERE Amounts due to subsidiaries 274 110
IRITER Bank loans 327,390 411,153
345,883 443,353
REBEEFE Net current liabilities (261,342 (335,883)
BEERERBAR Total assets less current liabilities 1,180,156 1,123,190
FREBERE Non-current liabilities
RITREMER Bank and other loans 224,158 163,068
HEAE Lease liabilities - 2,691
224,158 165,759
EEFE Net assets 955,998 057,431
BEXRF#E Capital and reserves
BRA (ff43E35) Share capital (note 35) 998,666 998,666
() Reserves (note) (42,668) (41,235)
A Total equity 955,998 957,431
MR2023F6A20EMESERBE  WAUTES Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 June
REEHS 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:
‘e TR Victor LO Chung Wing Brian LI Yiu Cheung

=2 EF Director Director
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47. KRATFZMBMRRE @@

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continuec)

BRRE - Note:
25
8
Accumulated
loss
FHET
HK$'000
H2021F 47 18 At 1 April 2021 (28,754)
2FFE Loss for the year (12,481)
M202243A31H At 31 March 2022 (41,235)
2FEIB Loss for the year (1,433)
H2023F 37318 At 31 March 2023 (42,668)

SRR TIEERAF —O-ZZE-O-_=F4%%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

48. T EMB AT

(a) MHEQAH—RER

48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(a) General information of subsidiaries

RATPA2023F 202246 3A31H 2 £ &

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 and

MEBARFHBNT - 2022 are as follows:
B/ i Eii s FEBEERTREZ
Place of BT/ EMBAE BEREDE
incorporation/ Nominal value of Effective equity
HEARERE registration/ issued share/  interestattributable ~EE#7%
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
2023 2022
EFERRBEZZL
Electronics and Acoustics
Business
Famingo Pte Ltd. IR S$2  85.59%  85.50% IEEIEE
Singapore Investment holding
GP Acoustics Limited HBEARHS US$57,000,000 85.59% 85.59% EMIRE
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
GP Acoustics (HK) Limited a5 HK$20,000,000 85.59% 85.59% H#E -  TERDHEBERR
Hong Kong EFEMm
Marketing, retailing and
distribution of acoustic and
electronic products
SHEFERAA H RMB10,000,000 85.59% 85.59% HERMEEEERETER
GP Acoustics (China) Limited" PRC Marketing and distribution
of acoustic and electronic
products
GP Acoustics International Limited &7 HK$ 148,000,000 85.59% 85.50% ERIEE - At HER
Hong Kong AHEERRETFER
Investment holding, design,
marketing and distribution
of acoustic and electronic
products
BERILEEERAR =) NT$1,500,000 85.59% 85.50% HERMHEEEERETER
GP Acoustics (Taiwan) Limited Taiwan Marketing and distribution
of acoustics and electronic
products
GP Acoustics (UK) Limited RE £12,500,000 85.59% 85.5% ERIRE - Fit HER
United Kingdom HERBRNETFER
Investment holding, design,
marketing and trading of
acoustic and electronic
products
GP Acoustics (US), Inc. E3E US$6,655,097 85.59% 85.50% HERNEHERRETER
United States of Marketing and distribution
America of acoustic and electronic
products
GP Acoustics GmbH =E €4,700,000 85.59%  85.50% HERNHEERRETER
Germany Marketing and distribution
of acoustic and electronic
products
GP Electronics and Acoustics R TBH220,000,000 43.65% 43.65% ERBERNETED
Co, Ltd. Thailand Manufacturing of acoustic

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

and electronic products
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48. X EME LR ) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continuec)

(a) MIBATHN—RER @ (a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)

SURBETIEARAF —O==%

B/ i, R AEEEERTREAZ
Place of 817/ EMBRAE BHEAER
incorporation/ Nominal value of Effective equity
MELAREE registration/ issued share/ interest attributable ~ FEEH®
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
2023 2022
EFERREEZFH @
Electronics and Acoustics
Business (continued)
SHETF (RE) BRAF & HK$39,964,622 85.59% 85.69% ERIRE
GP Electronics (China) Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
RIETF &E) BRAF B HK$50,000,000 85.59% 80.59% HERHESLEER
GP Electronics (HK) Limited Hong Kong Marketing and trading of
audio products
ENTRLETFERRF i HK$ 170,000,000 85.59% 80.59% EHGERREFEM
GP Electronics (Huizhou) PRC Manufacturing of acoustic
Co, Ltd. and electronic products
GP Global Marketing Corporation ~ F£#S US$1,501,060  85.59%  85.59% HAMFIZ
Cayman Islands Holding of trademarks
GP Global Marketing Limited B HK$23,500,000 85.59% 80.59% TIHIEE
Hong Kong Marketing
GPT %" Hrins 5$286,306,915 85.59% 85.59% {EiRIRE
GP Ind* Singapore Investment holding
EHEFERBRAA B HK$1,000,000 85.59% 85.69% fERIRE
GPE International Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
KEF Celestion Corporation HEHS US$400,000  85.59%  85.59% HAMIE
Cayman Islands Holding of trademarks
KEF GP Group Limited REHS US$1 85.59% - BREA
Cayman Islands Investment holding
KEF Japan, Inc. =N JPY50,000,000 85.59% 80.59% HEEZEM
Japan Trading of acoustic products

ZOZ=55%R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

48. T EMBA T @) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) MIEARHN—MER @ (a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)

R/ 5l ik rEEEERTREZ
Place of BT/ EMBAE BHAESE
incorporation/ Nominal value of Effective equity
HEAREHE registration/ issued share/ interest attributable ~FE£H
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
2023 2022
EHEK
Batteries Business
FWEH Hhns $$251,312,000 85.59% 85.59% ZiRIRE
GP Batteries Singapore Investment holding
REBBEEHERAF H HK$197,000,000 85.59% 85.5% EHEM
Dongguan Chao Ba Batteries PRC Manufacturing of batteries
Co Ltd"
ZeEHERAR H HK$30,000,000 85.59% 85.5% EHEM
Dongguan GP Batteries Limited" PRC Manufacturing of batteries
GP Batteries (Americas) Inc. E3E US$105,800 85.59% 85.5% HERHEEM
United States of Marketing and trading in
America batteries
GP Batteries (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd BRAD: RM 70,000,000 85.59% 85.59% EHENM
Malaysia Manufacturing of batteries
wleLEBERAR H HK$ 144,950,000 85.59% 85.5% EHEM
GP Batteries (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd" PRC Manufacturing of batteries
GP Batteries (UK) Limited RE £2,191,011 85.59% 85.5% HERHEEM
United Kingdom Marketing and trading in
batteries
GP Batteries (Vietnam) Limited =) VND275,624,000,000  81.31% 81.31% EZEM
Liability Company Vietnam Manufacturing of batteries
BBEENARAT B HK$2 85.59% 85.5% HERHEEM
GP Battery Marketing (H.K) Limited Hong Kong Marketing and trading in
batteries
GP Battery Marketing (Korea) [ W150,000,000  85.59%  85.59% HEMEEEH
Limited South Korea Marketing and trading in
batteries
GP Battery Marketing (Malaysia) BRADR RM 1,000,000 85.59% 85.5% HERHEEM
Sdn Bhd Malaysia Marketing and trading in

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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48. T EMBELTF @&

(a) MIBATHN—RER @

48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continuec)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)

B/ R AEERERTREZ
Place of BT/ EMBAE BRESE
incorporation/ Nominal value Effective equity
MELARERE registration/ ofissued share/ interestattributable B
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
2023 2022
BHEH 2
Batteries Business (continued)
GP Battery Marketing (Singapore)  # il S$$800,000  85.59%  85.59% HERIHESH
Pte Ltd Singapore Marketing and trading in
batteries
GP Battery (Poland) Sp.zoo0. HHE PLN23,022,405  85.59%  85.50% HERHEEM
Poland Marketing and trading in
batteries
RIENRTE (B BRAA BE HK$2 85.59% 85.69% {EiRIRE
GP Battery Technology (HK) Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
GP Energy Tech Limited RAEHS US$1  85.50%  85.50% IEHEIKE
Cayman Islands Investment holding
GP Energy Tech International Pte. #7113 S$1 85.59%  85.59% IERIRERIHE
Limited Singapore Investment holding and
trading
GP Energy Tech (Malaysia) Sdn. BRER RM1,000,000  85.59%  85.59% EXEM
Bhd. Malaysia Manufacturing of batteries
GPIEIRER AR B HK$431,500,000 85.59% 85.69% HERHEESM
GPI International Limited Hong Kong Marketing and trading in
batteries
GPPD Pte. Ltd. g USD 15,000,000 59.91% 59.91% {FREE
Singapore Investment holding
GPPD Energy Company Limited fites USD15,000,073  59.91% 59.91% EZMHEEM
Vietnam Manufacturing and trading of
batteries
EMBRECLERERAFC F RMB32,067,000 77.03% 77.03% HERFEEMD
Huizhou Chao Ba Batteries Co Ltd® PRC Marketing and trading in
batteries
BEMEREDBRAF i US$9,400,000 - 85.69% EHEM
Huizhou Modern Battery Limited”  PRC Manufacturing of batteries
EREHEHERAF H RMB30,000,000 61.62% 61.62% EXEM
Ningbo Fubang Battery Co Ltd® PRC Manufacturing of batteries

ZOZ=55%R
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48. T EMB AT @) 48. PRINICIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) HEBARIM—RER @ (a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)
R/ #5105 AEBEERTREZ
Place of BT/ EMBRAE BHAESE
incorporation/ Nominal value of Effective equity
HEARER registration/ issued share/  interestattributable ~EE#7%
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
2023 2022
THFEH
Batteries Business (continued)
EREHRERATe HE US$24,600,000 77.03% 77.03% EXEH
Ningbo GP Energy Co, Ltd® PRC Manufacturing of batteries
BRESLEREHERAAC FE RMB500,000,000 59.91% 59.91% EXEM
Ningbo GP & Sonluk Battery PRC Manufacturing of batteries
Co, Ltd®
FiR () SHERARe FE US$35,000,000 59.91% 59.91% EXEM
Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co.Ltd® PRC Manufacturing of batteries
BtRE
Other investments
Asset Link Asia Limited” REEBRIE US$100 100% 100% %A
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
Makinen Properties Limited® REEBRES US$1 100% 100% {ERRiRE
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
e WEARARBBUEG T MKz PGS @ These companies are established as sino-foreign joint ventures registered
= SN ) o under the PRC law.
IE AR ABRPBDEG T M2 2INEH " These companies are established as wholly foreign owned enterprises
Bl R registered under the PRC law.
4 EFERFRADAEEFA - IAHMIEL 4 These companies are directly held by the Company. All other subsidiaries
AIAAARIEEES - are indirectly held by the Company.
BRAAR B RS A s AR AN 2 A RIS - AR Except for the companies established in the PRC with registered
AR AU ERFIMBIT 2 RO E BT RR capital, the classes of shares held by the Company in the above
e companies are ordinary shares issued by these companies.

EREIARRZMBLAR EERAEZSE The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
RRAFEFERFE 2 EEIERAEEE opinion of the directors, principally affected the results of the year or
E—EEZEHD - ESRARINEMMEL constituted a substantial portion of the assets of the Group. To give
Al B REBEURIBILE © details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

BREWEI  ERFE LMK FER - Save as disclosed, none of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
M A RN A RERES outstanding at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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48. TEMBAR @ 48. PRINICIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) MBRARZHERERESRED
HZE2023F3A3IRIEFE - GPIT %W
E2EMBLAREMEREN  EXRHE
2,745,000 T2 B ARBEEF -

(b) Change in ownership in subsidiaries
During the year ended 31 March 2023, HMBL, wholly owned
subsidiaries of GP Ind, were disposed and the capital reserve of
HK$2,745,000 were transferred to retained profits.

REE2022F3A31IRIEFE » ARFZ E
MR A RR M5 IAR 2K E653,000/% T
El Rty - FELE - 2R {EB653,000
AT IR 2 JFE R E 1,067,000 7T
2 ZFA414,000/8 T B BE R E AN HE T

N

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the listed subsidiary of
the Company repurchased its shares from the market at cash
consideration of HK$653,000. As a result of the repurchase, the
difference of HK$414,000 between the consideration paid of
HK$653,000 and the amount of non-controlling interests adjusted of
HK$ 1,067,000 was directly recognised in capital reserve.

REE2022F3A31HIEFE - GPITES
C2EBEBMBLARSILIXES  BME
R R 2B - AT H#H 845,000 T
K &A% 27,535,000/8 T 2 B ARRE &

During the year ended 31 March 2022, GPIM, GPWT and GPB(China),
wholly owned subsidiaries of GP Ind, were disposed and the legal
reserve of HK$845,000 and capital reserve of HK$27,535,000 were
transferred to retained profits.

o
(c) BEEARFEFEENIZTEMBLR ZF (c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
1& controlling interests

AEBGAEAFZERERNIFZEMBR
BlZFBEIIRMT

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

BRz 5 R FERERFEN
TEEENS BEERFTAELH
Place of Proportion of

incorporation and ownership interests BT IR EA R FERER
MEARER principal place and voting rights held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
TR FHET TR FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000
(restated) (restated)
(EFTHRD) (EXTHRDI)
GPI¥ N
GP Ind Singapore 14.41% 14.41% 18,447 33,681 361,346 443,506
iR (BR) SHERAF H
Zhongyin (Ningbho)
Battery Co, Ltd. PRC 30.00% 30.00% 22,775 40,385 393,163 408,870
Hith TEm TEA TER
Others N/A N/A N/A 8,085 (5,087) 266,984 170,208
49,307 68,879 1,021,493 1,022,584
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e BHmRNTE

48. T EMBA T @) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(c) FEERFEHEENFZEMNBLRZF

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

5@ controlling interests (continued)
GPI#¥ GP Ind
2023 2022
FHT FiET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
(EFH 4R
MBNEE Current assets 3,805,876 4,270,207
SEMENEE Non-current assets 4,304,874 4,892,886
mEAE Current liabilities 3,907,402 4,670,615
SEREAE Non-current liabilities 1,083,171 881,570
GPIEWB AR Z IFERER Non-controlling interests of GP Ind’s subsidiaries 660,147 579,078
GPI 7 IEERER Non-controlling interests of GP Ind 361,346 443,506
SEEBNARREA Az Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,098,684 2,588,324
EHEE Revenue 6,581,023 7,061,620
S - HfbiaF R EE Expenses, other gains and losses 6,424,018 6,795,222
2F 5 Profit for the year 157,005 266,398
BEBRARREE AR Profit attributable to owners of the Company 107,698 197,519
FENGPIT I ER R 2 m T Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests
of GP Ind 18,447 33,581
BN GPIEMB AR HERER Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests
2 F of GP Ind’s subsidiaries 30,860 35,298
2 F 5 Profit for the year 157,005 266,398
BN AARER A EHA Other comprehensive (expense) income
2H i) iz attributable to owners of the Company (201,268) 102,201
BN GPI IR Other comprehensive (expense) income
Hib2m ) ks attributable to the non-controlling interests of
GP Ind (34,209) 16,907
FEBNGPIEMBARIHEREZ 2  Other comprehensive (expense) income
Hihzm Zi) W attributable to the non-controlling interests of
GP Ind’s subsidiaries (52,010) 16,119
EFHEMEE GEi) K= Other comprehensive (expense) income for the
year (287,487) 135,227
SRIBRARARHEA Az 2E (ZiH) WzE Total comprehensive (expense) income
ekt attributable to owners of the Company (93,570) 299,720
SRIBGPT #3EiigEs 2 2@ ) Total comprehensive (expense) income
WamsazE attributable to the non-controlling interests of
GP Ind (15,762) 50,488
RERGPT (B ARFEEELZ >  Total comprehensive (expense) income
2H (Zi) Wit attributable to the non-controlling interests of
GP Ind’s subsidiaries (21,150) 51,417
2F2HE (EH) WasiesE Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year (130,482) 401,625
BT e i A 2 AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (32,260) (5,036)
EEBEE (R 2Re/F5 Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 439,452 (112,120)
WEEBEE (FA) 2ReFRE Net cash from (used in) investing activities 135,878 (40,363)
MEEEEA RS EE Net cash used in financing activities (328,546) (126,916)
BWaEmA () F5E Net cash inflow (outflow) 246,784 (279,399

B ERFIBNEN IR RS 5L £
2 GPTEFHPHE -

The details of the financial information were disclosed in GP Ind’s
annual report which is available on the website of the Singapore Stock
Exchange.
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48. T EMBELTF @&

(c) FREARFEHERNFZEMBLA R ZF

18 @
FiR () EERAE

48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continuec)

controlling interests (continued)
Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co., Ltd.

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

2023 2022
FHT FET
HKS$’000 HK$'000
MBEE Current assets 1,345,563 1,599,178
ERENEE Non-current assets 1,331,629 1,468,728
mENAE Current liabilities 1,365,745 1,703,455
SEREBE Non-current liabilities 904 1,657
FEPE AR i A Non-controlling interests 393,163 408,870
HERFIR (R BHERAR Equity attributable to owners of Zhongyin
WH AN Em (Ningbo) Battery Co, Ltd 917,380 954,024
EEEE Revenue 2,379,700 2,872,082
T EMEA & EE Expenses, other gains and losses 2,303,764 2,737,462
2ERF Profit for the year 75,936 134,620
SEBRARREA A& T Profit attributable to owners of the Company 45,497 80,649
SENGP LI 2 5 Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests
of GP Ind 7,664 13,586
BENTIR (EK) ESMERAT Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests
FEIER A R 2k of Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co, Ltd. 22,775 40,385
2Fm A Profit for the year 75,936 134,620
BERNANARHEAZHEMEE Other comprehensive (expense) income
GZH) W attributable to owners of the Company (46,354) 12,089
SENGPITEIFKERS 2 Hib2®E  Other comprehensive (expense) income
(GZ i) Wz attributable to the non-controlling interests of
GP Ind (7,808) 2,036
HERFIR (ER) BMERAR Other comprehensive (expense) income
PR 2 Bfh 2 (T H) e attributable to the non-controlling interests of
Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co,, Ltd. (23,216) 5,967
SFEMEE G Hm Other comprehensive (expense) income for
the year (77,378) 20,092
GRERAATHABEAZZE ZH) Total comprehensive (expense) income
W4 sE attributable to owners of the Company (857) 92,738
SFENGPIEIEERER 2 2M GZ ) Total comprehensive (expense) income
Watage attributable to the non-controlling interests of
GP Ind (144 15,622
SRBRAPE @K SHERAR Total comprehensive (expense) income
RSy 2E Z ) Wasigss attributable to the non-controlling interests of
Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co, Ltd. (441) 46,352
2H2H (XH) Wi Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year (1,442 154,712
AT IEE R 2 2 AR R Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 20,280 -
KEREBEE RS T Net cash inflow from operating activities 45,075 230,563
WEEBEEL (BR) 2R FE Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities 41,281 (59,606)
BMEREEACREFHE Net cash used in financing activities (40,972) (107,107)
BEMAFRE Net cash inflow 45,384 63,850

ZOZ=55%R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

49, T EBHE VT 49. PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

NEBR2023F K 2022 3A31R 72 T EBH & Details of the Group’s principal associates at 31 March 2023 and 2022

NARFEWT : are as follows:
R gsdiis ) FEEEERTRA
Place of ZENEMNE
BENRER incorporation/ Effective equity interest FE%%
Name of associate registration attributable to the Group Principal activities
2023 2022
EFERRGERFZK
Electronics and Acoustics Business
Julong Technology Limited REHBARES 25.68% 25.68% PERITE
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
EETIXRHERADT =0 | 17.35% 17.35% R#% - SBERHEERESRR
Meiloon Industrial Co, Ltd. Taiwan FEEM
Development, manufacturing and
marketing of acoustic and
audio-visual equipment
BLUIXBBEAR BB 12.84% 12.84% HEEFTEMN
Shinwa Industries (HK) Limited Hong Kong Trading of electronic components
BERRARAR 5 25.68% 25.68% ERKRENGBHRES
Wisefull Technology Limited Hong Kong Investment holding and trading of
metallic products
ZIEFIBIRRAE 5 33.49% 32.63% ERERE
XIC Innovation Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
HEREBRRE AEER RS 25.68% 25.68% PEREE
Youjia Technology Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding
Epik 4
Batteries Business
AZ Limited AR 34.23% 34.23% HEERBEESH
Russia Marketing and trading in batteries
BMNEREMERAF FEl 34.23% 34.23% EREMW
Changzhou Lithium Batteries Ltd PRC Manufacturing of batteries
SEIEBRAA e 33.68% 35.52% MERIREREEEM
Gold Yi Industries Company Limited Hong Kong Investment holding and trading in
batteries
GP Battery Marketing (Germany) == 42.79% 42.7% HEREEEMD
GmbH Germany Marketing and trading in batteries
HEEERHAERAR A 35.09% 35.09% % HERHESH
GWA Energy, Inc Taiwan Development, marketing and trading
in batteries
Hanoi Battery Joint Stock Company Hifg 41.94% 41.94% EZEEMN
Vietham Manufacturing of batteries
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490, T EBE N T (@) 49. PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES (continued)

BAL/ S it REERGERITRA
Place of ZEXRERE

HE AR BB incorporation/ Effective equity interest T E##%
Name of associate registration attributable to the Group  Principal activities
2023 2022

EEH )

Batteries Business (continued)

HERLREMERAF i 27.3%% 27.3% HEREEE I

Ningbo Fengyin Battery Co. Ltd PRC Marketing and trading in batteries
materials

HENBERNBRAA e - 25.06% EHEMMEREDER

STL Technology Co, Ltd Taiwan Manufacturing of battery packs
and products

RILEBTE (FE) BRAF i 36.37% 36.37% EREM

TG. Battery Co.(China) Ltd PRC Manufacturing of batteries

RIUEHT ¥ (FH) BRAA BB 42.79% 42.7%% ERRIGE REREYIRSIE

T@G. Battery Co. (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Investment holding and provision of

logistic support

BENBERARESRZARTEEAZED -

Significant influence is exercised through representative on board of
directors of all the above associates.

A EFT AR B & AR A R RIRERA -
e AR EBEEES 8 ML Tt
7o RERRBRAREREMABREERT -

RITEMERRIZIRE  RRNDFERENLE
SRR H A o

ERFINAEB 2B ERR]  EFAREHZE
RABBERFENMZERRIEZEAFE L
EERBRAEEFEE—FEZZ25HH - EFR
REFI B SN R 2 FHE T S BRRLE

50. H{EMERER

M202343A31H & - AREEME— S IR T N2
HBEMARDE (R20235 38 31H A EH
BRE) IS%H AR - WK ARAEENER
7] #R{EX 10,739,000 7T 2552023
FAA18ATEK - AEBEAER HNUH Y
o,

DU TEARRAR —O-—E-O0_=F%%

All associates indicated above are indirectly held by the Company. All
associates operate principally in their respective places of incorporation/
registration. All of the above companies are limited liability companies.

The investments in associates are solely for shares of results and no
strategic purpose is involved.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the opinion
of the directors, the Group exercised significant influence and principally
affected the results of the year or constituted a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other associates would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

50. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 March 2023, the Group acquired further 15% equity
interest in Changzhou Lithium Batteries Co, Limited ("CZLB"), the then
associate of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and CZLB became a
subsidiary of the Group for an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$10,739,000. The transaction was completed on 18 April 2023.
The Group is in the process of assessing the financial impact of the
transaction.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF GP INDUSTRIES LIMITED
GP IEABRAAHMBEE

mEBEE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
HESASIRILFE Year ended 31 March
2023 2023 2022 2022
FHmE T FHa* FEMHETT FEL
S$’000 HK$’000* S$'000 HK$ 000"
(restated) (restated)
(E#RS) (EHHR)
HEREER Continuing operations
e Revenue 1,150,046 6,581,026 1,222,749 7,061,620
BT A1 4 A Profit before taxation 29,914 171,179 55,916 322,927
Tiig Taxation (2,477) (14,174) (6,738) (38,913)
FHBISE R/ BIE R T Profit after taxation from continuing
operations 27,437 157,005 49,178 284,014
BARHELEK 2 2FHRTE  Loss after taxation from discontinued
i operations - - (3,050 (17,614)
B8 m A Profit after taxation 27,437 157,005 46,128 266,400
FEERR I Non-controlling interests (5,393 (30,860) (6,112 (35,298)
2ERF Profit for the year 22,044 126,145 40,016 231,102
FEBBRRE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MR3A31H At 31 March
2023 2023 2022 2022
FEME T FHET FHMFTT FHT
S$’000 HKS$’000* S$'000 HK$'000*
(restated) (restated)
(E#iR5) (E#RS)
M - BE KRB Property, plant and equipment 392,085 2,317,850 411,572 2,382,179
EREEE Right-of-use assets 43,802 258,940 47,749 276,371
5’#%’& AR Interest in associates 268,581 1,687,743 355,145 2,055,579
AEEFTAREMEE Equity instruments at fair value
HﬁZﬁT&ZH&L$IE\ through other comprehensive income 4,191 24,776 6,739 39,005
B RIS ARIE Non-current receivables - - 3,226 18,672
RIER I E B Deferred tax assets 5,829 34,459 5,937 34,363
e RFERHRIE Deposits and prepayments 3,333 19,703 4,286 24,807
| EE Intangible assets 10,387 61,404 10,696 61,908
REEE Current assets 643,798 3,805,877 737,769 4,270,206
HEE Total assets 1,372,006 8,110,752 1,583,119 9,163,090
B IR Non-current liabilities 183,228 1,083,171 152,310 881,571
mEALE Current liabilities 660,972 3,907,403 806,948 4,670,615
weE Total liabilities 844,200 4,990,574 959,258 5,652,186
FEE Net assets 527,806 3,120,178 623,861 3,610,904
GPI AR RE(EERE Equity attributable to equity holders of
GP Industries 416,136 2,460,029 523,813 3,031,827
FEER AR S Non-controlling interests 111,670 660,149 100,048 579,077
527,806 3,120,178 623,861 3,610,904
HiE MARKET CAPITALISATION 307,241 1,816,284 295,145 1,708,297
* o PYMELE RSB B TERENIREBELS R 2 iRk *  The Hong Kong dollar equivalents as shown above for illustrative purposes are
o converted at the exchange rates ruling as at the respective year end dates.
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9/F, Building 12\\V, 12 Science Park \West Avenue,
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